Syracuse University SURFACE

Dissertations - ALL

SURFACE

December 2015

CONTROLLING BIOFILM AND PERSISTER CELLS BY TARGETING CELL MEMBRANES

Ali Adem Bahar Syracuse University

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/etd

Part of the Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Bahar, Ali Adem, "CONTROLLING BIOFILM AND PERSISTER CELLS BY TARGETING CELL MEMBRANES" (2015). *Dissertations - ALL*. 377. https://surface.syr.edu/etd/377

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the SURFACE at SURFACE. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations - ALL by an authorized administrator of SURFACE. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

Abstract

The rapid increase in antibiotic resistant infections and the slowing pace of antibiotic development emphasize the need for alternative therapeutic agents to cure infectious diseases especially those caused by multidrug-resistant (MDR) strains. Bacteria obtain resistance to antibiotics through multiple mechanisms. One of intrinsic mechanisms of drug resistance is persister formation, by which bacterial cells enter a metabolically inactive stage and become highly tolerant to essentially all antibiotics, even at the concentrations that are hundreds of times higher than the lethal dose required to kill normal planktonic cells of the same strain. Persister cells in biofilms are even more difficult to kill due to the presence of an extracellular matrix that can block or retard the penetration of antibiotics. Thus new antimicrobials that are effective against these drug tolerant cells are urgently needed for infection control.

In this study, we characterized the antimicrobial activities of newly designed synthetic peptides on *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains including regular planktonic cells and those in biofilms and at the persister stages. Our results revealed that 2D-24, an RW-rich dendrimeric peptide, can kill planktonic cells of both *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 (a mucoid strain) in a dose-dependent manner. Killing effect on biofilm and persister cells was observed at the concentrations without significant toxicity to IB3-1 cells originated from human lung tissues.

We also demonstrated that TN-5, a 1,3,5-triazine derivative, has antimicrobial effects on *E. coli* RP437, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 cells, with a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of 12.8 μ M, and kills regular planktonic cells of both species dose dependently. TN-5 was also

found effective against persister and biofilm cells of both *E. coli and P. aeruginosa;* and the killing of biofilm cells of the mucoid PDO300 was enhanced by alginate lyase.

To understand the effects of AMP charge on the killing effects, we modified the net charge of calcitermin originated from human airway secretions, and tested the effects on *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* planktonic and persister cells at different pH values. The neutral derivative of calcitermin showed better killing effect on persister cells at pH 7.4.

Along with synthetic peptides, we also studied the membrane potential of persister cells with cell sorting and flow cytometry techniques using potentiometric dyes. Persister cells showed lower membrane potential along with lower efflux pump activities compared to normal cells. Based on these findings, we tested the hypothesis that persister cells can be effectively killed by antibiotics that are substrates of efflux pumps. Consistent with this hypothesis, erythromycin was found effective in killing persister cells of *E. coli* while normal cells are resistant to it. This higher killing activity of erythromycin was corroborated with higher erythromycin accumulation in persister cells based on the results of Mass Spectrometry analysis.

Key words: antibiotic tolerance, antibiotic resistance, antimicrobial peptides, membrane potential, persister cells, biofilm, killing, TN-5, 2D-24, *Escherichia coli*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.

Controlling Bacterial Persister Cells by Targeting Cell Membranes

By

Ali Adem Bahar

B.E. Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey, 2002 M.S. Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey, 2006

DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Bioengineering

Syracuse University

December 2015

Copyright 2015 Ali Adem Bahar

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Prof. Dacheng Ren for the continuous support of my Ph. D study and related research, for his patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me in all the time of research of this thesis.

My sincere thanks go to our collaborators; Prof. Neville R. Kallenbach at New York University and Prof. Myriam Cotten at Hamilton College, Clinton, NY for their precious support.

I thank my fellow labmates; Dr. Jiachuan Pan, Dr. Tagbo Herman Roland Niepa, Nicholas Kelley, Fangchao Song, Dr. Huan Gu, Dr. Xiangyu Yao, Dr. Geetika Choudhary, Meagan Garafalo, Li Zhang, Grace Altimus, Huiqing Zheng, Shuyuan Ma, Hao Wang, and Xuan Cheng, for the friendly environment and creative discussions which helped me to improve my scientific understanding.

I wish to give my greatest appreciation to my family; first, my three years old son Ali Musa Bahar who used to take all my stresses away by a huge hug with his tiny arms every night and my wife Fatmagül Bahar, who is a Ph. D. candidate currently, for supporting me spiritually throughout this thesis and my life in general. Then I wish to thank my parents; Ibrahim and Melahat Bahar, my brothers; Ali Ihsan Bahar, Ali Kemal Bahar, Ali Avni Bahar and my nephews; Ali Erdem Bahar, Ali Atalay Bahar, and Ali Kerem Bahar and my nieces; Nergis Melek Bahar, and Elif Betül Bahar. I thank my dear friend, Hacı Mevlüt Karataş, for brewing delicious Turkish Black Tea countless times to keep me awake throughout thesis writing.

I also want to thank Republic of Turkey Ministry of National Education, the U.S. National Science Foundation (CAREER-1055644 and EFRI-1137186) and Syracuse University for supporting my study.

I wish to express my thankfulness to Dawn M. Long, Sabina Redington, Lynore de la Rosa, Kristin Lingo, and Barbara Walton for their help and their kindness.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
CHAPTER 1	
1. LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Current situation of antibiotic resistance and associated challenges	2
1.2 Mechanisms of antibiotic; acquired vs. intrinsic	4
1.2.1 Acquired resistance	4
1.2.2 Intrinsic tolerance	4
1.2.2.1 Bacterial transport proteins: efflux pumps and porins	4
1.2.2.2 Biofilm and persister formation	6
1.3 Antimicrobial peptides	7
1.3.1 Sources and history of antimicrobial peptides	
1.3.2 Structure and major activities of AMPs	
1.3.3 Major categories of AMPs and mechanisms of action	
1.3.3.1 Classification	
1.3.3.1.1 Antiviral peptides	
1.3.3.1.2 Antibacterial peptides	14
1.3.3.1.3 Antifungal peptides	
1.3.3.1.4 Antiparasitic peptides	
1.3.3.2 Mechanism of action	
1.3.3.2.1 Membrane-active AMPs	17
1.3.3.2.2 Intracellularly active AMPs	
1.3.4 Designing new synthetic AMPs: major factors to consider	
1.3.4.1 Important physiochemical properties of AMPs	
1.3.4.1.1 Length	
1.3.4.1.2 Net charge	
1.3.4.1.3 Helicity	
1.3.4.1.4 Hydrophobicity	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.3.4.1.5 Amphipathicity	24
1.3.4.1.6 Solubility	25
1.3.4.2 The relationship between physiochemical properties of AMPs	25
1.3.4.3 AMP modifications	26
1.3.4.3.1 Modification of AMPs with covalent bonds	
1.3.4.3.2 Modification of AMPs by changing amino acid content	27
1.3.4.3.3 Modification of AMPs by amidation	27
1.3.4.3.4 Modification of AMPs with unnatural amino acids	
1.3.4.3.5 Modification of AMPs with computer-assisted methods	29
1.3.4.4 New AMP design by homology modeling	29
1.3.5 New targets of AMPs: biofilms, persister cells, and drug resistance bacteria	31
1.3.5.1 Biofilm control	31
1.3.5.2 Persister control	35
1.3.6 Resistance to antimicrobial peptides	35
1.4 Outlook	37
1.5 References	40

2. SYNTHETIC DENDRIMERIC PEPTIDE ACTIVE AGAINST BIOFILM AND PERSISTER CELLS OF <i>PSEUDOMONAS AERUGINOSA</i>	
2.1 Abstract	77
2.2 Introduction	78
2.3 Materials and methods	81
2.3.1 2D-24 Synthesis	81
2.3.2 Bacterial strain and growth media.	81
2.3.3 Effects of 2D-24 on planktonic cells	81
2.3.4 Effect of 2D-24 on biofilms	82
2.3.5 Persister isolation and killing by 2D-24	82
2.3.6 Fluorescence microscopy	83
2.3.7 Synergistic effects between 2D-24 and antibiotics	83
2.3.8 Cytotoxicity and antimicrobial effects in co-cultures	84

2.3.9 Statistical analysis	. 85
2.4 Results	. 85
2.4.1 Antimicrobial effects of 2D-24 on planktonic cells	. 85
2.4.2 Antimicrobial effects of 2D-24 on biofilm cells	. 86
2.4.3 LIVE/DEAD staining of biofilms	. 87
2.4.4. Antimicrobial effects of 2D-24 on persister cells	. 89
2.4.5 Synergistic effects between 2D-24 and antibiotics	. 90
2.4.6 Cytotoxicity of 2D-24 on IB3-1 lung epithelial cell line in a co-culture with PAO1	. 92
2.5 Discussion	. 93
2.6 Acknowledgments	. 97
2.7 References	. 98

3. CONTROLLING PERSISTER AND BIOFILM CELLS OF GRAM-NEGATIVE BACTERIA WITH A NEW 1.3.5-TRIAZINE DERIVATIVE	E 106
3.1 Abstract	107
3.2 Introduction	108
3.3 Material and methods	111
3.3.1 Chemical synthesis of TN-5	111
3.3.2 Bacterial strains and growth media	112
3.3.3 Determining Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and Minimal Bacteric Concentration (MBC) of TN-5	idal 112
3.3.4 Effects on planktonic cells	113
3.3.5 Persister isolation and treatment	113
3.3.6 Biofilm experiments	115
3.3.7 Co-treatment of alginate lyase and TN-5 on <i>P. aeruginosa</i> biofilm cells	116
3.3.8 Statistical analysis	116
3.4 Results	116
3.4.1 MIC and MBC values of TN-5	116
3.4.2 Antimicrobial effects of TN-5 on planktonic cells	117
3.4.3 Antimicrobial effects of TN-5 on persister cells	120
3.4.4 Antimicrobial effects of TN-5 on biofilm cells	122

3.5 Discussion	125
3.6 Acknowledgements	128
3.7 References	129

4. CONTROLLING PERSISTER CELLS BY TARGETING MEMBRANE PO'	FENTIAL
DEPENDENT ANTIBIOTIC EFFLUX	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and Methods	
4.2.1 Efflux activity	
4.2.2 Flow-cytometer compensation and analysis of EtBr treated samples	141
4.2.3 Comparing membrane potential of persister and normal cells with potention and flow cytometry	metric dye 143
4.2.4 Activity of efflux substrate antibiotics on persister cells	
4.2.5 Erythromycin accumulation of persister cells	144
4.3 Results	
4.3.1 Efflux activity of normal and persister cells	
4.3.2 Flow cytometry analysis of efflux activity with EtBr staining	146
4.3.3 Persister induction	147
4.3.4 Comparing membrane potential of persister and normal cells with potentio and flow cytometry	metric dye 149
4.3.5 Activity of efflux substrate antibiotics on persister cells	
4.3.6 Intracellular accumulation of erythromycin	
4.4 Discussion	156
4.5 References	

5. NEW AMP DERIVATIVES OF CALCITERMIN AND THEIR EFFECTS ON	
PSEUDOMONAS AERUGINOSA and ESHERICHIA COLI	167
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Materials and Methods	
5.2.1 Selecting the candidate AMP to study	
5.2.2 Designing new calcitermin derivatives with different net charges	

5.2.3 Killing effects of calcitermin and its derivatives on planktonic cells at pH 7.4 and	ıd pH
5.5	178
5.2.4 Persister isolation and calcitermin treatment at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5	179
5.3 Results	180
5.3.1 New calcitermin derivatives designed with I-TASSER prediction method	180
5.3.2 Killing effects of calcitermins on planktonic cells	181
5.3.3 Killing effects of calcitermins on persister cells	183
5.4 Discussion	185
5.5 References	189

6. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK	. 192
CURRICILUM VITAE	. 196

Dedicated to my beloved wife and son,

Fatmagül and Ali Musa Bahar

LITERATURE REVIEW

A part of this chapter has been published as Ali Adem Bahar and Dacheng Ren. Antimicrobial Peptides. Pharmaceuticals 2013, 6: 1543-1575.

1.1 Current situation of antibiotic resistance and associated challenges

Antibiotics have been used to treat infectious diseases for the last 70 years [1] with a great success in saving lives [2]. This achievement is considered as one of the most important breakthroughs in modern medicine [3]. However over-prescription and misuse of these drugs with unrestrained enthusiasm led to an unprecedented challenge to public health with the emergence of bacterial multidrug resistant strains [4]. Acquisition of antibiotic resistance is greatly aided by promiscuous transfer of conjugative plasmids, transposable elements and integron systems, among bacterial cells that are not necessarily related [5,6].

Antibiotic resistance has been recognized as a global threat in 2013 by Centers for Disease Control [7] and several strains are listed as primary targets of new therapeutics including *P. aeruginosa* and methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA). Infections caused by multidrug resistant bacteria are commonly associated with high mortality and health care costs [8] with 2 million people infected 23,000 and deaths annually in the U.S. alone [9], costing \$20 billion to the healthcare system according to Infectious Disease Society of America [10]. Moreover, antibiotic-resistant infections cost \$35 billion indirectly due to societal impacts. On average, each hospitalized patient with antibiotic resistant infection costs around \$24,000 along with two times higher mortality rate than regular patients [8].

In addition to the increasing rate of the bacterial resistance, the number of bacterial species with antibiotic resistance has also been increasing. For example, the mortal sepsis rate caused by MRSA was 4% in the U.K. 1991; while this ratio increased to 37% in 1999 [11]. In a study by Kelman *et al.* in 2011, 69% of *S. aureus* isolates from meat products showed resistance to tetracycline and only 23% of the total isolates were found to susceptible to tetracycline,

penicillin, ampicillin, methicillin, erythromycin, clindamycin, gentamicin, chloramphenicol, oxacillin, cefoxitin, and quinupristin-dalfopristin antibiotics [12]. Another bacterial species causing serious infections is the opportunistic pathogen *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. This bacterium can rapidly develop resistance to several classes of antibiotics through mobile genetic elements. In some cases, this bacterium was found to even develop resistance during antibiotic treatment of an infection [13].

Enterococcus faecium, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Acinetobacter baumanni, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Enterobacter, have been collectively named "the ESKAPE bugs" since they have remarkable capabilities to resist antibiotics and cause lethal infections [14]. Alarmingly, some infections are even resistant to all antibiotics that are currently available [15].

In this research, we focused on two intrinsic mechanisms of antibiotic resistance; biofilm formation and persistence. This rapid and alarming increase in antibiotic resistant infections and the slowing pace of new antibiotic development [16] emphasize the needs for novel alternative therapeutic agents to cure infectious diseases especially those caused by multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacteria.

Biofilms are multicellular structures of bacteria embedded in an extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) matrix [17]; and persister cells are metabolically inactive dormant phenotypic variants of bacterial cells that are highly tolerant to essentially all antibiotics [18]. These intrinsic tolerance mechanisms play major roles in the recalcitrance of chronic infections, such as the lung infections in cystic fibrosis patients [19].

1.2 Mechanisms of antibiotic; acquired vs. intrinsic

1.2.1 Acquired resistance

Acquired resistance is based on genetic elements that allow bacteria to survive the attack by a specific antibiotic and closely related agents [7,20]. Bacteria can acquire specific resistance genes via transformation (uptake of extracellular DNA elements), transduction (through viruses or phages) conjugation (horizontal gene transfer from another bacteria) or genetic mutation during growth [21].

The products of these genetic elements cause antibiotic resistance by degrading antibiotics, modifying the drug targets or quickly removing them from the cytosol. For example β -lactam antibiotics, such as penicillins are cleaved by β -lactamases in *P. aeruginosa* [22]. The widespread use of β -lactam antibiotics has caused the widespread of this gene among other bacteria such as *K. pneumoniae*, *Salmonella spp.* and *P. mirabilis*.

1.2.2 Intrinsic tolerance

Compared to acquired mechanisms that are against specific antibiotics, intrinsic mechanisms allow cells to tolerate a wide spectrum of different antimicrobials. Here we review three major examples; drug efflux, biofilm formation and persistence.

1.2.2.1 Bacterial transport proteins: efflux pumps and porins

Bacterial efflux pumps are substrate-specific protein transporters, which are located in the membrane and responsible for moving certain type of compounds, such as toxic metabolites and antibiotics, out of the cell [23]. These pumps are found in both Gram-negative and Gram-positive

bacteria and they can extrude virtually all clinically relevant antibiotics from cytosol to the external environment [24]. Efflux pumps require energy in the form of either ATP (originated from proton motive force) or ion gradient (Na^+ or H^+) across the cell membrane to extrude antibiotics [25].

There are five known classes of efflux pumps in Gram-negative bacteria [26] (Fig. 1.1): ATPbinding cassette family (ABC), multi antimicrobial extrusion protein family (MATE), small multidrug resistance family (SMR), resistance-nodulation-division (RND) family, and major facilitator superfamily (MFS) [26]. For example, 7 different efflux pumps have been identified in *P. aeruginosa* for transporting tetracycline, β -lactam, fluoroquinolones antibiotics, metal ions [27], small acylated homoserine lactones molecules [28], and quinolone signals [29].



Figure 1-1. Schematic representation of membrane transport proteins causing antibiotic resistance. (A); porins, (B); ATP-binding cassette family and multidrug (ABC) family, (C); multi antimicrobial extrusion protein (MATE) family, (D); small multidrug resistance (SMR) family and major facilitator superfamily (MFS), (E); resistance-nodulation-division (RND) family.

The other type of transport proteins related to antimicrobial resistance is porin proteins mainly present in the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. Porins play an important role in the semi-permeability of the membrane with unique channels for transporting small and charged molecules. These cylindrical shaped tubes are composed of β -strands while polar residues face inward into the aqueous channel and nonpolar residues face outward to interact with nonpolar lipid membrane [30].

1.2.2.2 Biofilm and persister formation

Biofilms are complex multicellular structures of bacteria [31] which protect bacteria against antimicrobial therapies and adverse environmental conditions. Extracellular DNA, polysaccharides, and fatty acids are some of the major components of the biofilm matrix macromolecules, which help to maintain the biofilm structure and facilitate the development of biofilm [32]. During biofilm formation, free swimming bacterial cells attach to a surface reversibly and form small cell clusters first. These small cell clusters then secrete polysaccharides and form the mature biofilm structure with large cell aggregates and water channels between cell clusters.

The multicellular biofilm structure protects bacterial cells from antimicrobials, immune factors and environmental toxins. For example, these biofilm cells exhibit up to 1000 higher tolerance to antibiotics compared to normal planktonic cells [33]; and biofilms are associated with more than 80% of human infections [34] with high mortality [35] such as cystic fibrosis [36].

In addition to the multicellular structure, biofilms also host a large number of persister cells which are phenotypic variants with inactive metabolism and thus high tolerance to antimicrobials [37]. Persister cells are a small group of cells with no extra genetic modification for drug resistance [19]. Unbalanced toxins/anti-toxins production [38-41] and stress response and translation inhibition are known characteristics of persister cells [19,42]. These small group of cells can survive through the antibiotic course and form the normal population with similar percentage of persister cells again when the conditions turns back to normal for bacterial survival [43]. This repopulation ability provides higher level of antibiotic tolerance and chance to develop acquired resistance for bacterial cells [43]. Therefore, targeting persister cells will help for a better treatment of chronic infections caused by multidrug resistant bacteria [44].

Because of the essential functions of cell membranes, antimicrobial agents targeting cell membranes have good potential for persister controls. One class of such agents is antimicrobial peptides (AMP). AMPs are oligopeptides with a varying number (from five to over a hundred) of amino acids with a broad spectrum of targeted organisms ranging from viruses to parasites. Most of the AMPs are membrane-active agents, which are positively charged, and act on negatively charged phospholipid bilayer of bacterial membrane [45] where main energy synthesis and many other important function occurs. It has been reported that some AMPs can sensitize bacteria by depolarizing the membrane at sub-lethal concentrations [46] and resistance against such antibacterial agents is difficult to acquire [47].

1.3 Antimicrobial peptides

Due to rapid development of bacterial resistance to conventional antibiotics, antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), have received increasing attention as an alternative way of fighting against antibiotic resistance. AMPs are a growing class of natural and synthetic peptides with a wide spectrum of targets including viruses, bacteria, fungi, and parasites. In this section, we

summarize the major types of AMPs, their modes of action, and the common mechanisms of AMP resistance. In addition, we discuss the principles for designing effective AMPs and the potential of using AMPs to control biofilms and persister cells.

1.3.1 Sources and history of antimicrobial peptides

Historically AMPs have also been referred to as cationic host defense peptides [48], anionic antimicrobial peptides/proteins [49], cationic amphipathic peptides [50], cationic AMPs [51], host defense peptides [52], and α -helical antimicrobial peptides [53].

The discovery of AMPs dates back to 1939, when Dubos [54-55] extracted an antimicrobial agent from a soil *Bacillus* strain. This extract was demonstrated to protect mice from pneumococcal infection. In the following year, Hotchkiss and Dubos [56] fractionated this extract and identified an AMP which was named gramicidin. Despite some reported toxicity associated with intraperitoneal application [56], gramicidin was found effective for topical treatment of wounds and ulcers [57]. In 1941, another AMP, tyrocidine, was discovered and found to be effective against both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria [58]. However, tyrocidine exhibited toxicity to human blood cells [59]. In the same year, another AMP was isolated from a plant *Triticumaestivum* [60], which was later named purothionin and found effective against fungi and some pathogenic bacteria [61].

The first reported animal-originated AMP is defensin, which was isolated from rabbit leukocytes in 1956 [62]. In the following years, bombinin from epithelia [63] and lactoferrin from cow milk [64] were both described. During the same time, it was also proven that human leukocytes contain AMPs in their lysosomes [65]. In total, more than 5,000 AMPs have been discovered or synthesized up to date [66]. Natural AMPs can be found in both prokaryotes (e.g., bacteria) and eukaryotes (e.g., protozoan, fungi, plants, insects, and animals) [67, 68-70]. In animals, AMPs are mostly found in the tissues and organs that are exposed to airborne pathogens; and are believed to be the first line of the innate immune defense [71,72] against viruses, bacteria, and fungi [68]. Thus, AMPs play an important role in stopping most infections before they cause any symptoms. For example, frog skin is the source of more than 300 different AMPs [67,73]. Most AMPs are produced by specific cells at all times, while the production of some AMPs is inducible. For example, using silk moth as a model system, Hultmark and colleagues [74] demonstrated that P9A and P9B can be induced in hemolymph by vaccination with *Enterobacter cloacae*. In another study [75], epithelial cells from different tissues of mice showed increased rate of mRNA transcription for defensin production after infection with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1.

Several types of eukaryotic cells are involved in AMP production such as lymphs, epithelial cells in gastrointestinal and genitourinary systems [76,77], phagocytes [78], and lymphocytes of the immune system [68,79]. In addition to direct involvement in innate immunity, AMPs have also been found to influence host's inflammatory responses during an infection [80-82]. It is known that lipopolysaccharide (LPS) molecules, released from bacteria as a result of antibiotic treatment or host immunity, can induce AMP production in mammals [78]. For example, HEK293 cells produce defensin in response to LPS stimulation [83]. Some AMPs (e.g., CAP18 [84], CAP35 [85], and a lactoferrin-derivative [86]) can also block LPS-induced cytokine release by macrophages. Thus, these AMPs can reduce inflammatory response. In comparison, antibiotics do not have this type of regulation on inflammatory response of the host immune system; and LPS secretion following antibiotic treatment might cause over-reaction of the host immune system. In some extreme cases, this can even lead to sepsis [78,87].

1.3.2 Structure and major activities of AMPs

Most AMPs reported to date can be characterized as one of the following four types based on their secondary structures: β -sheet, α -helix, extended, and loop. Among these structural groups, α -helix and β -sheet structures are more common [88]; and α -helical peptides are the most studied AMPs to date. In α -helix structures the distance between two adjacent amino acids is around 0.15 nm and the angle between them with regard to the center is around 100 degree from the top view (Fig. 1-2A). The best known examples of such AMPs are protegrin, magainin, cyclic indolicin, and coiled indolicin [53]. β -sheet peptides are composed of at least two β -strands with disulfide bonds between these strands [89].



Figure 1-2. Schematic representation of an α -helical AMP. This figure assumes the same α -helix propensity for all amino acids in the peptide structure. (A) Helical wheel projection of the AMP (top view). The angle between two consecutive amino acids in the sequence is 100 degree. Dotted lines show two adjacent amino acids in the primary structure. (B) Side view of the peptide. The distance between two adjacent amino acids, "n", is 0.15 nm.

Some AMPs do not belong to any of these groups [90]. Some AMPs contain two different structural components [91]. Also, many peptides form their active structure only when they interact with the membranes of target cells. For example, indolicin shows globular and amphipathic conformation in aqueous solutions, while it is wedge-shaped in lipid bilayer mimicking environments [92]. This AMP also changes its conformation during interaction with DNA evidenced with decreased fluorescence intensity and a slight shift in the wavelength of maximum emission [93].

Unlikely antibiotics, which target specific cellular activities (e.g., synthesis of DNA, protein, or cell wall), AMPs target the lipopolysaccharide layer of cell membrane, which is ubiquitous in microorganisms. Having a high level of cholesterol and low anionic charge puts eukaryotic cells out of the target range of many AMPs [94].

Another important feature of AMPs is their rapid killing effect. Some AMPs can kill in seconds after the initial contact with cell membrane [95]. AMPs are also known to enhance the activities of antibiotics through synergistic effects. For example, the combination of penicillin with pediocin and ampicillin with nisin Z exhibited killing of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* with 13- and 155-fold lower minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC), respectively, compared to using antibiotics alone [96].

Because AMPs are made with amino acids, it is relatively easy to modify the structure (including library construction and screening) and immobilize AMPs on surfaces [97]. It is possible to make fully synthetic peptides by chemical synthesis [98] or by using recombinant expression systems [99,100]. These artificial sources of AMPs are useful for modification of existing AMPs and for

designing new synthetic AMPs. Such modifications have potential to change the targets of AMPs and improve the stability of AMPs against proteases [101].

Despite these advantageous features of AMPs, there are still some challenges to their applications, such as potential toxicity to humans [59,102,103], sensitivity to harsh environmental conditions (susceptibility to proteases and extreme pH [104,105]), lack of selectivity against specific strains [106], high production costs [107], folding issues of some large AMPs [108], reduced activity when used for surface coating [109], and bacterial resistance to some AMPs [110,111]. In the following section we will discuss the modes of actions of AMPs and the current efforts to address the above challenges.

1.3.3 Major categories of AMPs and mechanisms of action

1.3.3.1 Classification

In general, enzymatic mechanisms are not involved in the antimicrobial activities of AMPs [112]. For example, even though lysozyme is a monomeric peptide, it is not classified as an AMP because it is relatively large (148 aa) and kills bacteria through enzymatic activities by breaking 1,4- β -linkages in peptidoglycan chains [113]. Here, we categorize AMPs based on their target and mode of action. For natural AMPs, we will focus on those from eukaryotes, especially mammals.

1.3.3.1.1 Antiviral peptides

Antiviral AMPs neutralize viruses by integrating in either the viral envelope or the host cell membrane. Previous studies have shown that both enveloped RNA and DNA viruses can be targeted by antiviral AMPs [114,115]. AMPs can integrate into viral envelopes and cause membrane instability, rendering the viruses unable to infect host cells [116,117]. AMPs can also reduce the binding of viruses to host cells [118]. For example, defensins bind to the viral glycoproteins making herpes simplex viruses (HSV) unable to bind to the surface of host cells [119].

Besides disruption of viral envelopes and blocking viral receptors, some antiviral AMPs can prevent viral particles from entering host cells by occupying specific receptors on mammalian cells [120,121]. For example, heparan sulfate is important for the attachment of HSV viral particles to the host cell surface [122]. The heparan sulfate molecules are negatively charged glycosaminoglycan molecules [123]. Thus, some α -helical cationic peptides, e.g., lactoferrin [124], can prevent HSV infections by binding to heparan molecules and blocking virus-receptor interactions [125].

Compared to the above AMPs that target viral receptors on cell surface, some AMPs do not compete with viral glycoproteins for binding to the heparansulphate receptors on cell surface. Instead, these antiviral AMPs can cross the cell membrane and localize in the cytoplasm and organelles, causing changes in the gene expression profile of the host cells, which can help the host defense system fight against viruses or block viral gene expression. For example, NP-1, an AMP from rabbit neutrophils, prevents Vero and CaSki cell lines from infection by herpes simplex viruses type 2 (HSV-2). This AMP stops the viruses by preventing the migration of a

major viral protein, VP16, into the nucleus. This viral protein is required to form complexes with the host transcriptional factors to induce the expression of immediate early viral genes, which are required for the virus to defeat the first stage cellular response [126]. Thus, this AMP does not compete with viral particles to bind to the receptor on cell surface but it prevents cell-to-cell spread of viral particles [127].

1.3.3.1.2 Antibacterial peptides

Antibacterial AMPs are the most studied AMPs to date and most of them are cationic AMPs, which target bacterial cell membranes and cause disintegration of the lipid bilayer structure [128,129]. The majority of these AMPs are also amphipathic with both hydrophilic and hydrophobic domains. Such structures provide AMPs the capability to bind to lipid components (hydrophobic region) and phospholipid groups (hydrophilic region) [94].

Interestingly, researchers have demonstrated that some AMPs at low concentrations can kill bacteria without changing the membrane integrity. Instead of directly interacting with the membrane, these AMPs kill bacteria by inhibiting some important pathways inside the cell such as DNA replication and protein synthesis [130]. For example, buforin II can diffuse into cells and bind to DNA and RNA without damaging the cell membrane [131]. Drosocin, pyrrhocoricin, and apidaecin are other examples of such AMPs. These AMPs have 18–20 amino acid residues with an active site for their intracellular target [132,133].

In some cases, certain AMPs have been shown to kill antibiotic resistant bacteria. For example, both nisin (an AMP) and vancomycin (an antibiotic), can block cell wall synthesis. However, a

methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) strain was reported to be resistant to vancomycin, while it is still sensitive to nisin [134].

1.3.3.1.3 Antifungal peptides

Like antibacterial AMPs, antifungal peptides can kill fungi by targeting either the cell wall [135,136] or intracellular components [137]. However, bacterial membrane and fungi cell wall have different contents. For example, chitin is one of the major components of fungal cell walls and some of antifungal peptides are capable of binding to chitin [138-140]. Such binding ability helps AMPs to target fungal cells efficiently. Cell wall targeting-antifungal AMPs kill the target cells by disrupting the integrity of fungal membranes [141,142], by increasing permeabilization of the plasma membrane [143], or by forming pores directly [144].

Although the majority of antifungal AMPs have polar and neutral amino acids in their structures, [94] there does not appear to be a clear correlation between the structure of an AMP and the type of cells that it targets. For example, antifungal peptides have members from different structure classes such as α -helical (D-V13K [145] and P18 [146]), extended (indolicin [147]), and β -sheet (defensins [148]).

1.3.3.1.4 Antiparasitic peptides

Antiparasitic peptides are a smaller group compared to other three AMP classes. The first antiparasitic peptide reported is magainin, which is able to kill *Paramecium caudatum* [149]. Later, a synthetic peptide was developed against *Leishmania* parasite [150]. Another example of antiparasitic peptide is cathelicidin, which is able to kill *Caernohabditis elegans* by forming

pores in the cell membrane [151]. Even though some parasitic microorganisms are multicellular, the mode of action of antiparasitic peptides is the same as other AMPs. They kill cells by directly interacting with cell membrane [151].

1.3.3.2 Mechanism of action

As described above, AMPs kill cells by disrupting membrane integrity (via interaction with negatively charged cell membrane), by inhibiting proteins, DNA and RNA synthesis, or by interacting with certain intracellular targets. All AMPs known by the late-90s are cationic. However, the concept that AMPs need to be cationic was changed later with the discovery of negatively charged AMPs in 1997 [152]. For example maximin-H5 [153] from frog skin and dermicidin [154] secreted from sweat gland tissues of human are both anionic peptides.

Generally an AMP is only effective against one class of microorganisms (e.g., bacteria or fungi) [78]. However, there are exceptions and some AMPs are known to have different modes of action against different types of microorganisms. For example, indolicidin can kill bacteria, fungi, and HIV [116,155]. It exhibits antifungal activities by causing damages to cell membrane [147]. However, it kills *E. coli* by penetrating into the cells and inhibiting DNA synthesis [156]; and it shows anti-HIV activities by inhibiting HIV-integrase [157]. In comparison; some AMPs have the same mode of killing of different cell types. For example, PMAP-23 can kill both fungi and parasites by forming pores in their cell membranes [151,158].

One third of the total proteins of a bacterial cell are associated with the membrane and these proteins have many functions that are critical to the cell including active transport of nutrients, respiration, proton motive force, ATP generation, and intercellular communication [159]. The

function of these proteins can be altered with AMP treatment even if complete cell lysis does not occur. Therefore, AMPs' rapid killing effect does not only come from membrane disruption but can also come from inhibition of these functional proteins.

1.3.3.2.1 Membrane-active AMPs

Even if intracellular targets are involved, an initial cell membrane interaction with peptides is required for the antimicrobial activities of AMPs [160]; and this interaction determines the spectrum of target cells. Most membrane-active AMPs are amphipathic, which means that they have both cationic and hydrophobic faces. This feature ensures the initial electrostatic interaction with the negatively charged cell membrane and the insertion into membrane interior. The actions of AMPs do not stop after this initial interaction. The hydrophobic part of an AMP helps insert the AMP molecule into the cell membrane [161]. So the interaction mainly includes ionic and hydrophobic interactions. These interactions mostly depend on two properties, e.g., cationic state and hydrophobicity of the peptide. The major types of membrane-active AMPs and the mechanisms of their actions are summarized in Table 1-1 and Figure 1-3.

Interaction model	Mechanism	References
Carpet like (Detergent-like)	The peptide micelle touches the membrane first and coats a small area of the membrane. Then AMP molecules penetrate the lipid bilayer to let pore formation leaving holes behind.	[162-164]
Membrane thinning	AMPs insert themselves into only one side of the lipid bilayer. It can form a gap between lipid molecules at the chain region. This gap creates a force and pulls the neighboring lipid molecules to fill it.	[165-167]
Aggregate	AMPs stick to the membrane parallel to the surface. Then reorientation of AMPs occurs and they insert themselves into the membrane vertically to form sphere- like structures.	[162,168- 170]
Toroidal pore	AMPs align perpendicularly into the bilayer structure with their hydrophobic regions associated with the center part of the lipid bilayer and their hydrophilic regions facing the pore.	[130,170]
Barrel-stave	Staves are formed first parallel to the cell membrane. Then barrels are formed and AMPs are inserted perpendicularly to the plane of the membrane bilayer.	[129,171,172]

Table 1-1. The action mechanisms of membrane-active AMPs.



Figure 1-3. Schematic representation of some action mechanisms of membrane-active AMPs. (**A**) Barrel-Stave model. AMP molecules insert themselves into the membrane perpendicularly. (**B**) Carpet model. Small areas of the membrane are coated with AMP molecules with hydrophobic sides facing inward leaving pores behind in the membrane. (**C**) Toroidal pore model. This model resembles the Barrel-stave model, but AMPs are always in contact with phospholipid head groups of the membrane. The blue color represents the hydrophobic portions of AMPs, while the red color represents the hydrophilic parts of the AMPs.

1.3.3.2.2 Intracellularly active AMPs

In early AMP studies, permeabilization of bacterial cell membrane by AMP was thought as the primary mechanism of killing. It was suggested that AMPs should be used at concentrations high enough so that they can kill microorganisms by disrupting the membrane with sufficient channels and pores [173]. However, some AMPs were found to start membrane permeabilization at concentrations lower than their MICs, while others could only do so at concentrations higher than their MICs. The finding that some AMPs can kill their target cells without causing membrane permeabilization suggests that there may be other mechanisms of killing. Recently, intracellularly active AMPs have been shown to interact with targets inside the cells [174-176]. For example indolicin was shown to bind to DNA with a preferred sequence [93,177].

Some AMPs can inhibit DNA and protein synthesis [178,179]. One example of this is PR-39, an AMP from pig intestines, which kills bacteria in a non-lytic process by acting like a proteolytic agent and stopping protein and DNA synthesis [180]. Similar to PR-39, indolicin does not lyse cells directly. It enters the cytoplasm and kills bacterial cells by targeting DNA synthesis [156] [178]. Also, some human immune system derived AMPs such as tPMP-1 and aHNP-1 inhibit DNA and protein synthesis within an hour after they enter the cells [181]. Apidaecin is another protein synthesis blocking AMP which lacks pore forming ability. This AMP is only effective against Gram-negative bacteria. It is suggested that this AMP is actively transported with a transporter protein and then it blocks protein synthesis with a series of molecular interactions with different targets [182].

Some AMPs can also inhibit proteases of microbes. For example, histatin 5 stops the periodontal tissue destruction by inhibiting a protease from *Bacteriocides gingivalis* [183]; and eNAP-2 has

anti-protease activities against microbial serin proteases [184]. Interestingly, there are some intracellular AMPs which can only kill cells at certain growth stages. For example, diptericin is only effective against actively growing bacterial cells, suggesting it may interact with certain specific metabolic pathways during bacterial growth [185,186].

Among these intracellularly active AMPs, some of them have multiple targets. For example seminalplasmin inhibits RNA polymerase and can stop RNA synthesis completely at concentrations lower than many other antibacterial agents [187]. On the other hand, the same AMP can activate an autolysin protein inside the target cells leading to autolysis [188,189].

Inhibition of intracellular pathways by AMPs [173,178] suggests that there might be mechanisms of cellular uptake of AMPs. Two such mechanisms have been reported: direct penetration and endocystosis [161]. According to Jones [190], cellular uptake of AMPs can take place through endocytosis, which includes macropinocytosis and receptor mediated endocytosis. In macropinocytosis, the cell membrane folds inward and forms vesicles with the help of dynamin proteins. These vesicles are called macropinosomes and they are like small cells with only a membrane around them [161]. In receptor mediated endocytosis, a part of the membrane is coated with clathrin or caveolin proteins followed by pit formation. Later, these pits bud from the membrane to inner side of the cell and form vesicles [190,191].

1.3.4 Designing new synthetic AMPs: major factors to consider

To date, no data have been reported to demonstrate a clear relationship between the structural groups of an AMP and its mode of action, the degree of activity, or the host range. Even the AMPs with very similar structures can have drastically different mechanisms of action and the

range of targeted cells [94]. For example, buforin targets DNA and RNA; while magainin 2, an AMP with similar structure, targets the cell membrane causing cell lysis [192,193]. Although a structure-based precise prediction of activity, mode of action, and host range may not be possible, certain general design principles have been proposed by previous studies. The AMP structure is certainly important, while the size, charge, hydrophobicity, amphipathicity, and solubility are all crucial physiochemical properties for their antimicrobial activities and target specificity of AMPs [194]. Changing these features will help to modify the activity and target spectrum of AMPs.

1.3.4.1 Important physiochemical properties of AMPs

1.3.4.1.1 Length

The length of an AMP is important to its activity because at least 7–8 amino acids are needed to form amphipathic structures with hydrophobic and hydrophilic faces on opposite sides of a peptide molecule. The size for an AMP to transverse the lipid bilayer of bacteria in the barrel-stave model should be at least 22 amino acids for α -helical AMPs, while eight amino acids are needed for β -sheet AMPs [195]. Besides the effects of length on its 3D structure and mode of action, the length of an AMP may also affect its cytotoxicity. For example, a shortened melittin with 15 residues at its C-terminal [196] and a shorter derivative of HP(2-20) [197] exhibited at least 300 times less toxicity to rat erythrocytes and human erythrocytes, respectively, compared to their original forms. Therefore, the length of AMP should be taken into consideration when designing new synthetic peptides with low toxicity.

1.3.4.1.2 Net charge

The net charge of known AMPs, which is the sum of all charges of ionizable groups of the peptide, varies from negative to positive and it is the main factor for the initial interaction with negatively charged cell membranes. By changing the net charge of an AMP, its antimicrobial and hemolytic activities can be altered to achieve selective killing of microbes with no or minimized effects on host cells. For example, increasing positive net charge of V13K from +8 to +9 resulted in higher hemolytic activity, while decreasing the net charge to lower than +4 abolished its activity against *P. aeruginosa* [145].

1.3.4.1.3 Helicity

Helicity represents the ability of an AMP to form spin structure. It is less important for the activity of an AMP compared to other factors discussed above. However, it is important for determining the toxicity on eukaryotic cells [53]. Reducing helicity by incorporating D-amino acids into the primary sequence has been shown to lower the hemolytic effect, while the antimicrobial effect was retained [198]. For example, Papo *et al.* [101] modified some α -helical peptides by replacing 35% of the L-amino acids with D-amino acids and found that this modification eliminated the hemolytic activity. Besides, these new synthetic AMPs are not sensitive to proteases. Therefore, incorporating D-amino acids to change helicity is a useful strategy for designing new synthetic peptides with less hemolytic activity and enhanced stability against proteolytic cleavage. Another important factor associated with the helicity of AMP is the helix propensity of each amino acid in the primary sequence. For example, proline and glycine have lower helix-forming propensities compared to other amino acids [199]. Thus, these residues

are not preferred when designing α -helical AMPs. In addition, peptides should be flexible enough to change their conformation during the membrane insertion process [94].

1.3.4.1.4 Hydrophobicity

Hydrophobicity has also been shown to influence the activity and selectivity of AMP molecules. Almost 50% of amino acids in the primary sequence of natural AMPs are hydrophobic residues [194]. In most cases, increase in hydrophobicity on the positively charged side of an AMP below a threshold can increase its antimicrobial activity [53], while decreasing hydrophobicity can reduce antimicrobial activity [200]. There appears to be an optimal hydrophobicity for each AMP, beyond which its activity decreases rapidly [176]. Therefore, when designing new synthetic peptides, the hydrophobicity should be selected within an optimal window. Some previous studies have shown that hydrophobicity is also critical for determining the range of target cells of an AMP. Increasing the hydrophobicity of an AMP can change the range of targets [201,202]. For example, magainin is an AMP that is only effective against Gram-negative bacteria. However, some synthetic analogs with higher hydrophobicity can also kill some Grampositive bacteria and eukaryotic cells [203].

1.3.4.1.5 Amphipathicity

Amphipathicity is another important property of AMPs to ensure their activity and interaction with microbial membranes. Fernandes-Vidal *et al.* [204] showed that amphipathicity is more important than hydrophobicity for binding to microbial membranes. Because amphipathicity of AMPs is required for a strong partition into the membrane interface, priority should be given to the amphipathic structure when designing synthetic AMPs for specific target cells.
1.3.4.1.6 Solubility

Since AMPs should act on or enter through lipid membranes, they need to be soluble in aqueous environments. If AMP molecules aggregate, it will lose its ability to interact with the cell membrane. For example, a hybrid synthetic AMP composed of cecropin and melittin has a tendency to form dimers. Substituting a Lys (L) residue on the non-polar face of this hybrid AMP prevents dimerization and leads to reduced hemolytic activity. Losing dimerization ability makes this AMP more effective for its incorporation into microbial membranes [205]. This example demonstrates the importance of solubility and the value of structural optimization.

1.3.4.2 The relationship between physiochemical properties of AMPs

As discussed above, many factors affect the activities of AMPs and some interactions exist between these factors. In AMP design, these properties need to be considered together since changing one of these parameters to get a desired modification of an AMP may alter other parameters. Even a simple change in primary sequence can affect many other physicochemical parameters which are often vital for the activity of an AMP and the range of target cells [206]. Predicting the results of an AMP modification or the function of a synthetic peptide beforehand is still an unmet challenge. Application of molecular simulation to analyze the details of the folding of AMP molecules and interaction with target cells [207,208] may be a promising approach to improve current trial and error methods.

1.3.4.3 AMP modifications

While most of AMPs are directly synthesized in their active forms, post-translational modification of certain AMPs is necessary for their functions. Naturally forming AMPs are processed with different post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation [209], addition of D-amino acids [210,211], methylation [212], amidation [213], glycosylation [214], formation of disulphide linkage [215], and proteolytic cleavage [71,216]. In some cases, these posttranslational modifications might be important for designing new synthetic AMPs. Even though recombinant cell systems can be used to produce these synthetic peptides with post-translational modifications, incorporation of unnatural amino acids may require chemical synthesis [107].

1.3.4.3.1 Modification of AMPs with covalent bonds

Covalent modification can have profound effects on the structure and function of an AMP. Even a single disulfide bond can change the antimicrobial effect of an AMP. For example, protegrin missing a disulphide bond becomes inactive against HSV [217]; while adding disulphide bond in sakacin P resulted in higher antimicrobial activities [91]. In another study, a disulfide bond was added in CP-11, a derivative of indolicidin [218], and a Trp-Trp cross-link was added in indolicin [219]. These modified structures of indolicidins showed higher protease stability with no change in antimicrobial activity. However increase in stability does not always lead to better AMPs. For example, Houston *et al.* [220] introduced a covalent bond to form a lactam bridge between Gln (G) and Lys (L) residues in two α -helical AMPs, e.g., cecropin and mellitin. This modification helped AMPs to form more stable α -helix structures but decreased the antimicrobial activity of both.

1.3.4.3.2 Modification of AMPs by changing amino acid content

Alteration of amino acid content is one of the most studied strategies of AMP modification. Most of these studies focus on certain amino acids since their physiological characteristics play important roles in the activity and target spectrum of AMPs. For example proline content in the primary sequence of an AMP has been found to affect its ability to penetrate cell membranes. Higher proline content reduces the capability of CP26 to permeabilize *E. coli* cell membrane [221]. This effect might be because of proline's low propensity to form α -helical structures. Thus changes in the proline content may lead to alterations of α -helical posture of an AMP.

Changing amino acid content can also affect cytotoxicity. In a study by Nell *et al.* [222], LL37, a human AMP, was modified by removing neutral amino acids Asn (A) and Gln (E), and adding more positively charged residues (two Arg (R) units) into the primary sequence. The new synthetic peptide showed less cytotoxic effects on eukaryotic cells. This peptide was named P60.4 and has been successfully used in nasal applications against MRSA [223]. Another strategy to improve AMP stability is to include D-amino acids in the sequence because they are more tolerant to proteases [224,225].

1.3.4.3.3 Modification of AMPs by amidation

With new developments in peptide synthesis, it is possible to incorporate special chemical groups or unnatural molecules into AMPs. One of these modifications is the addition of amide groups at the end of the peptides. In 2011, Kim *et al.* [226] modified PMAP-23 with amidation at the carboxyl end and found that this derivative of PMAP-23 orients perpendicularly inside the bacterial membrane while original PMAP-23 orients parallel to the membrane. This modification

resulted in almost 10 fold higher cellular uptake, faster interaction with Gram-negative bacteria cell membrane, and deeper insertion into the inner membrane than the original PMAP-23. This carboxyl-end amidated synthetic peptide also showed better membrane-permeabilization in liposome release tests [226]. Therefore amidation of carboxyl end has good potential to improve the function of synthetic AMPs.

C-terminal modifications can also affect the stability of AMPs. In a previous study by Berthold *et al.* [227], the C-terminal amide group of Api88 was replaced by a free acid. This modification did not change its antimicrobial activity, but resulted in a 15 times more stable Api88 derivative against proteases in blood serum. Replacing Arg-17 of this AMP with L-ornithine or L-homoarginine gave 35 times higher proteolytic stability than the original Api88. However, the latter modification decreased the antimicrobial activity by eight fold [227].

1.3.4.3.4 Modification of AMPs with unnatural amino acids

A number of studies on synthetic peptides have attempted to incorporate unnatural amino acids into the primary sequence [146,228,229]. β -didehydrophenylalanine is an unnatural amino acids and is used to provide better folding properties for AMPs [228]. It is widely used in medicinal chemistry to alter the native bioactive AMPs [230]. Incorporation of β -didehydrophenylalanine in the primary sequence of VS1 resulted in higher stability against proteases. Researchers have also been able to introduce antifungal activities to some AMPs by incorporating undecanoic acid and palmitic acid into their primary sequence [146,231].

1.3.4.3.5 Modification of AMPs with computer-assisted methods

The use of computer-assisted methods in AMP research has been increasing significantly [232-237]. Estimating the structure of an AMP based on its primary sequence [238], then predicting potential mechanism of action and activity is becoming easier with the help of computational approaches [239]. These types of artificial AMP design strategies hold potential for developing new synthetic peptides against antibiotic-resistant superbugs [237]. Several databases about AMPs have been created and can be accessed to compare currently available AMPs. One of the latest AMP databases, LAMP (linking antimicrobial peptides), currently has 3904 natural and 1643 synthetic peptides [66].

1.3.4.4 New AMP design by homology modeling

Most studies about AMPs to date are inspired by natural AMPs. For example, Tossi *et al.* [240] designed some synthetic peptides by identifying the common amphipathic structure of 87 different natural α -helical AMPs. These natural AMPs are composed mainly of cecropins, magainins, brevinins, and cathelicidin peptides sourced from insects, amphibian, and mammals. This synthetic peptide study focused on the first 20 amino acids in each sequence because the N-terminal region was shown to be necessary for antimicrobial activities [241,242]. The synthetic peptides designed based on this strategy are able to transform into α -helical structures from random structures with the addition of trifluoroethanol in aqueous environments. These synthetic AMPs exhibited antimicrobial activities against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, including some drug resistant strains. In addition, these synthetic AMPs showed low toxicity to some eukaryotic cell lines [240].

Designing synthetic AMPs by homology modeling within the same class might also provide a better understanding of activity-structure relationship. Important elements from the same AMP class may be identified using this approach to help design better molecules. Storici *et al.* [242] showed that 20 residues (named PMAP-36) of an antibacterial peptide from pig bone marrow cells are sufficient for related antibacterial activity. The AMP with these 20 residues was chemically synthesized and showed the capability to form α -helix in the presence of trifluoroethanol. This short synthetic peptide was found to induce permeabilization of the inner membrane of *E. coli* ML35 at concentrations lower than 50 μ M; while even at 100 μ M it did not cause any permeabilization to human erythrocytes [242]. In another study of homology modeling, arenicin, protegrin, and thanatin were used as templates to generate three synthetic peptides: AMP72, AMP126 and AMP2041. These new synthetic AMPs showed lower cytotoxicity compared to the original AMPs and exhibited dose dependent antimicrobial activities (0.17 to 10.12 μ M) against Gram-negative bacteria [243].

It is also possible to broaden the target spectrum of an AMP by homology modeling. For example, normally lactoferrampins are not effective against *E. coli* O157. A conserved sequence, which corresponds to an α -helical region, among these AMPs was found, by aligning multiple sequences with ClustalW analysis. This common region was modified by inserting GKLI sequence into its primary sequence, and the new synthetic peptide showed activities against *E. coli* O157 with a more stable structure compared to other lactoferrampins [244].

1.3.5 New targets of AMPs: biofilms, persister cells, and drug resistance bacteria

Because AMPs can directly target bacterial cells, they have potential to control antibiotic tolerant cells. Here we review some recent work on biofilms and persister cells. Biofilms are immobile bacterial populations attached to surfaces such as human tissues and medical implants. Biofilm formation on implant surfaces is a serious problem since every year more than \$3 billion is spent to treat implant-associated biofilm infections in the U.S. alone [245]. With cells protected by an extracellular matrix, biofilms are highly tolerant to antimicrobials [246] and are a major cause of chronic infections; e.g., approximately 80% of human bacterial infections are associated with biofilms [247]. In addition to the protection by the extracellular matrix [248], biofilm associated antibiotic resistance is also attributed to the slow growth of biofilm cells [249]. Even though some antibiotics have been shown to effectively penetrate biofilm matrix [250], they are not effective against these slowly growing cells, especially the dormant subpopulation known as persister cells [251-253]. Since most AMPs target cell membrane, they may be more effective against these dormant cells compared to antibiotics.

1.3.5.1 Biofilm control

The first obstacle of using AMPs against biofilms is the possible electrostatic interaction between cationic peptides and negatively charged biofilm matrix [254]. Such interactions may retard or prevent AMPs from reaching biofilm cells. Previous studies have investigated the effects of some AMPs on biofilm inhibition and killing of bacterial cells in established biofilms. The second type of study is especially important since treatment of mature biofilms is highly challenging [252]. In a study by Singh *et al.* [255], lactoferrin was found to block biofilm

formation of *P. aeruginosa* at concentrations lower than those required to kill the planktonic cells. Also, LL-37, a human cathelicidin AMP, was shown to prevent *P. aeruginosa* biofilm formation at the concentration of 0.5 μ g/mL, which is below its MIC (64 μ g/mL). This AMP also showed activity against preformed (2-days old) *P. aeruginosa* biofilms; e.g., it reduced the biofilm thickness by 60% and destroyed microcolony structures of the treated biofilms [256]. In another study, a derivative of LL-37 was found effective against both Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria. Despite its weak antimicrobial activity against planktonic cells, this AMP inhibited biofilm formation of *P. aeruginosa, Burkholderia cenocepacia,* and *Listeria monocytogenes* with more than 50% reduction in biofilm mass compared to untreated controls [257]. The same study showed that this inhibition is due to decrease in swarming and swimming motilities, increase in twitching motility, and repression of some biofilm genes.

In addition to free AMPs, surface coating with AMPs has also been pursued since surface modifications with AMPs might help reduce device associated infections [258-261]. Many AMPs have been tested for their inhibitory effects on biofilm formation on implant surfaces. For example, Tet-20, a synthetic peptide (KRWRIRVRVIRKC), tethered on an implant surface exhibited broad antimicrobial activities both *in vivo* (rats) and *in vitro*. It is able to stop biofilm formation and appears to be non-toxic to eukaryotic cells [258]. In another study, histatin 5 and lactoferrin were used to coat Ti surfaces covered with an anchor peptide minTBP (RKLPDAP), which helps binding of AMP to Ti surfaces. The conjugates of both AMPs resulted in higher binding efficiency to Ti surfaces than AMPs alone and *Porphyromonas gingivalis* showed less ATP activity and reduced biofilm formation on coated surfaces [262].

In addition to naturally existing AMPs, some synthetic AMPs were also used to treat biofilms. A synthetic histatin analogue dhvar4 was tested against oral flora on hydroxyapatite disks and this

AMP reduced the number of viable biofilm cells by 1.5 log compared to the control [263]. MUC7, a native saliva AMP from humans, and its modified forms, MUC17 12-mer-L and 20-mer, showed inhibitory effects on *S. mutans* biofilm formation [264]. In another study, a derivative of LL-37 which is an AMP from human innate immune system, cleared *P. sinusitis* biofilms *in vivo* (New Zealand rabbits). However, it also led to some toxicity and proinflammation in the sinuses [265].

As discussed above, the extracellular matrix of a biofilm is thought to form a diffusion barrier against certain AMPs [246]. It is known that this negatively charged barrier protects the cells inside from positively charged antimicrobial agents and the alginate in biofilm matrix can reduce the diffusion of antimicrobial agents [266]. Thus, it is important to obtain AMPs that can diffuse into biofilms and kill biofilm cells. Recently a synthetic peptide, (RW)_{4D} dendrimer [267] was demonstrated to inhibit planktonic growth and biofilm formation of E. coli dose dependently. This AMP inhibited biofilm formation by 93.5% at 40 μ M. This dendrimer did not detach preformed biofilms, but was able to kill most of the cells residing in mature biofilms dose dependently [268]. Later, $(RW)_n$ -NH₂ based AMPs with different chain length (where n = 2, 3, and 4) were compared for their effects on *E. coli* RP437 biofilms. The chain length was found to be important to the activity of these peptides. Longer peptides, (RW)₃-NH₂ and (RW)₄-NH₂, showed significant inhibition of planktonic growth (36% reduction in growth rate) while a shorter peptides (RW)₂-NH₂ did not cause a clear inhibition at concentrations up to 200 µM. This length-activity relation was also found for biofilm inhibition. E. coli biofilm surface coverage and the viability of biofilm cells were reduced significantly by the longer peptides (95% inhibition of biofilm growth by 200 µM (RW)₃-NH₂ and 84.4% inhibition of biofilm growth by 200 µM (RW)₄-NH₂). Preformed biofilms were also tested with these peptides. However, the treatment of preformed biofilms with these peptides did not show the same length-activity relationship. Interestingly, 200 μ M (RW)₃-NH₂ showed significant killing of biofilm cells while 200 μ M (RW)₄-NH₂ showed strong biofilm dispersion (91.5% reduction in biofilm surface coverage at 200 μ M) with no apparent killing effect on biofilm cells. Although 200 μ M (RW)₄-NH₂ did not kill biofilm cells directly, the detached biofilm cells were killed by this peptide effectively [269].

AMPs have also been tested against the biofilms of drug resistant bacteria. In a study by Okuda *et al.* [270], nisin A and lacticin Q were tested against mature biofilms of a MRSA strain, *S. aureus* MR23. Nisin A at 40 μ M was found to kill more than 95% biofilm cells while lacticin Q at 80 μ M killed around 90% of the biofilm cells. In another study, GL13K derived from human parotid secretory protein (PSP) killed 99.9% of 24 hour biofilm cells of *P. aeruginosa* when it was added at 100 μ g/mL for a two hour treatment [271].

NRC-16, a synthetic peptide, was tested against biofilm formation of three *P. aeruginosa* strains and compared with antibiotics such as ampicillin, chloramphenicol, and ciprofloxacin. NRC-16 showed biofilm inhibition at 8 μ g/mL, which is 64 fold less than the antibiotic concentrations required to kill these *P. aeruginosa* strains [272].

There are also some AMPs that can sensitize biofilm cells to other antimicrobial agents. For example, lactoferrin does not kill *S. epidermidis* or affect its growth. However treatment of *S. epidermidis* biofilms on contact lenses with lactoferrin and vancomycin together showed a 2 fold decrease in both MBC (minimal bactericidal concentration) and MIC of biofilm cells compared to the treatment with vancomycin alone [273].

1.3.5.2 Persister control

Persister cells can be found in almost any microbial populations [19]. However, membrane integrity is essential for the survival of bacteria irrespective of the metabolic stage of the cell and cell membrane is a major target of AMPs. Thus, AMPs may have good potential to kill persister cells. In a recent study, a synthetic cationic peptide, $(RW)_4$ -NH₂, was found to kill more than 99% of *E. coli* HM22 persister cells in planktonic culture. Besides, this synthetic peptide reduced the number of persister cells in mature biofilms by up to 98% at 40 μ M. More interestingly, the combination of this peptide with oflaxacin (5 μ g/mL) resulted in complete eradication of viable cells in *E. coli* HM22 biofilms including persister cells [274]. Thus, the combination of conventional antibiotics with AMPs may offer a synergy to control drug tolerant infections.

1.3.6 Resistance to antimicrobial peptides

There are mainly two different types of resistance mechanisms against AMPs: constitutive resistance and inducible resistance [275]. The inducible resistance mechanisms include substitution [276], modification [277], and acylation [278] of the membrane molecules, activation of some proteolytic enzymes [279] and efflux pumps [280], and modifications of intracellular targets [281]. The constitutive resistance mechanisms include electrostatic shielding [282], changes in membrane potential during different stages of cell growth [283], and biofilm formation [275]. These resistance mechanisms are illustrated in Figure 1-4.



Figure 1-4. Schematic representation of AMP resistance mechanisms. (**A**) Gram-positive bacteria resist AMPs via teichoic acid modification of LPS molecules and L-lysine modification of phospholipids. (**B**) Gram-negative bacteria resist AMPs by modifying LPS molecules with aminoarabinose or acylation of Lipid A unit of LPS molecules. (**C**) Bacteria express some positively charged proteins and integrate them in the membrane so positive charges repulse each other and bacteria can resist such AMPs. (**D**) Bacteria produce negatively charged proteins and secrete them into extracellular environment to bind and block AMPs. (**E**) The intracellular AMPs are extruded by efflux pumps. (**F**) The AMPs inside the cell are degraded by proteases.

For example the activity of some AMPs against *S. aureus* can be inhibited by adhesin molecules on the cell surface of this bacterium. These adhesin molecules are polymeric substances and stay on the cell surface after secretion [284]. Since adhesin is a positively charged polymer, it can form a repulsive barrier against positively charged AMPs. *Salmonella typhimurium* also has a membrane bound lipid A modification system, which defends themselves against AMPs from the host [285]. In this system, PhoQ is a membrane bound sensor kinase and PhoP is intracellular response regulator. PhoQ is activated in the presence of high level positive charges outside the cells. It then phosphorylates the PhoP causing up-regulation of some genes including those related to AMP resistance. This system is not active when the extracellular level of Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, or Mn²⁺ ions is low since divalent cations interact with PhoQ and change its conformation [110]. Although bacteria have diverse mechanisms for resistance to AMPs, it is encouraging to notice that the general lipid bilayer structure of bacterial membranes makes it hard to develop a complete resistance against AMPs. Also, the resistance against AMPs reported to date is not as strong as those against antibiotics and it only covers a limited number of AMPs.

1.4 Outlook

The urgent need to obtain new antimicrobials has been driving AMP research. With rapid growth in related knowledge and lead compounds, more AMPs may enter clinical tests and treatment in the near feature. However, infection control by AMP is still hindered by several challenges including low specificity, high manufacturer cost, potential toxicity to animal cells, and lack of a robust guideline for rational design.

As we have seen from synthetic and modified AMP studies, it is easy to change characteristics of an AMP with even small modifications. However, predicting the results of these changes is still challenging. Thus, there is a need to understand the effects of structural modifications on the physiochemical characteristics of AMPs as well as their target spectrum and activity. Recently, these types of studies have been increasing and computational approaches have been involved in AMP research. These efforts will help to better understand the mode of action of AMPs and predict their activities.

Another understudied area is using AMPs to control antibiotic resistant bacteria, biofilms, and persister cells. These targets are highly resistant to traditional antibiotics and play important roles in infections. Since AMPs target cell membrane, they have good potential in such applications. On the other hand, because AMPs have not been well studied for biofilm and persister control, there might be some existing natural AMPs that are effective against these targets with potential synergy with antibiotics. Applying AMPs with biofilm matrix degrading enzymes might also be a good strategy to eliminate biofilms. Further development in this area and AMP research in general will benefit from close collaboration of different disciplines and new tools that can decipher the structure-function relationship and more efficiently synthesize and modify AMP molecules.

To gain better fundamental understanding of the characteristics and antimicrobial activities of AMPs we have tailored different design approaches to develop better AMPs. Among these approaches, a dendrimeric peptide with repetitive functional groups on a branched core (2D-24, Chapter 2), a triazine derivative (TN-5, Chapter 3), which is a relatively new source for antimicrobial agent design, and a native human originated AMP with its neutral charged derivative (calcitermin, Chapter 5) were studied. The majority of AMPs targets cell membrane, disrupting its integrity and causing membrane depolarization. Having antimicrobial agents active on cell membrane holds a great potential with low risk for bacterial resistance since membrane

structure is present in all microorganisms and changing the content or structure of this lipid bilayer can be lethal to bacteria. To better understand the membrane function and antimicrobial susceptibility, a new strategy to target cell membrane of persister cells was also evaluated with the antibiotic erythromycin (Chapter 4), which is the substrate of efflux pump AcrAB.

1.5 References

- 1. CDC. Antibiotic / antimicrobial resistance. 2015 ed.; 2015.
- 2. Kardos, N.; Demain, A.L. Penicillin: The medicine with the greatest impact on therapeutic outcomes. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **2011**, *92*, 677-687.
- Davies, J.; Davies, D. Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance. *Microbiol Mol Biol R* 2010, 74, 417-+.
- Polk, R. Optimal use of modern antibiotics: Emerging trends. *Clin Infect Dis* 1999, 29, 264-274.
- Barlow, M. What antimicrobial resistance has taught us about horizontal gene transfer. *Methods Mol Biol* 2009, *532*, 397-411.
- Bennett, P.M. Plasmid encoded antibiotic resistance: Acquisition and transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in bacteria. *British journal of pharmacology* 2008, *153*, S347-S357.
- 7. CDC. Antibiotic resistance threats in the united states, 2013. Public Health Rep: 2013.
- BioMerieux. Antibiotic-resistant infections cost the u.S. Healthcare system in excess of \$20 billion annually *PR Newswire* 2012.
- 9. CDC. Antibiotic / antimicrobial resistance. Public Health Rep: 2015.
- 10. IDSA. Testimony of the infectio us diseases society of america Public Health Rep: 2015.
- Das, S.C.; Bhadra, S.; Roy, S.; Saha, S.K.; Islam, M.S.; Bachar, S.C. Analgesic and antiinflammatory activities of ethanolic root extract of *Swertia chirata* (gentianaceae). *Biological* 2012, 131.

- Kelman, A.; Soong, Y.A.; Dupuy, N.; Shafer, D.; Richbourg, W.; Johnson, K.; Brown, T.; Kestler, E.; Li, Y.; Zheng, J., et al. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Staphylococcus aureus* from retail ground meats. *J Food Prot* 2011, 74, 1625-1629.
- Lister, P.D.; Wolter, D.J.; Hanson, N.D. Antibacterial-resistant *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa: Clinical impact and complex regulation of chromosomally encoded resistance mechanisms. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2009, 22, 582-610.
- 14. Rice, L.B. Federal funding for the study of antimicrobial resistance in nosocomial pathogens: No eskape. *J Infect Dis* **2008**, *197*, 1079-1081.
- Boucher, H.W.; Talbot, G.H.; Bradley, J.S.; Edwards, J.E.; Gilbert, D.; Rice, L.B.;
 Scheld, M.; Spellberg, B.; Bartlett, J. Bad bugs, no drugs: No eskape! An update from the infectious diseases society of america. *Clin Infect Dis* 2009, 48, 1-12.
- 16. Lewis, K. Antibiotics: Recover the lost art of drug discovery. *Nature* **2012**, *485*, 439-440.
- 17. Donlan, R.M. Biofilms: Microbial life on surfaces. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2002, *8*, 881-890.
- Oliveira, D.C.; Tomasz, A.; de Lencastre, H. Secrets of success of a human pathogen: Molecular evolution of pandemic clones of meticillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 2002, *2*, 180-189.
- 19. Lewis, K. Persister cells. *Annual review of microbiology* **2010**, *64*, 357-372.
- 20. Magiorakos, A.P.; Srinivasan, A.; Carey, R.B.; Carmeli, Y.; Falagas, M.E.; Giske, C.G.; Harbarth, S.; Hindler, J.F.; Kahlmeter, G.; Olsson-Liljequist, B., *et al.* Multidrugresistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: An international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clinical microbiology and infection: European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* 2012, 18, 268-281.

- Mathur, S.; Singh, R. Antibiotic resistance in food lactic acid bacteria--a review. Int J Food Microbiol 2005, 105, 281-295.
- 22. Jalalpour, S.; Ebadi, A.G. Role of nano structure of crystalline layer and beta lactamase nano enzyme in antibiotics resistant bacteria. *Afr. J. Pharm. Pharmacol* **2012**, *6*, 113-118.
- 23. Sun, J.; Deng, Z.; Yan, A. Bacterial multidrug efflux pumps: Mechanisms, physiology and pharmacological exploitations. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **2014**, *453*, 254-267.
- 24. Webber, M.A.; Piddock, L.J. The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy* **2003**, *51*, 9-11.
- 25. Kumar, A.; Schweizer, H.P. Bacterial resistance to antibiotics: Active efflux and reduced uptake. *Advanced drug delivery reviews* **2005**, *57*, 1486-1513.
- 26. Lynch, A.S. Efflux systems in bacterial pathogens: An opportunity for therapeutic intervention? An industry view. *Biochemical pharmacology* **2006**, *71*, 949-956.
- Stähler, F.N.; Odenbreit, S.; Haas, R.; Wilrich, J.; Van Vliet, A.H.M.; Kusters, J.G.; Kist, M.; Bereswill, S. The novel *Helicobacter pylori* cznabc metal efflux pump is required for cadmium, zinc, and nickel resistance, urease modulation, and gastric colonization. *Infection and immunity* 2006, *74*, 3845-3852.
- 28. Minagawa, S.; Inami, H.; Kato, T.; Sawada, S.; Yasuki, T.; Miyairi, S.; Horikawa, M.; Okuda, J.; Gotoh, N. Rnd type efflux pump system mexab-oprm of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* selects bacterial languages, 3-oxo-acyl-homoserine lactones, for cell-to-cell communication. *BMC microbiology* **2012**, *12*, 70.
- Köhler, T.; Van Delden, C.; Curty, L.K.; Hamzehpour, M.M.; Pechere, J.C. Overexpression of the mexef-oprn multidrug efflux system affects cell-to-cell signaling in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of bacteriology* 2001, *183*, 5213-5222.

- 30. Schirmer, T. General and specific porins from bacterial outer membranes. *Journal of structural biology* **1998**, *121*, 101-109.
- Stoodley, P.; Sauer, K.; Davies, D.G.; Costerton, J.W. Biofilms as complex differentiated communities. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology* 2002, *56*, 187-209.
- 32. McDougald, D.; Rice, S.A.; Barraud, N.; Steinberg, P.D.; Kjelleberg, S. Should we stay or should we go: Mechanisms and ecological consequences for biofilm dispersal. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **2011**.
- Luppens, S.B.; Rombouts, F.M.; Abee, T. The effect of the growth phase of *Staphylococcus aureus* on resistance to disinfectants in a suspension test. *J Food Prot* 2002, 65, 124-129.
- Romero, R.; Schaudinn, C.; Kusanovic, J.P.; Gorur, A.; Gotsch, F.; Webster, P.; Nhan-Chang, C.L.; Erez, O.; Kim, C.J.; Espinoza, J. Detection of a microbial biofilm in intraamniotic infection. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology* 2008, *198*, 135-135.
- 35. Olson, M.E.; Ceri, H.; Morck, D.W.; Buret, A.G.; Read, R.R. Biofilm bacteria: Formation and comparative susceptibility to antibiotics. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research* 2002, *66*, 86-92.
- 36. Drenkard, E.; Ausubel, F.M. *Pseudomonas* biofilm formation and antibiotic resistance are linked to phenotypic variation. *Nature* **2002**, *416*, 740-743.
- Lewis, K. Multidrug tolerance of biofilms and persister cells. *Current topics in microbiology and immunology* 2008, 322, 107-131.

- 38. Christensen, S.K.; Gerdes, K. Rele toxins from bacteria and archaea cleave mRNAs on translating ribosomes, which are rescued by tmRNA. *Molecular microbiology* **2003**, *48*, 1389-1400.
- Christensen, S.K.; Pedersen, K.; Hansen, F.G.; Gerdes, K. Toxin-antitoxin loci as stressresponse-elements: ChpAK/MazF and ChpBK cleave translated rnas and are counteracted by tmrna. *Journal of molecular biology* 2003, *332*, 809-819.
- 40. Gerdes, K.; Christensen, S.K.; Lobner-Olesen, A. Prokaryotic toxin-antitoxin stress response loci. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* **2005**, *3*, 371-382.
- 41. Hayes, F. Toxins-antitoxins: Plasmid maintenance, programmed cell death, and cell cycle arrest. *Science* **2003**, *301*, 1496-1499.
- 42. Hansen, S.; Lewis, K.; Vulic, M. Role of global regulators and nucleotide metabolism in antibiotic tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **2008**, *52*, 2718-2726.
- 43. Lewis, K. Persister cells, dormancy and infectious disease. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* 2007, *5*, 48-56.
- 44. Pearson, H. 'Superbug' hurdles key drug barrier. *Nature* **2002**, *418*, 469.
- 45. Bahar, A.A.; Ren, D. Antimicrobial peptides. *Pharmaceuticals* **2013**, *6*, 1543-1575.
- Goldberg, K.; Sarig, H.; Zaknoon, F.; Epand, R.F.; Epand, R.M.; Mor, A. Sensitization of Gram-negative bacteria by targeting the membrane potential. *FASEB Experimental Biology* 2013, 27, 3818-3826.
- Wang, J.; Wong, E.S.; Whitley, J.C.; Li, J.; Stringer, J.M.; Short, K.R.; Renfree, M.B.;
 Belov, K.; Cocks, B.G. Ancient antimicrobial peptides kill antibiotic-resistant pathogens:
 Australian mammals provide new options. *PloS one* 2011, *6*, e24030.

- 48. Brown, K.L.; Hancock, R.E. Cationic host defense (antimicrobial) peptides. *Current opinion in immunology* **2006**, *18*, 24-30.
- 49. Harris, F.; Dennison, S.R.; Phoenix, D.A. Anionic antimicrobial peptides from eukaryotic organisms. *Curr Protein Pept Sci* **2009**, *10*, 585-606.
- 50. Groenink, J.; Walgreen-Weterings, E.; van 't Hof, W.; Veerman, E.C.; Nieuw Amerongen, A.V. Cationic amphipathic peptides, derived from bovine and human lactoferrins, with antimicrobial activity against oral pathogens. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **1999**, *179*, 217-222.
- Bradshaw, J. Cationic antimicrobial peptides: Issues for potential clinical use. *BioDrugs* 2003, 17, 233-240.
- Riedl, S.; Zweytick, D.; Lohner, K. Membrane-active host defense peptides challenges and perspectives for the development of novel anticancer drugs. *Chem Phys Lipids* 2011, 164, 766-781.
- 53. Huang, Y.B.; Huang, J.F.; Chen, Y.X. Alpha-helical cationic antimicrobial peptides: Relationships of structure and function. *Protein Cell* **2010**, *1*, 143-152.
- 54. Dubos, R.J. Studies on a bactericidal agent extracted from a soil *Bacillus* i. Preparation of the agent. Its activity in vitro. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **1939**, *70*, 1-10.
- 55. Dubos, R.J. Studies on a bactericidal agent extracted from a soil *Bacillus* ii. Protective effect of the bactericidal agent against experimental *Pneumococcus* infections in mice. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **1939**, *70*, 11-17.
- 56. Hotchkiss, R.D.; Dubos, R.J. Fractionation of the bactericidal agent from cultures of a soil *Bacillus*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **1940**, *132*, 791-792.
- 57. Van Epps, H.L. Rene dubos: Unearthing antibiotics. *J Exp Med* **2006**, *203*, 259.

- 58. Dubos, R.J.; Hotchkiss, R.D. The production of bactericidal substances by aerobic sporulating *Bacilli*. *J Exp Med* **1941**, *73*, 629-640.
- 59. Rammelkamp, C.H.; Weinstein, L. Toxic effects of tyrothricin, gramicidin and tyrocidine. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **1942**, *71*, 166-173.
- 60. Balls, A.K. A crystalline protein obtained from a lipoprotein of wheat flour. *Cereal chemistry* **1942**, *19*, 279-288.
- Ohtani, S.; Okada, T.; Yoshizumi, H.; Kagamiyama, H. Complete primary structures of two subunits of purothionin a, a lethal protein for brewer's yeast from wheat flour. J Biochem 1977, 82, 753-767.
- 62. Hirsch, J.G. Phagocytin: A bactericidal substance from polymorphonuclear leucocytes. *J Exp Med* **1956**, *103*, 589-611.
- Kiss, G.a.M., H. Uber das giftsekret der gelbbauchunke, *Bombina variegata* 1. *Toxicon* 1962, *1*, 33 34.
- 64. Groves, M.L.; Peterson, R.F.; Kiddy, C.A. Poliomorphism in the red protein isolated from milk of individual cows. *Nature* **1965**, *207*, 1007-1008.
- 65. Zeya, H.I.; Spitznagel, J.K. Antibacterial and enzymic basic proteins from leukocyte lysosomes: Separation and identification. *Science* **1963**, *142*, 1085-1087.
- 66. Zhao, X.; Wu, H.; Lu, H.; Li, G.; Huang, Q. Lamp: A database linking antimicrobial peptides. *PLoS One* **2013**, *8*, e66557.
- Conlon, J.M.; Sonnevend, A. Antimicrobial peptides in frog skin secretions. *Methods Mol Biol* 2010, 618, 3-14.
- 68. Radek, K.; Gallo, R. Antimicrobial peptides: Natural effectors of the innate immune system. *Semin Immunopathol* **2007**, *29*, 27-43.

- 69. Peters, B.M.; Shirtliff, M.E.; Jabra-Rizk, M.A. Antimicrobial peptides: Primeval molecules or future drugs? *PLoS Pathog* **2010**, *6*, e1001067.
- 70. Leippe, M. Antimicrobial and cytolytic polypeptides of amoeboid protozoa effector molecules of primitive phagocytes. *Dev Comp Immunol* **1999**, *23*, 267-279.
- Zasloff, M. Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms. *Nature* 2002, *415*, 389-395.
- Schauber, J.; Gallo, R.L. Antimicrobial peptides and the skin immune defense system. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008, 122, 261-266.
- Ma, Y.F.; Liu, C.B.; Liu, X.H.; Wu, J.; Yang, H.L.; Wang, Y.P.; Li, J.X.; Yu, H.N.; Lai,
 R. Peptidomics and genomics analysis of novel antimicrobial peptides from the frog, rana nigrovittata. *Genomics* 2010, *95*, 66-71.
- 74. Hultmark, D.; Steiner, H.; Rasmuson, T.; Boman, H.G. Insect immunity. Purification and properties of three inducible bactericidal proteins from hemolymph of immunized pupae of *Hyalophora cecropia*. *Eur J Biochem* **1980**, *106*, 7-16.
- Bals, R.; Wang, X.; Meegalla, R.L.; Wattler, S.; Weiner, D.J.; Nehls, M.C.; Wilson, J.M. Mouse beta-defensin 3 is an inducible antimicrobial peptide expressed in the epithelia of multiple organs. *Infect Immun* 1999, 67, 3542-3547.
- Ganz, T. The role of antimicrobial peptides in innate immunity. *Integr Comp Biol* 2003, 43, 300-304.
- 77. Niyonsaba, F.; Iwabuchi, K.; Matsuda, H.; Ogawa, H.; Nagaoka, I. Epithelial cell-derived human beta-defensin-2 acts as a chemotaxin for mast cells through a pertussis toxin-sensitive and phospholipase c-dependent pathway. *Int Immunol* **2002**, *14*, 421-426.

- Hancock, R.E.; Scott, M.G. The role of antimicrobial peptides in animal defenses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2000, 97, 8856-8861.
- Oppenheim, J.J.; Biragyn, A.; Kwak, L.W.; Yang, D. Roles of antimicrobial peptides such as defensins in innate and adaptive immunity. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2003, 62 Suppl 2, ii17-21.
- Scott, M.G.; Rosenberger, C.M.; Gold, M.R.; Finlay, B.B.; Hancock, R.E. An alphahelical cationic antimicrobial peptide selectively modulates macrophage responses to lipopolysaccharide and directly alters macrophage gene expression. *J Immunol* 2000, *165*, 3358-3365.
- Nijnik, A.; Pistolic, J.; Filewod, N.C.; Hancock, R.E. Signaling pathways mediating chemokine induction in keratinocytes by cathelicidin ll-37 and flagellin. *J Innate Immun* 2012, *4*, 377-386.
- Kindrachuk, J.; Jenssen, H.; Elliott, M.; Nijnik, A.; Magrangeas-Janot, L.; Pasupuleti, M.; Thorson, L.; Ma, S.; Easton, D.M.; Bains, M., *et al.* Manipulation of innate immunity by a bacterial secreted peptide: Lantibiotic nisin z is selectively immunomodulatory. *Innate Immun* 2013, *19*, 315-327.
- Birchler, T.; Seibl, R.; Buchner, K.; Loeliger, S.; Seger, R.; Hossle, J.P.; Aguzzi, A.;
 Lauener, R.P. Human toll-like receptor 2 mediates induction of the antimicrobial peptide human beta-defensin 2 in response to bacterial lipoprotein. *Eur J Immunol* 2001, *31*, 3131-3137.
- Larrick, J.W.; Hirata, M.; Balint, R.F.; Lee, J.; Zhong, J.; Wright, S.C. Human cap18: A novel antimicrobial lipopolysaccharide-binding protein. *Infect Immun* 1995, *63*, 1291-1297.

- 85. Brackett, D.J.; Lerner, M.R.; Lacquement, M.A.; He, R.; Pereira, H.A. A synthetic lipopolysaccharide-binding peptide based on the neutrophil-derived protein cap37 prevents endotoxin-induced responses in conscious rats. *Infect Immun* **1997**, *65*, 2803-2811.
- Zhang, G.H.; Mann, D.M.; Tsai, C.M. Neutralization of endotoxin in vitro and in vivo by a human lactoferrin-derived peptide. *Infect Immun* 1999, 67, 1353-1358.
- Loppnow, H.; Libby, P.; Freudenberg, M.; Krauss, J.H.; Weckesser, J.; Mayer, H. Cytokine induction by lipopolysaccharide (lps) corresponds to lethal toxicity and is inhibited by nontoxic *Rhodobacter capsulatus* lps. *Infection and Immunity* **1990**, *58*, 3743-3750.
- Powers, J.P.; Hancock, R.E. The relationship between peptide structure and antibacterial activity. *Peptides* 2003, 24, 1681-1691.
- Bulet, P.; Stocklin, R.; Menin, L. Anti-microbial peptides: From invertebrates to vertebrates. *Immunol Rev* 2004, 198, 169-184.
- McManus, A.M.; Dawson, N.F.; Wade, J.D.; Carrington, L.E.; Winzor, D.J.; Craik, D.J. Three-dimensional structure of rk-1: A novel alpha-defensin peptide. *Biochemistry* 2000, 39, 15757-15764.
- 91. Uteng, M.; Hauge, H.H.; Markwick, P.R.; Fimland, G.; Mantzilas, D.; Nissen-Meyer, J.; Muhle-Goll, C. Three-dimensional structure in lipid micelles of the pediocin-like antimicrobial peptide sakacin p and a sakacin p variant that is structurally stabilized by an inserted c-terminal disulfide bridge. *Biochemistry* 2003, *42*, 11417-11426.

- Rozek, A.; Friedrich, C.L.; Hancock, R.E. Structure of the bovine antimicrobial peptide indolicidin bound to dodecylphosphocholine and sodium dodecyl sulfate micelles. *Biochemistry* 2000, 39, 15765-15774.
- 93. Hsu, C.H.; Chen, C.; Jou, M.L.; Lee, A.Y.; Lin, Y.C.; Yu, Y.P.; Huang, W.T.; Wu, S.H. Structural and DNA-binding studies on the bovine antimicrobial peptide, indolicidin: Evidence for multiple conformations involved in binding to membranes and DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2005, *33*, 4053-4064.
- 94. Jenssen, H.; Hamill, P.; Hancock, R.E.W. Peptide antimicrobial agents. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2006, *19*, 491-+.
- 95. Loeffler, J.M.; Nelson, D.; Fischetti, V.A. Rapid killing of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* with a bacteriophage cell wall hydrolase. *Science* **2001**, *294*, 2170-2172.
- 96. Naghmouchi, K.; Le Lay, C.; Baah, J.; Drider, D. Antibiotic and antimicrobial peptide combinations: Synergistic inhibition of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and antibiotic-resistant variants. *Res Microbiol* **2012**, *163*, 101-108.
- 97. Costa, F.; Carvalho, I.F.; Montelaro, R.C.; Gomes, P.; Martins, M.C. Covalent immobilization of antimicrobial peptides (amps) onto biomaterial surfaces. *Acta Biomater* **2011**, *7*, 1431-1440.
- Wade, J.D.; Lin, F.; Hossain, M.A.; Dawson, R.M. Chemical synthesis and biological evaluation of an antimicrobial peptide gonococcal growth inhibitor. *Amino Acids* 2012, 43, 2279-2283.
- 99. Piers, K.L.; Brown, M.H.; Hancock, R.E. Recombinant DNA procedures for producing small antimicrobial cationic peptides in bacteria. *Gene* **1993**, *134*, 7-13.

- Ramos, R.; Moreira, S.; Rodrigues, A.; Gama, M.; Domingues, L. Recombinant expression and purification of the antimicrobial peptide magainin-2. *Biotechnol Prog* 2013, 29, 17-22.
- 101. Papo, N.; Oren, Z.; Pag, U.; Sahl, H.G.; Shai, Y. The consequence of sequence alteration of an amphipathic alpha-helical antimicrobial peptide and its diastereomers. *J Biol Chem* 2002, 277, 33913-33921.
- 102. Pacor, S.; Giangaspero, A.; Bacac, M.; Sava, G.; Tossi, A. Analysis of the cytotoxicity of synthetic antimicrobial peptides on mouse leucocytes: Implications for systemic use. J Antimicrob Chemother 2002, 50, 339-348.
- 103. Matsuzaki, K. Control of cell selectivity of antimicrobial peptides. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2009, *1788*, 1687-1692.
- Sieprawska-Lupa, M.; Mydel, P.; Krawczyk, K.; Wojcik, K.; Puklo, M.; Lupa, B.; Suder, P.; Silberring, J.; Reed, M.; Pohl, J., *et al.* Degradation of human antimicrobial peptide ll-37 by *Staphylococcus aureus* derived proteinases. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2004, 48, 4673-4679.
- Svenson, J.; Stensen, W.; Brandsdal, B.O.; Haug, B.E.; Monrad, J.; Svendsen, J.S. Antimicrobial peptides with stability toward tryptic degradation. *Biochemistry* 2008, 47, 3777-3788.
- 106. Eckert, R.; Qi, F.; Yarbrough, D.K.; He, J.; Anderson, M.H.; Shi, W. Adding selectivity to antimicrobial peptides: Rational design of a multidomain peptide against *Pseudomonas* spp. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **2006**, *50*, 1480-1488.
- 107. Bommarius, B.; Jenssen, H.; Elliott, M.; Kindrachuk, J.; Pasupuleti, M.; Gieren, H.; Jaeger, K.E.; Hancock, R.E.; Kalman, D. Cost-effective expression and purification of

antimicrobial and host defense peptides in *Escherichia coli*. *Peptides* **2010**, *31*, 1957-1965.

- 108. Duquesne, S.; Destoumieux-Garzon, D.; Zirah, S.; Knappe, T.A.; Goulard, C.; Peduzzi, J.; Marahiel, M.A.; Rebuffat, S. Post-translational modification and folding of a lasso-type gene-encoded antimicrobial peptide require two enzymes only in *Escherichia coli*. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2009, *611*, 35-36.
- 109. Bagheri, M.; Beyermann, M.; Dathe, M. Immobilization reduces the activity of surfacebound cationic antimicrobial peptides with no influence upon the activity spectrum. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2009, 53, 1132-1141.
- Bader, M.W.; Sanowar, S.; Daley, M.E.; Schneider, A.R.; Cho, U.; Xu, W.; Klevit, R.E.;
 Le Moual, H.; Miller, S.I. Recognition of antimicrobial peptides by a bacterial sensor kinase. *Cell* 2005, *122*, 461-472.
- Marr, A.K.; Gooderham, W.J.; Hancock, R.E. Antibacterial peptides for therapeutic use: Obstacles and realistic outlook. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 2006, *6*, 468-472.
- 112. Phoenix, D.; Dennison, S.R.; Harris, F. Antimicrobial peptides. p xv, 231 pages.
- 113. Kirby, A.J. The lysozyme mechanism sorted after 50 years. *Nat Struct Biol* 2001, *8*, 737-739.
- Bastian, A.; Schafer, H. Human alpha-defensin 1 (HNP-1) inhibits adenoviral infection in vitro. *Regul Pept* 2001, 101, 157-161.
- 115. Horne, W.S.; Wiethoff, C.M.; Cui, C.; Wilcoxen, K.M.; Amorin, M.; Ghadiri, M.R.; Nemerow, G.R. Antiviral cyclic D,L-alpha-peptides: Targeting a general biochemical pathway in virus infections. *Bioorg Med Chem* 2005, *13*, 5145-5153.

- 116. Robinson, W.E., Jr.; McDougall, B.; Tran, D.; Selsted, M.E. Anti-hiv-1 activity of indolicidin, an antimicrobial peptide from neutrophils. *J Leukoc Biol* **1998**, *63*, 94-100.
- 117. Sitaram, N.; Nagaraj, R. Interaction of antimicrobial peptides with biological and model membranes: Structural and charge requirements for activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1999, 1462, 29-54.
- Belaid, A.; Aouni, M.; Khelifa, R.; Trabelsi, A.; Jemmali, M.; Hani, K. In vitro antiviral activity of dermaseptins against herpes simplex virus type 1. *J Med Virol* 2002, *66*, 229-234.
- Yasin, B.; Wang, W.; Pang, M.; Cheshenko, N.; Hong, T.; Waring, A.J.; Herold, B.C.;
 Wagar, E.A.; Lehrer, R.I. Theta defensins protect cells from infection by herpes simplex virus by inhibiting viral adhesion and entry. *J Virol* 2004, *78*, 5147-5156.
- 120. Tamamura, H.; Ishihara, T.; Otaka, A.; Murakami, T.; Ibuka, T.; Waki, M.; Matsumoto, A.; Yamamoto, N.; Fujii, N. Analysis of the interaction of an anti-hiv peptide, t22 ([tyr5, 12, lys7]-polyphemusin ii), with gp120 and cd4 by surface plasmon resonance. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1996, *1298*, 37-44.
- 121. Song, B.H.; Lee, G.C.; Moon, M.S.; Cho, Y.H.; Lee, C.H. Human cytomegalovirus binding to heparan sulfate proteoglycans on the cell surface and/or entry stimulates the expression of human leukocyte antigen class i. *J Gen Virol* 2001, *82*, 2405-2413.
- 122. WuDunn, D.; Spear, P.G. Initial interaction of herpes simplex virus with cells is binding to heparan sulfate. *J Virol* **1989**, *63*, 52-58.

- 123. Laquerre, S.; Argnani, R.; Anderson, D.B.; Zucchini, S.; Manservigi, R.; Glorioso, J.C. Heparan sulfate proteoglycan binding by herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoproteins b and c, which differ in their contributions to virus attachment, penetration, and cell-to-cell spread. *J Virol* **1998**, *72*, 6119-6130.
- 124. Andersen, J.H.; Jenssen, H.; Sandvik, K.; Gutteberg, T.J. Anti-hsv activity of lactoferrin and lactoferricin is dependent on the presence of heparan sulphate at the cell surface. J Med Virol 2004, 74, 262-271.
- 125. Jenssen, H.; Andersen, J.H.; Uhlin-Hansen, L.; Gutteberg, T.J.; Rekdal, O. Anti-hsv activity of lactoferricin analogues is only partly related to their affinity for heparan sulfate. *Antiviral Res* **2004**, *61*, 101-109.
- Liu, Y.; Gong, W.; Huang, C.C.; Herr, W.; Cheng, X. Crystal structure of the conserved core of the herpes simplex virus transcriptional regulatory protein vp16. *Genes Dev* 1999, *13*, 1692-1703.
- 127. Sinha, S.; Cheshenko, N.; Lehrer, R.I.; Herold, B.C. Np-1, a rabbit alpha-defensin, prevents the entry and intercellular spread of herpes simplex virus type 2. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2003, 47, 494-500.
- Shai, Y. Mode of action of membrane active antimicrobial peptides. *Biopolymers* 2002, 66, 236-248.
- Zhang, L.; Rozek, A.; Hancock, R.E. Interaction of cationic antimicrobial peptides with model membranes. *J Biol Chem* 2001, *276*, 35714-35722.
- Brogden, K.A. Antimicrobial peptides: Pore formers or metabolic inhibitors in bacteria?
 Nat Rev Microbiol 2005, *3*, 238-250.

- 131. Park, C.B.; Kim, H.S.; Kim, S.C. Mechanism of action of the antimicrobial peptide buforin ii: Buforin ii kills microorganisms by penetrating the cell membrane and inhibiting cellular functions. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **1998**, *244*, 253-257.
- Otvos, L.; O, I.; Rogers, M.E.; Consolvo, P.J.; Condie, B.A.; Lovas, S.; Bulet, P.; Blaszczyk-Thurin, M. Interaction between heat shock proteins and antimicrobial peptides. *Biochemistry* 2000, *39*, 14150-14159.
- 133. Kragol, G.; Lovas, S.; Varadi, G.; Condie, B.A.; Hoffmann, R.; Otvos, L. The antibacterial peptide pyrrhocoricin inhibits the ATPase actions of DNAk and prevents chaperone-assisted protein folding. *Biochemistry* **2001**, *40*, 3016-3026.
- 134. Brumfitt, W.; Salton, M.R.; Hamilton-Miller, J.M. Nisin, alone and combined with peptidoglycan-modulating antibiotics: Activity against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and vancomycin-resistant *Enterococci. J Antimicrob Chemother* 2002, 50, 731-734.
- 135. De Lucca, A.J.; Bland, J.M.; Jacks, T.J.; Grimm, C.; Walsh, T.J. Fungicidal and binding properties of the natural peptides cecropin b and dermaseptin. *Med Mycol* 1998, *36*, 291-298.
- 136. De Lucca, A.J.; Walsh, T.J. Antifungal peptides: Novel therapeutic compounds against emerging pathogens. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **1999**, *43*, 1-11.
- Lee, Y.T.; Kim, D.H.; Suh, J.Y.; Chung, J.H.; Lee, B.L.; Lee, Y.; Choi, S. Structural characteristics of tenecin 3, an insect antifungal protein. *Biochem Mol Biol Int* 1999, 47, 369-376.

- Yokoyama, S.; Iida, Y.; Kawasaki, Y.; Minami, Y.; Watanabe, K.; Yagi, F. The chitinbinding capability of cy-amp1 from cycad is essential to antifungal activity. *J Pept Sci* 2009, 15, 492-497.
- Pushpanathan, M.; Rajendhran, J.; Jayashree, S.; Sundarakrishnan, B.; Jayachandran, S.;
 Gunasekaran, P. Identification of a novel antifungal peptide with chitin-binding property
 from marine metagenome. *Protein Pept Lett* 2012, *19*, 1289-1296.
- 140. Fujimura, M.; Ideguchi, M.; Minami, Y.; Watanabe, K.; Tadera, K. Purification, characterization, and sequencing of novel antimicrobial peptides, tu-amp 1 and tu-amp 2, from bulbs of tulip (*Tulipa gesneriana* 1.). *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 2004, 68, 571-577.
- 141. Lehrer, R.I.; Szklarek, D.; Ganz, T.; Selsted, M.E. Correlation of binding of rabbit granulocyte peptides to candida-albicans with candidacidal activity. *Infection and Immunity* 1985, 49, 207-211.
- 142. Terras, F.R.; Schoofs, H.M.; De Bolle, M.F.; Van Leuven, F.; Rees, S.B.; Vanderleyden, J.; Cammue, B.P.; Broekaert, W.F. Analysis of two novel classes of plant antifungal proteins from radish (*Raphanus sativus* 1.) seeds. *J Biol Chem* 1992, 267, 15301-15309.
- 143. van der Weerden, N.L.; Hancock, R.E.; Anderson, M.A. Permeabilization of fungal hyphae by the plant defensin nad1 occurs through a cell wall-dependent process. *J Biol Chem* 2010, 285, 37513-37520.
- Moerman, L.; Bosteels, S.; Noppe, W.; Willems, J.; Clynen, E.; Schoofs, L.; Thevissen, K.; Tytgat, J.; Van Eldere, J.; Van Der Walt, J., *et al.* Antibacterial and antifungal properties of alpha-helical, cationic peptides in the venom of scorpions from southern africa. *Eur J Biochem* 2002, *269*, 4799-4810.

- 145. Jiang, Z.; Vasil, A.I.; Hale, J.D.; Hancock, R.E.; Vasil, M.L.; Hodges, R.S. Effects of net charge and the number of positively charged residues on the biological activity of amphipathic alpha-helical cationic antimicrobial peptides. *Biopolymers* 2008, *90*, 369-383.
- 146. Lee, D.G.; Hahm, K.S.; Shin, S.Y. Structure and fungicidal activity of a synthetic antimicrobial peptide, p18, and its truncated peptides. *Biotechnol Lett* **2004**, *26*, 337-341.
- 147. Lee, D.G.; Kim, H.K.; Kim, S.A.; Park, Y.; Park, S.C.; Jang, S.H.; Hahm, K.S. Fungicidal effect of indolicidin and its interaction with phospholipid membranes. *Biochem Bioph Res Co* 2003, 305, 305-310.
- 148. Barbault, F.; Landon, C.; Guenneugues, M.; Meyer, J.P.; Schott, V.; Dimarcq, J.L.; Vovelle, F. Solution structure of alo-3: A new knottin-type antifungal peptide from the insect *Acrocinus longimanus*. *Biochemistry* 2003, *42*, 14434-14442.
- 149. Zasloff, M. Magainins, a class of antimicrobial peptides from *Xenopus* skin: Isolation, characterization of two active forms, and partial cDNA sequence of a precursor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **1987**, *84*, 5449-5453.
- 150. Alberola, J.; Rodriguez, A.; Francino, O.; Roura, X.; Rivas, L.; Andreu, D. Safety and efficacy of antimicrobial peptides against naturally acquired leishmaniasis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **2004**, *48*, 641-643.
- 151. Park, Y.; Jang, S.H.; Lee, D.G.; Hahm, K.S. Antinematodal effect of antimicrobial peptide, pmap-23, isolated from porcine myeloid against *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J Pept Sci 2004, 10, 304-311.

- 152. Brogden, K.A.; Ackermann, M.; Huttner, K.M. Small, anionic, and charge-neutralizing propeptide fragments of zymogens are antimicrobial. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1997, 41, 1615-1617.
- 153. Lai, R.; Liu, H.; Lee, W.H.; Zhang, Y. An anionic antimicrobial peptide from toad *Bombina maxima. Biochem Bioph Res Co* 2002, 295, 796-799.
- 154. Steffen, H.; Rieg, S.; Wiedemann, I.; Kalbacher, H.; Deeg, M.; Sahl, H.G.; Peschel, A.; Gotz, F.; Garbe, C.; Schittek, B. Naturally processed dermcidin-derived peptides do not permeabilize bacterial membranes and kill microorganisms irrespective of their charge. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006, *50*, 2608-2620.
- Selsted, M.E.; Novotny, M.J.; Morris, W.L.; Tang, Y.Q.; Smith, W.; Cullor, J.S. Indolicidin, a novel bactericidal tridecapeptide amide from neutrophils. *J Biol Chem* 1992, 267, 4292-4295.
- Subbalakshmi, C.; Sitaram, N. Mechanism of antimicrobial action of indolicidin. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 1998, *160*, 91-96.
- 157. Krajewski, K.; Marchand, C.; Long, Y.Q.; Pommier, Y.; Roller, P.P. Synthesis and hiv-1 integrase inhibitory activity of dimeric and tetrameric analogs of indolicidin. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* **2004**, *14*, 5595-5598.
- 158. Lee, D.G.; Kim, P.I.; Park, Y.K.; Woo, E.R.; Choi, J.S.; Choi, C.H.; Hahm, K.S. Design of novel peptide analogs with potent fungicidal activity, based on PMAP-23 antimicrobial peptide isolated from porcine myeloid. *Biochem Bioph Res Co* 2002, 293, 231-238.
- 159. Zhang, Y.M.; Rock, C.O. Transcriptional regulation in bacterial membrane lipid synthesis. *J Lipid Res* **2009**, *50 Suppl*, S115-119.

- He, K.; Ludtke, S.J.; Worcester, D.L.; Huang, H.W. Neutron scattering in the plane of membranes: Structure of alamethicin pores. *Biophys J* 1996, 70, 2659-2666.
- 161. Madani, F.; Lindberg, S.; Langel, U.; Futaki, S.; Graslund, A. Mechanisms of cellular uptake of cell-penetrating peptides. *Journal of biophysics* **2011**, *2011*, 414729.
- 162. Pouny, Y.; Rapaport, D.; Mor, A.; Nicolas, P.; Shai, Y. Interaction of antimicrobial dermaseptin and its fluorescently labeled analogues with phospholipid membranes. *Biochemistry* 1992, 31, 12416-12423.
- Bechinger, B. Detergent-like properties of magainin antibiotic peptides: A 31p solid-state nmr spectroscopy study. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2005, *1712*, 101-108.
- Bolintineanu, D.S.; Kaznessis, Y.N. Computational studies of protegrin antimicrobial peptides: A review. *Peptides* 2011, *32*, 188-201.
- 165. Mecke, A.; Lee, D.K.; Ramamoorthy, A.; Orr, B.G.; Holl, M.M.B. Membrane thinning due to antimicrobial peptide binding: An atomic force microscopy study of msi-78 in lipid bilayers. *Biophysical Journal* 2005, *89*, 4043-4050.
- 166. Ludtke, S.; He, K.; Huang, H. Membrane thinning caused by magainin 2. *Biochemistry* 1995, *34*, 16764-16769.
- 167. Chen, F.Y.; Lee, M.T.; Huang, H.W. Evidence for membrane thinning effect as the mechanism for peptide-induced pore formation. *Biophys J* **2003**, *84*, 3751-3758.
- 168. Matsuzaki, K.; Murase, O.; Fujii, N.; Miyajima, K. An antimicrobial peptide, magainin 2, induced rapid flip-flop of phospholipids coupled with pore formation and peptide translocation. *Biochemistry* **1996**, *35*, 11361-11368.
- 169. Matsuzaki, K. Magainins as paradigm for the mode of action of pore forming polypeptides. *Bba-Rev Biomembranes* **1998**, *1376*, 391-400.

- 170. Wu, M.; Maier, E.; Benz, R.; Hancock, R.E. Mechanism of interaction of different classes of cationic antimicrobial peptides with planar bilayers and with the cytoplasmic membrane of *Escherichia coli*. *Biochemistry* **1999**, *38*, 7235-7242.
- 171. Ehrenstein, G.; Lecar, H. Electrically gated ionic channels in lipid bilayers. *Q Rev Biophys* 1977, 10, 1-34.
- Shimazaki, K.; Tazume, T.; Uji, K.; Tanaka, M.; Kumura, H.; Mikawa, K.; Shimo-Oka, T. Properties of a heparin-binding peptide derived from bovine lactoferrin. *J Dairy Sci* 1998, *81*, 2841-2849.
- 173. Cudic, M.; Otvos, L., Jr. Intracellular targets of antibacterial peptides. *Curr Drug Targets*2002, *3*, 101-106.
- 174. Otvos, L., Jr. Antibacterial peptides and proteins with multiple cellular targets. *J Pept Sci* 2005, *11*, 697-706.
- 175. Mookherjee, N.; Lippert, D.N.; Hamill, P.; Falsafi, R.; Nijnik, A.; Kindrachuk, J.; Pistolic, J.; Gardy, J.; Miri, P.; Naseer, M., *et al.* Intracellular receptor for human host defense peptide ll-37 in monocytes. *J Immunol* 2009, *183*, 2688-2696.
- 176. Chen, L.; Harrison, S.D. Cell-penetrating peptides in drug development: Enabling intracellular targets. *Biochem Soc Trans* 2007, *35*, 821-825.
- 177. Marchand, C.; Krajewski, K.; Lee, H.F.; Antony, S.; Johnson, A.A.; Amin, R.; Roller, P.; Kvaratskhelia, M.; Pommier, Y. Covalent binding of the natural antimicrobial peptide indolicidin to DNA abasic sites. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2006, *34*, 5157-5165.
- 178. Nicolas, P. Multifunctional host defense peptides: Intracellular-targeting antimicrobial peptides. *FEBS J* **2009**, *276*, 6483-6496.
- Hilpert, K.; McLeod, B.; Yu, J.; Elliott, M.R.; Rautenbach, M.; Ruden, S.; Burck, J.;
 Muhle-Goll, C.; Ulrich, A.S.; Keller, S., et al. Short cationic antimicrobial peptides interact with ATP. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2010, 54, 4480-4483.
- Boman, H.G.; Agerberth, B.; Boman, A. Mechanisms of action on *Escherichia coli* of cecropin P1 and PR-39, two antibacterial peptides from pig intestine. *Infect Immun* 1993, *61*, 2978-2984.
- 181. Xiong, Y.Q.; Yeaman, M.R.; Bayer, A.S. In vitro antibacterial activities of platelet microbicidal protein and neutrophil defensin against *Staphylococcus aureus* are influenced by antibiotics differing in mechanism of action. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1999, 43, 1111-1117.
- Castle, M.; Nazarian, A.; Yi, S.S.; Tempst, P. Lethal effects of apidaecin on *Escherichia coli* involve sequential molecular interactions with diverse targets. *J Biol Chem* 1999, 274, 32555-32564.
- 183. Nishikata, M.; Kanehira, T.; Oh, H.; Tani, H.; Tazaki, M.; Kuboki, Y. Salivary histatin as an inhibitor of a protease produced by the oral bacterium *Bacteroides gingivalis*. *Biochem Bioph Res Co* 1991, *174*, 625-630.
- 184. Couto, M.A.; Harwig, S.S.; Lehrer, R.I. Selective inhibition of microbial serine proteases by enap-2, an antimicrobial peptide from equine neutrophils. *Infect Immun* 1993, 61, 2991-2994.
- 185. Keppi, E.; Pugsley, A.P.; Lambert, J.; Wicker, C.; Dimarcq, J.L.; Hoffmann, J.A.; Hoffmann, D. Mode of action of diptericin-a, a bactericidal peptide induced in the hemolymph of *Phormia terranovae* larvae. *Arch Insect Biochem* **1989**, *10*, 229-239.

- Ishikawa, M.; Kubo, T.; Natori, S. Purification and characterization of a diptericin homologue from *Sarcophaga peregrina* (flesh fly). *Biochem J* 1992, 287 (*Pt 2*), 573-578.
- Scheit, K.H.; Reddy, E.S.; Bhargava, P.M. Seminaplasmin is a potent inhibitor of *E. coli* RNA polymerase in vivo. *Nature* 1979, *279*, 728-731.
- 188. Chitnis, S.N.; Prasad, K.S.; Bhargava, P.M. Isolation and characterization of autolysisdefective mutants of *Escherichia coli* that are resistant to the lytic activity of seminalplasmin. *J Gen Microbiol* **1990**, *136*, 463-469.
- Chitnis, S.N.; Prasad, K.S.; Bhargava, P.M. Bacteriolytic activity of seminalplasmin. J Gen Microbiol 1987, 133, 1265-1271.
- 190. Jones, A.T. Macropinocytosis: Searching for an endocytic identity and role in the uptake of cell penetrating peptides. *J Cell Mol Med* **2007**, *11*, 670-684.
- Mayor, S.; Pagano, R.E. Pathways of clathrin-independent endocytosis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2007, *8*, 603-612.
- 192. Kobayashi, S.; Takeshima, K.; Park, C.B.; Kim, S.C.; Matsuzaki, K. Interactions of the novel antimicrobial peptide buforin 2 with lipid bilayers: Proline as a translocation promoting factor. *Biochemistry* 2000, *39*, 8648-8654.
- 193. Park, C.B.; Yi, K.S.; Matsuzaki, K.; Kim, M.S.; Kim, S.C. Structure-activity analysis of buforin ii, a histone h2a-derived antimicrobial peptide: The proline hinge is responsible for the cell-penetrating ability of buforin ii. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2000, *97*, 8245-8250.
- Tossi, A.; Sandri, L.; Giangaspero, A. Amphipathic, alpha-helical antimicrobial peptides.
 Biopolymers 2000, 55, 4-30.

- 195. Westerhoff, H.V.; Juretic, D.; Hendler, R.W.; Zasloff, M. Magainins and the disruption of membrane-linked free-energy transduction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1989, *86*, 6597-6601.
- 196. Subbalakshmi, C.; Nagaraj, R.; Sitaram, N. Biological activities of c-terminal 15-residue synthetic fragment of melittin: Design of an analog with improved antibacterial activity. *FEBS Lett* **1999**, *448*, 62-66.
- 197. Park, Y.; Park, S.C.; Park, H.K.; Shin, S.Y.; Kim, Y.; Hahm, K.S. Structure-activity relationship of hp (2-20) analog peptide: Enhanced antimicrobial activity by n-terminal random coil region deletion. *Biopolymers* **2007**, *88*, 199-207.
- 198. Oren, Z.; Shai, Y. A class of highly potent antibacterial peptides derived from pardaxin, a pore-forming peptide isolated from moses sole fish *Pardachirus marmoratus*. *Eur J Biochem* 1996, 237, 303-310.
- Pace, C.N.; Scholtz, J.M. A helix propensity scale based on experimental studies of peptides and proteins. *Biophys J* 1998, 75, 422-427.
- 200. Lee, D.G.; Kim, H.N.; Park, Y.K.; Kim, H.K.; Choi, B.H.; Choi, C.H.; Hahm, K.S. Design of novel analogue peptides with potent antibiotic activity based on the antimicrobial peptide, hp (2-20), derived from n-terminus of *Helicobacter pylori* ribosomal protein 11. *Bba-Proteins Proteom* 2002, *1598*, 185-194.
- Kustanovich, I.; Shalev, D.E.; Mikhlin, M.; Gaidukov, L.; Mor, A. Structural requirements for potent versus selective cytotoxicity for antimicrobial dermaseptin s4 derivatives. *J Biol Chem* 2002, 277, 16941-16951.

- 202. Zelezetsky, I.; Pacor, S.; Pag, U.; Papo, N.; Shai, Y.; Sahl, H.G.; Tossi, A. Controlled alteration of the shape and conformational stability of alpha-helical cell-lytic peptides: Effect on mode of action and cell specificity. *Biochem J* 2005, *390*, 177-188.
- 203. Dathe, M.; Wieprecht, T.; Nikolenko, H.; Handel, L.; Maloy, W.L.; MacDonald, D.L.; Beyermann, M.; Bienert, M. Hydrophobicity, hydrophobic moment and angle subtended by charged residues modulate antibacterial and haemolytic activity of amphipathic helical peptides. *FEBS Lett* **1997**, *403*, 208-212.
- Fernandez-Vidal, M.; Jayasinghe, S.; Ladokhin, A.S.; White, S.H. Folding amphipathic helices into membranes: Amphiphilicity trumps hydrophobicity. *J Mol Biol* 2007, *370*, 459-470.
- 205. Chen, Y.; Mant, C.T.; Farmer, S.W.; Hancock, R.E.; Vasil, M.L.; Hodges, R.S. Rational design of alpha-helical antimicrobial peptides with enhanced activities and specificity/therapeutic index. *J Biol Chem* **2005**, *280*, 12316-12329.
- Giangaspero, A.; Sandri, L.; Tossi, A. Amphipathic alpha helical antimicrobial peptides. *Eur J Biochem* 2001, 268, 5589-5600.
- Ryan, L.; Lamarre, B.; Diu, T.; Ravi, J.; Judge, P.J.; Temple, A.; Carr, M.; Cerasoli, E.;
 Su, B.; Jenkinson, H.F., *et al.* Anti-antimicrobial peptides: Folding-mediated host defense antagonists. *J Biol Chem* 2013, 288, 20162-20172.
- 208. Tew, G.N.; Liu, D.; Chen, B.; Doerksen, R.J.; Kaplan, J.; Carroll, P.J.; Klein, M.L.; DeGrado, W.F. De novo design of biomimetic antimicrobial polymers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002, *99*, 5110-5114.

- 209. Goumon, Y.; Strub, J.M.; Moniatte, M.; Nullans, G.; Poteur, L.; Hubert, P.; Van Dorsselaer, A.; Aunis, D.; Metz-Boutigue, M.H. The c-terminal bisphosphorylated proenkephalin-a-(209-237)-peptide from adrenal medullary chromaffin granules possesses antibacterial activity. *Eur J Biochem* 1996, 235, 516-525.
- 210. Kreil, G. D-amino acids in animal peptides. Annu Rev Biochem 1997, 66, 337-345.
- 211. Kamatani, Y.; Minakata, H.; Nomoto, K.; Kim, K.H.; Yongsiri, A.; Takeuchi, H. Isolation of achatin-i, a neuroactive tetrapeptide having a d-phenylalanine residue, from *Achatina ganglia*, and its effects on *Achatina giant* neurones. *Comp Biochem Physiol C* 1991, 98, 97-103.
- 212. Hancock, R.E.; Chapple, D.S. Peptide antibiotics. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1999, 43, 1317-1323.
- 213. Rifflet, A.; Gavalda, S.; Tene, N.; Orivel, J.; Leprince, J.; Guilhaudis, L.; Genin, E.; Vetillard, A.; Treilhou, M. Identification and characterization of a novel antimicrobial peptide from the venom of the ant *Tetramorium bicarinatum*. *Peptides* 2012, *38*, 363-370.
- 214. Oman, T.J.; Boettcher, J.M.; Wang, H.; Okalibe, X.N.; van der Donk, W.A. Sublancin is not a lantibiotic but an s-linked glycopeptide. *Nature chemical biology* **2011**, *7*, 78-80.
- 215. Mangoni, M.E.; Aumelas, A.; Charnet, P.; Roumestand, C.; Chiche, L.; Despaux, E.; Grassy, G.; Calas, B.; Chavanieu, A. Change in membrane permeability induced by protegrin 1: Implication of disulphide bridges for pore formation. *Febs Letters* **1996**, *383*, 93-98.
- Shinnar, A.E.; Butler, K.L.; Park, H.J. Cathelicidin family of antimicrobial peptides:
 Proteolytic processing and protease resistance. *Bioorg Chem* 2003, *31*, 425-436.

- 217. Yasin, B.; Pang, M.; Turner, J.S.; Cho, Y.; Dinh, N.N.; Waring, A.J.; Lehrer, R.I.; Wagar, E.A. Evaluation of the inactivation of infectious herpes simplex virus by host-defense peptides. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 2000, *19*, 187-194.
- Rozek, A.; Powers, J.P.; Friedrich, C.L.; Hancock, R.E. Structure-based design of an indolicidin peptide analogue with increased protease stability. *Biochemistry* 2003, 42, 14130-14138.
- 219. Osapay, K.; Tran, D.; Ladokhin, A.S.; White, S.H.; Henschen, A.H.; Selsted, M.E. Formation and characterization of a single trp-trp cross-link in indolicidin that confers protease stability without altering antimicrobial activity. *J Biol Chem* 2000, 275, 12017-12022.
- 220. Houston, M.E., Jr.; Kondejewski, L.H.; Karunaratne, D.N.; Gough, M.; Fidai, S.; Hodges, R.S.; Hancock, R.E. Influence of preformed alpha-helix and alpha-helix induction on the activity of cationic antimicrobial peptides. *J Pept Res* **1998**, *52*, 81-88.
- 221. Zhang, L.; Benz, R.; Hancock, R.E. Influence of proline residues on the antibacterial and synergistic activities of alpha-helical peptides. *Biochemistry* **1999**, *38*, 8102-8111.
- 222. Nell, M.J.; Tjabringa, G.S.; Wafelman, A.R.; Verrijk, R.; Hiemstra, P.S.; Drijfhout, J.W.; Grote, J.J. Development of novel ll-37 derived antimicrobial peptides with lps and lta neutralizing and antimicrobial activities for therapeutic application. *Peptides* 2006, *27*, 649-660.

- 223. Goblyos, A.; Schimmel, K.J.; Valentijn, A.R.; Fathers, L.M.; Cordfunke, R.A.; Chan, H.L.; Oostendorp, J.; Nibbering, P.H.; Drijfhout, J.W.; Hiemstra, P.S., *et al.* Development of a nose cream containing the synthetic antimicrobial peptide p60.4ac for eradication of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* carriage. *J Pharm Sci* 2013, *102*, 3539-3544.
- Bessalle, R.; Kapitkovsky, A.; Gorea, A.; Shalit, I.; Fridkin, M. All-d-magainin: Chirality, antimicrobial activity and proteolytic resistance. *FEBS Lett* **1990**, *274*, 151-155.
- 225. Giuliani, A.; Rinaldi, A.C. Beyond natural antimicrobial peptides: Multimeric peptides and other peptidomimetic approaches. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **2011**, *68*, 2255-2266.
- 226. Kim, J.Y.; Park, S.C.; Yoon, M.Y.; Hahm, K.S.; Park, Y. C-terminal amidation of pmap23: Translocation to the inner membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. *Amino Acids* 2011, 40, 183-195.
- Berthold, N.; Czihal, P.; Fritsche, S.; Sauer, U.; Schiffer, G.; Knappe, D.; Alber, G.; Hoffmann, R. Novel apidaecin 1b analogs with superior serum stabilities for treatment of infections by Gram-negative pathogens. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2013, *57*, 402-409.
- 228. Gupta, M.; Chauhan, V.S. De novo design of alpha,beta-didehydrophenylalanine containing peptides: From models to applications. *Biopolymers* **2011**, *95*, 161-173.
- Mathur, P.; Jagannathan, N.R.; Chauhan, V.S. Alpha, beta-dehydrophenylalanine containing cecropin-melittin hybrid peptides: Conformation and activity. *J Pept Sci* 2007, *13*, 253-262.

- 230. Torino, D.; Mollica, A.; Pinnen, F.; Feliciani, F.; Lucente, G.; Fabrizi, G.; Portalone, G.; Davis, P.; Lai, J.; Ma, S.W., *et al.* Synthesis and evaluation of new endomorphin-2 analogues containing (z)-alpha,beta-didehydrophenylalanine (delta(z)phe) residues. *J Med Chem* 2010, *53*, 4550-4554.
- 231. Avrahami, D.; Shai, Y. Bestowing antifungal and antibacterial activities by lipophilic acid conjugation to d,l-amino acid-containing antimicrobial peptides: A plausible mode of action. *Biochemistry* **2003**, *42*, 14946-14956.
- 232. Schneider, G.; Schrodl, W.; Wallukat, G.; Muller, J.; Nissen, E.; Ronspeck, W.; Wrede,
 P.; Kunze, R. Peptide design by artificial neural networks and computer-based evolutionary search. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998, 95, 12179-12184.
- 233. Fjell, C.D.; Jenssen, H.; Hilpert, K.; Cheung, W.A.; Pante, N.; Hancock, R.E.; Cherkasov, A. Identification of novel antibacterial peptides by chemoinformatics and machine learning. *J Med Chem* 2009, *52*, 2006-2015.
- Belda, I.; Llora, X.; Giralt, E. Evolutionary algorithms and de novo peptide design. *Soft Comput* 2006, *10*, 295-304.
- 235. Loose, C.; Jensen, K.; Rigoutsos, I.; Stephanopoulos, G. A linguistic model for the rational design of antimicrobial peptides. *Nature* **2006**, *443*, 867-869.
- 236. Jenssen, H.; Fjell, C.D.; Cherkasov, A.; Hancock, R.E. Qsar modeling and computeraided design of antimicrobial peptides. *J Pept Sci* **2008**, *14*, 110-114.
- 237. Cherkasov, A.; Hilpert, K.; Jenssen, H.; Fjell, C.D.; Waldbrook, M.; Mullaly, S.C.; Volkmer, R.; Hancock, R.E. Use of artificial intelligence in the design of small peptide antibiotics effective against a broad spectrum of highly antibiotic-resistant superbugs. *ACS Chem Biol* 2009, *4*, 65-74.

- Fjell, C.D.; Jenssen, H.; Cheung, W.A.; Hancock, R.E.; Cherkasov, A. Optimization of antibacterial peptides by genetic algorithms and cheminformatics. *Chem Biol Drug Des* 2011, 77, 48-56.
- 239. Fjell, C.D.; Hiss, J.A.; Hancock, R.E.W.; Schneider, G. Designing antimicrobial peptides:
 Form follows function (vol 11, pg 37, 2012). *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2012, *11*, 124-124.
- 240. Tossi, A.; Tarantino, C.; Romeo, D. Design of synthetic antimicrobial peptides based on sequence analogy and amphipathicity. *Eur J Biochem* **1997**, *250*, 549-558.
- 241. Mor, A.; Nicolas, P. The nh2-terminal alpha-helical domain 1-18 of dermaseptin is responsible for antimicrobial activity. *J Biol Chem* **1994**, *269*, 1934-1939.
- 242. Storici, P.; Scocchi, M.; Tossi, A.; Gennaro, R.; Zanetti, M. Chemical synthesis and biological activity of a novel antibacterial peptide deduced from a pig myeloid cDNA. *FEBS Lett* **1994**, *337*, 303-307.
- 243. Romani, A.A.; Baroni, M.C.; Taddei, S.; Ghidini, F.; Sansoni, P.; Cavirani, S.; Cabassi, C.S. In vitro activity of novel in silico-developed antimicrobial peptides against a panel of bacterial pathogens. *J Pept Sci* 2013, *19*, 554-565.
- 244. Cruz, J.; Ortiz, C.C.; Guzman, F.; Cardenas, C.; Fernandez-Lafuente, R.; Torres, R.G. Design and activity of novel lactoferrampin analogues against o157:H7 enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Biopolymers* 2013.
- 245. Darouiche, R.O. Treatment of infections associated with surgical implants. *N Engl J Med*2004, *350*, 1422-1429.
- 246. Lewis, K. Riddle of biofilm resistance. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2001, 45, 999-1007.

- Harro, J.M.; Peters, B.M.; O'May, G.A.; Archer, N.; Kerns, P.; Prabhakara, R.; Shirtliff, M.E. Vaccine development in *Staphylococcus aureus*: Taking the biofilm phenotype into consideration. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2010, *59*, 306-323.
- 248. Sutherland, I. Biofilm exopolysaccharides: A strong and sticky framework. *Microbiology* 2001, *147*, 3-9.
- Mah, T.F.; O'Toole, G.A. Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents. *Trends Microbiol* 2001, 9, 34-39.
- Dunne, W.M., Jr.; Mason, E.O., Jr.; Kaplan, S.L. Diffusion of rifampin and vancomycin through a *Staphylococcus epidermidis* biofilm. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1993, 37, 2522-2526.
- Keren, I.; Kaldalu, N.; Spoering, A.; Wang, Y.P.; Lewis, K. Persister cells and tolerance to antimicrobials (vol 230, pg 12, 2003). *Fems Microbiol Lett* 2004, *234*, 187-187.
- Stewart, P.S.; Costerton, J.W. Antibiotic resistance of bacteria in biofilms. *Lancet* 2001, 358, 135-138.
- 253. Yao, Y.; Sturdevant, D.E.; Otto, M. Genomewide analysis of gene expression in staphylococcus epidermidis biofilms: Insights into the pathophysiology of *S. epidermidis* biofilms and the role of phenol-soluble modulins in formation of biofilms. *J Infect Dis* 2005, 191, 289-298.
- Otto, M. Bacterial evasion of antimicrobial peptides by biofilm formation. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 2006, 306, 251-258.
- 255. Singh, P.K.; Parsek, M.R.; Greenberg, E.P.; Welsh, M.J. A component of innate immunity prevents bacterial biofilm development. *Nature* **2002**, *417*, 552-555.

- Overhage, J.; Campisano, A.; Bains, M.; Torfs, E.C.; Rehm, B.H.; Hancock, R.E. Human host defense peptide ll-37 prevents bacterial biofilm formation. *Infect Immun* 2008, 76, 4176-4182.
- 257. de la Fuente-Nunez, C.; Korolik, V.; Bains, M.; Nguyen, U.; Breidenstein, E.B.; Horsman, S.; Lewenza, S.; Burrows, L.; Hancock, R.E. Inhibition of bacterial biofilm formation and swarming motility by a small synthetic cationic peptide. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2012, 56, 2696-2704.
- 258. Gao, G.; Lange, D.; Hilpert, K.; Kindrachuk, J.; Zou, Y.; Cheng, J.T.; Kazemzadeh-Narbat, M.; Yu, K.; Wang, R.; Straus, S.K., *et al.* The biocompatibility and biofilm resistance of implant coatings based on hydrophilic polymer brushes conjugated with antimicrobial peptides. *Biomaterials* 2011, *32*, 3899-3909.
- 259. Lucke, M.; Schmidmaier, G.; Sadoni, S.; Wildemann, B.; Schiller, R.; Haas, N.P.; Raschke, M. Gentamicin coating of metallic implants reduces implant related osteomyelitis in rats. *Bone* 2003, *32*, 521-531.
- Price, J.S.; Tencer, A.F.; Arm, D.M.; Bohach, G.A. Controlled release of antibiotics from coated orthopedic implants. *J Biomed Mater Res* 1996, *30*, 281-286.
- 261. Gollwitzer, H.; Ibrahim, K.; Meyer, H.; Mittelmeier, W.; Busch, R.; Stemberger, A. Antibacterial poly(d,l-lactic acid) coating of medical implants using a biodegradable drug delivery technology. *J Antimicrob Chemoth* **2003**, *51*, 585-591.
- 262. Yoshinari, M.; Kato, T.; Matsuzaka, K.; Hayakawa, T.; Shiba, K. Prevention of biofilm formation on titanium surfaces modified with conjugated molecules comprised of antimicrobial and titanium-binding peptides. *Biofouling* **2010**, *26*, 103-110.

- 263. Helmerhorst, E.J.; Hodgson, R.; van 't Hof, W.; Veerman, E.C.; Allison, C.; Nieuw Amerongen, A.V. The effects of histatin-derived basic antimicrobial peptides on oral biofilms. *J Dent Res* 1999, 78, 1245-1250.
- Wei, G.X.; Campagna, A.N.; Bobek, L.A. Effect of muc7 peptides on the growth of bacteria and on *Streptococcus mutans* biofilm. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2006, *57*, 1100-1109.
- 265. Chennupati, S.K.; Chiu, A.G.; Tamashiro, E.; Banks, C.A.; Cohen, M.B.; Bleier, B.S.; Kofonow, J.M.; Tam, E.; Cohen, N.A. Effects of an II-37-derived antimicrobial peptide in an animal model of biofilm *Pseudomonas sinusitis*. *Am J Rhinol Allergy* 2009, *23*, 46-51.
- 266. Shigeta, M.; Tanaka, G.; Komatsuzawa, H.; Sugai, M.; Suginaka, H.; Usui, T. Permeation of antimicrobial agents through *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms: A simple method. *Chemotherapy* 1997, 43, 340-345.
- 267. Liu, Z.G.; Young, A.W.; Hu, P.; Rice, A.J.; Zhou, C.H.; Zhan, Y.K.; Kallenbach, N.R. Tuning the membrane selectivity of antimicrobial peptides by using multivalent design. *Chembiochem* 2007, *8*, 2063-2065.
- 268. Hou, S.Y.; Zhou, C.H.; Liu, Z.G.; Young, A.W.; Shi, Z.H.; Ren, D.C.; Kallenbach, N.R. Antimicrobial dendrimer active against *Escherichia coli* biofilms. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 2009, 19, 5478-5481.
- 269. Hou, S.; Liu, Z.; Young, A.W.; Mark, S.L.; Kallenbach, N.R.; Ren, D. Effects of Trpand Arg-containing antimicrobial-peptide structure on inhibition of *Escherichia coli* planktonic growth and biofilm formation. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **2010**, *76*, 1967-1974.

- 270. Okuda, K.I.; Zendo, T.; Sugimoto, S.; Iwase, T.; Tajima, A.; Yamada, S.; Sonomoto, K.; Mizunoe, Y. Effects of bacteriocins on methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2013.
- 271. Hirt, H.; Gorr, S.U. Antimicrobial peptide gl13k is effective in reducing biofilms of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **2013**, *57*, 4903-4910.
- 272. Gopal, R.; Lee, J.H.; Kim, Y.G.; Kim, M.S.; Seo, C.H.; Park, Y. Anti-microbial, antibiofilm activities and cell selectivity of the nrc-16 peptide derived from witch flounder, *Glyptocephalus cynoglossus. Mar Drugs* 2013, 11, 1836-1852.
- 273. Leitch, E.C.; Willcox, M.D. Lactoferrin increases the susceptibility of *S. epidermidis* biofilms to lysozyme and vancomycin. *Curr Eye Res* **1999**, *19*, 12-19.
- Chen, X.; Zhang, M.; Zhou, C.; Kallenbach, N.R.; Ren, D. Control of bacterial persister cells by Trp/Arg-containing antimicrobial peptides. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2011, 77, 4878-4885.
- Yeaman, M.R.; Yount, N.Y. Mechanisms of antimicrobial peptide action and resistance.
 Pharmacol Rev 2003, 55, 27-55.
- 276. Lewis, L.A.; Choudhury, B.; Balthazar, J.T.; Martin, L.E.; Ram, S.; Rice, P.A.; Stephens, D.S.; Carlson, R.; Shafer, W.M. Phosphoethanolamine substitution of lipid a and resistance of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to cationic antimicrobial peptides and complement-mediated killing by normal human serum. *Infect Immun* 2009, 77, 1112-1120.
- Gunn, J.S. Bacterial modification of lps and resistance to antimicrobial peptides. J Endotoxin Res 2001, 7, 57-62.

- Guo, L.; Lim, K.B.; Poduje, C.M.; Daniel, M.; Gunn, J.S.; Hackett, M.; Miller, S.I. Lipid a acylation and bacterial resistance against vertebrate antimicrobial peptides. *Cell* 1998, 95, 189-198.
- 279. Guina, T.; Yi, E.C.; Wang, H.; Hackett, M.; Miller, S.I. A phop-regulated outer membrane protease of *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium promotes resistance to alpha-helical antimicrobial peptides. *J Bacteriol* 2000, *182*, 4077-4086.
- 280. Shafer, W.M.; Qu, X.; Waring, A.J.; Lehrer, R.I. Modulation of neisseria gonorrhoeae susceptibility to vertebrate antibacterial peptides due to a member of the resistance/nodulation/division efflux pump family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998, 95, 1829-1833.
- 281. del Castillo, F.J.; del Castillo, I.; Moreno, F. Construction and characterization of mutations at codon 751 of the *Escherichia coli* gyrB gene that confer resistance to the antimicrobial peptide microcin b17 and alter the activity of DNA gyrase. *J Bacteriol* 2001, *183*, 2137-2140.
- 282. Friedrich, C.; Scott, M.G.; Karunaratne, N.; Yan, H.; Hancock, R.E. Salt-resistant alphahelical cationic antimicrobial peptides. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **1999**, *43*, 1542-1548.
- 283. Yeaman, M.R.; Bayer, A.S.; Koo, S.P.; Foss, W.; Sullam, P.M. Platelet microbicidal proteins and neutrophil defensin disrupt the *Staphylococcus aureus* cytoplasmic membrane by distinct mechanisms of action. *J Clin Invest* **1998**, *101*, 178-187.

- 284. Vuong, C.; Voyich, J.M.; Fischer, E.R.; Braughton, K.R.; Whitney, A.R.; DeLeo, F.R.;
 Otto, M. Polysaccharide intercellular adhesin (pia) protects *Staphylococcus epidermidis* against major components of the human innate immune system. *Cell Microbiol* 2004, *6*, 269-275.
- 285. Miller, S.I.; Kukral, A.M.; Mekalanos, J.J. A two-component regulatory system (phop phoq) controls *Salmonella typhimurium* virulence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1989, *86*, 5054-5058.

CHAPTER 2

SYNTHETIC DENDRIMERIC PEPTIDE ACTIVE AGAINST BIOFILM AND PERSISTER CELLS OF *PSEUDOMONAS AERUGINOSA*

This chapter has been published as below with minor modifications. Ali Adem Bahar, Zhigang Liu, Filbert Totsingan, Carlos Buitrago, Neville Kallenbach, Dacheng Ren. Synthetic dendrimeric peptide active against biofilm and persister cells of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 2015, 99, 8125-8135.

2.1 Abstract

Antimicrobial dendrimeric peptides (AMDP) are a relatively new class of agents displaying repetitive functional groups on a branched core. Previous work done by Liu et al. in 2007 has investigated the length requirement for antimicrobial activity of peptides consisting of repeated arginine (R) and tryptophan (W) side chains and found that even short linear RW repeats are active, providing a starting point for a de novo design of multivalent structures. In this study, we tested a new synthetic dendrimer, 2D-24, for its antimicrobial activity against Pseudomonas aeruginosa, including the wild-type PAO1 and its mucoid mutant PDO300. This synthetic AMDP was found to kill planktonic cells of both PAO1 and PDO300 in a dose-dependent manner, with nearly complete killing of both strains observed when treated with 50 μ M of this agent. In addition to planktonic cells, 2D-24 was also found to kill biofilm cells of both strains in a dose-dependent manner. For example, treatment with 30 μ M 2D-24 led to 94.4 \pm 1.4 and 93.9 ± 4.2 % killing of PAO1 and PDO300 biofilm cells, respectively. Furthermore, 2D-24 was effective in killing multidrug-tolerant persister cells of PAO1 and PDO300. While higher concentrations of 2D-24 were required to kill persister cells, combinations of 2D-24 with ciprofloxacin, tobramycin, or carbenicillin showed synergistic effects on killing persister cells of both strains. Based on hemolysis assays using a co-culture model of PAO1 and human epithelial cells, 2D-24 was found to kill P. aeruginosa cells at concentrations that are not toxic to mammalian cells.

2.2 Introduction

Bacteria have evolved diverse mechanisms to survive from the attack of antibiotics. One such mechanism involves persister cell formation, by which a small population in a bacterial culture enters an inactive stage and exhibits high tolerance to antibiotics and other forms of stress [1]. Consistently, persister cell formation has been implicated in chronic infections by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [2,3].

In addition to persister formation, bacteria can also evade antibiotics by forming multicellular structures, known as biofilms, in which bacterial cells adhere to a surface and secrete an extracellular matrix that protects them from environmental stresses [4]. Due to limited mass transfer [5], biofilm cells grow slowly with reduced metabolism and exhibit high tolerance to antimicrobial agents [6,7]. It is estimated that 80 % of bacterial infections in humans involve biofilms [8]. Thus, biofilms present a serious complication associated with chronic infections especially in patients with compromised immune systems [9-12].

To address the challenge of drug-resistant infections, it is important to develop new antimicrobials that are effective against biofilms and persister cells. Antimicrobial peptides (AMP) are promising alternative antibiotics due to their rapid killing effects, low frequency of resistance development, and broad spectrum of target microbes [13]. Thousands of AMPs have been identified to date [14], and many synthetic analogs have been developed and tested against infectious microorganisms including protozoa, fungi, bacteria, and viruses [15-19]. However, most AMPs are not appropriate for therapeutic use due to cytotoxicity, high MIC (minimum inhibitory concentration) values, in vivo inactivation by proteases, and/or high production cost [20]. Therefore, it is important to develop new AMPs to overcome these challenges. One such

strategy is to modify the AMP molecules by amidation of carboxyl ends [21], cyclization, covalent modification with disulfide bonds [22], and/or alteration of amino acid content such as adding prolines [23]. Modifications of this kind can affect critical physiochemical properties of natural AMPs and thus the target spectrum, cytotoxicity to eukaryotic cells, antimicrobial activity, and stability against proteases [13].

Antimicrobial dendrimeric peptides (AMDP) are a relatively new class of AMPs with repeating functional groups linked to a multivalent scaffold. The Kallenbach group has investigated the length requirement for antimicrobial activity of peptides only consisting of amino acid arginine (R) and tryptophan (W) repeats. Even short repeats of RW (trimers, for example) are active, providing a starting point for a de novo design of minimal structures [24]. Further studies found that dendrimeric displays of di- or tripeptides of arginine and tryptophan can render the AMPs more potent and less cytotoxic than natural AMPs [25]. Recently, the Ren lab showed that some synthetic AMPs with RW repeats are effective against planktonic and biofilm cells of *Escherichia coli* [26,27] including persister cells [28]. To further evaluate the potential of AMDPs as more effective antibacterial agents, the agent 2D-24, containing RWR and RTtbR(2) tripeptide branches (Fig. 2-1), was tested in this study for its antimicrobial activities against planktonic, biofilm, and persister cells of the wild-type *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and its mucoid mutant PDO300.



Figure 2-1. Structure of 2D-24

P. aeruginosa is a Gram-negative bacterium with exceptional capabilities to adapt to different living environments [29]. It is a well-known opportunistic human pathogen [30], causing serious infections in patients with comprised immunity or with cystic fibrosis [31,32]. *P. aeruginosa* can acquire antibiotic tolerance through biofilm and persister formation [33,34]. In addition, during chronic colonization in the lungs of cystic fibrosis patients, *P. aeruginosa* commonly acquires mutations that lead to a mucoid phenotype overproducing the polysaccharide alginate and therefore acquires a higher-level antibiotic tolerance [35-37]. With its strong clinical relevance, *P. aeruginosa* is a good model bacterium for studying antibiotic resistance and for testing new antimicrobials.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 2D-24 Synthesis

The synthesis of 2D-24 (50-µmol scale) was performed in the lab of Kallenbach at New York University.

2.3.2 Bacterial strain and growth media.

P. aeruginosa PAO1 (ATCC BAA-47, henceforth PAO1) and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 (*mucA22* mutant of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1, constructed based on a clinical isolate of *P. aeruginosa* FRD1 from cystic fibrosis patient [38]; henceforth, PDO300 [39]) were routinely cultured in Lysogeny broth (LB) medium [40] containing 10 g/L tryptone, 5 g/L yeast extract, and 10 g/L NaCl at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm. To minimize the difference in persistence between overnight cultures by freeze and thaw, all overnight cultures were inoculated with single-use glycerol stocks prepared from the same overnight culture of desired bacteria.

2.3.3 Effects of 2D-24 on planktonic cells

Exponential cultures were prepared by inoculating 3 mL LB medium with an overnight culture to an optical density at 600 nm (OD_{600}) of 0.01 and incubated at 37°C with 200 rpm shaking until OD_{600} reached 0.5. Then, different concentrations of 2D-24 were added. The control and treated samples were incubated for 3 h at 37°C with 200 rpm shaking. Then, the cells were washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4). The viability of each sample was determined by counting colony-forming units (CFUs) using a drop-plate method as described previously [28]. Briefly, each sample was diluted in a $10 \times$ series with 0.85 % NaCl solution. The CFU was determined by loading 10 µL of each diluted sample on a LB agar plate and counting the CFUs after incubation at 37°C overnight.

2.3.4 Effect of 2D-24 on biofilms

For each treatment, three separate polished (using 1000 grit sand paper, 3 M, St. Paul, MN, USA) sterile 2 cm × 1 cm 316-L stainless steel coupons were placed in a petri dish containing 20 mL LB medium. To initiate biofilm formation, the medium was inoculated with an overnight culture to OD_{600} of 0.01. These coupons were incubated for 24 h at 37°C without shaking. The coupons were then washed gently with PBS three times and placed in a 12-well plate (one coupon in each well) with 2 mL PBS in each well and 2D-24 supplemented at concentrations of 0.1 to 30 μ M. After incubation for 3.5 h, biofilm coupons were washed with PBS and transferred to 15-mL sterile conical tubes with 3 mL PBS buffer in each. The samples were gently sonicated for 4 min in a sonication bath (Branson B200 Ultrasonic, Danbury, CT, USA) and vortexed for 15 s (this condition was confirmed not to kill the cells; data not shown). The cells, thus detached from coupons, were plated using the drop-plate method [28] to determine the CFUs.

2.3.5 Persister isolation and killing by 2D-24

Persister cells of PAO1 and PDO300 were isolated by killing normal cells in overnight cultures with 200 µg/mL ciprofloxacin (Cip) for 3.5 h at 37°C, as described previously [41,42]. Longer treatment, 6.5 h, was also tested to confirm the treatment time was sufficient (no additional killing with extended time) as described in (Pan *et al.* 2012). After antibiotic treatment, surviving persister cells were washed twice with PBS buffer to remove any remaining antibiotic. The

collected cells were resuspended in 3 mL PBS supplemented with 2D-24 at different concentrations and incubated for 3.5 h at 37°C with 200 rpm shaking. After treatment, the cells were washed with PBS and plated to determine the viability by counting CFU as described above.

2.3.6 Fluorescence microscopy

To corroborate the CFU results, the LIVE/DEAD BacLightTM bacterial viability kit (Life Technologies Inc., Carlsbad, CA, USA) was used to determine the viability of biofilm cells of PAO1 and PDO300 on 316-L stainless steel coupons. The 24-h *P. aeruginosa* biofilms grown on these surfaces were washed gently with 0.85 % NaCl (w/v) solution three times to remove planktonic cells. Then, 1 µL of 20 mM propidium iodide and 1 µL of 3.34 mM SYTO 9 stains were added in 1 mL PBS to stain each biofilm sample for 10 min in the dark. The stained biofilm samples were examined with an Axio Imager M1 fluorescence microscope (Carl Zeiss Inc., Berlin, Germany). At least five randomly selected spots were examined for each sample.

2.3.7 Synergistic effects between 2D-24 and antibiotics

Three different antibiotics were tested including Cip (a fluoroquinolone targeting DNA gyrase) [43], tobramycin (Tob, an aminoglycoside targeting translation by binding to ribosome subunits) [44], and carbenicillin (Car, a carboxypenicillin targeting bacterial cell wall synthesis) [45]. Normal and persister cells of PAO1 and PDO300 were treated with antibiotic alone, 2D-24 alone, or a combination of an antibiotic and 2D-24 to assess any synergistic effects in bacterial killing. The viability of bacterial cells was determined using the drop-plate method as described above.

2.3.8 Cytotoxicity and antimicrobial effects in co-cultures

The cytotoxicity of 2D-24 on eukaryotic cells was evaluated using IB3-1 cells and LIVE/DEAD® viability/cytotoxicity kit (Invitrogen, NY, USA). IB3-1 cells were grown in LHC-8 basal medium (Invitrogen, NY, USA) supplemented with 10 % (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS) in flasks pre-coated with 100 µg/mL bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 30 µg/mL collagen at 37°C with 5 % CO₂. All treatments were performed in antibiotic-free medium. To test the cytotoxicity, IB3-1 [46] (a compound heterozygote bronchial epithelial cell line from a CF patient) cells were seeded into black-sided clear-bottom 96-well plates (5×10^4 cells per well) and incubated until the cell density reached 1×10^6 cells per well. Then, 2D-24 was added at concentrations of 1 to 32 µM. After treatment for 24 h, EthD-1 and calcein AM were used to assess the viability of IB3-1 cells. The optimal concentrations of EthD-1 (1 µM) and calcein AM (2 µM) were determined prior to the treatments to label live and dead IB3-1 cells distinctively. After staining for 30 min at 37°C, samples were washed with PBS and analyzed using a fluorescence microplate reader (model FLx800, Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA). To test the effects of 2D-24 on PAO1 in co-cultures, PAO1 cells (4×10^6 cells/mL) were added either with 2D-24 together or at 4 h prior to 2D-24 treatment (20 h after the inoculation of IB3-1 cells). The viability of IB3-1 cells was determined as described above. To compare the effects on bacteria, PAO1 cells were treated in the same medium (LHC-8 basal medium) but in the absence of IB3-1 cells. The viability of PAO1 cells was determined by counting CFU using the dropplate method as described above. All treatments were tested in triplicate.

2.3.9 Statistical analysis

The data from CFU experiments were analyzed with one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey test using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Differences with p < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Antimicrobial effects of 2D-24 on planktonic cells

First, the effects of 2D-24 on normal planktonic cells were evaluated by treating cells in exponential phase cultures with different concentrations of 2D-24. As shown in Fig. 2-2, 2D-24 was effective in killing both PAO1 and PDO300 planktonic cells in a dose-dependent manner. For example, 5 μ M 2D-24 was found to kill 53.3 ± 3.3 % PAO1 (p < 0.001) and 40.3 ± 6.2 % PDO300 (p < 0.005) cells, respectively. The killing efficiency increased with the concentration of 2D-24. At 20 μ M, 79.9 ± 4.7 % (p < 0.001) and 84.6 ± 7.1 % (p < 0.001) killing was obtained for PAO1 and PDO300, respectively. No viable cells of either strain were found after treatment with 50 μ M 2D-24, suggesting that complete killing is possible. Interestingly, while the mucoid strain PDO300 is more tolerant to antibiotics than the wild-type PAO1 [37], 2D-24 exhibited similar activities in killing PAO1 and PDO300.



Figure 2-2. Effects of 2D-24 on planktonic cells of PAO1 (A) and PDO300 (B). The dendrimer 2D-24 was added at different concentrations to exponential cultures, and the viability was determined by counting CFUs

2.4.2 Antimicrobial effects of 2D-24 on biofilm cells

In addition to planktonic cells, 2D-24 was also found to kill PAO1 and PDO300 biofilm cells effectively (Fig. 2-3). At 5 μ M, 2D-24 is slightly more effective against PAO1 than PDO300. For example, 2D-24 exhibited 55.8±6.5 % killing (p < 0.001) of PAO1 biofilm cells, while the killing of PDO300 biofilm cells with the same concentration of 2D-24 was 31.6±8.8% (p < 0.05). The activity increased with 2D-24 concentration for both strains, e.g., 2D-24 killed 87.8±3.1 % (p < 0.001) and 94.4±1.4 % (p < 0.001) of PAO1 biofilm cells when treated at 20 and 30 μ M, respectively. Similar activities against PDO300 biofilms were observed, e.g., 2D-24 exhibited 81.7±3.5 and 93.9±4.2 % killing of PDO300 biofilm cells when added at 20 and 30 μ M, respectively (p < 0.001 for both). Since the mucoid strain PDO300 is tolerant to multiple antibiotics [47,48], the finding that 2D-24 is equally effective in killing PAO1 and PDO300

biofilms is encouraging. The effective killing of biofilm cells, especially those of PDO300, suggests that 2D-24 is able to penetrate the biofilm matrix and the alginate layer of the mucoid strain.



Figure 2-3. Effects of 2D-24 on PAO1 (A) and PDO300 (B) biofilm cells. The biofilms were cultured for 24 h in LB medium before treatment with 2D-24 for 3.5 h in PBS

2.4.3 LIVE/DEAD staining of biofilms

To corroborate the CFU results of biofilm killing, the control and 2D-24-treated biofilm samples were analyzed using LIVE/DEAD staining. Consistent with CFU data, the LIVE/DEAD images also showed dose-dependent killing of biofilms cells by 2D-24. While the cells in untreated control were healthy (green), killing was observed (red) with addition of 2D-24 and the effects were dose dependent (Fig. 2-4).



Figure 2-4. LIVE/DEAD images of PAO1 and PDO300 biofilms. A, B, C: PAO1 biofilms treated with 0, 10, and 30 μ M 2D-24, respectively. D, E, F: PDO300 biofilms treated with 0, 10, and 30 μ M 2D-24, respectively. *Bar* = 10 μ m

2.4.4. Antimicrobial effects of 2D-24 on persister cells

Because persister cells are highly tolerant to antibiotics [49], we were motivated to also test 2D-24 against persister cells of PAO1 and PDO300 (Fig. 2-5). It was found that 2D-24 is effective in killing persister cells of both strains, although higher concentrations of 2D-24 than those required to kill normal cells are needed. For example, 200 μ M of 2D-24 killed 68.7 ± 6.7 % (p < 0.001) of PAO1 and 89.0 ± 3.2 % (p < 0.001) of PDO300 persister cells. At concentrations below 50 μ M, 2D-24 exhibited a stronger killing effect on PAO1 persister cells compared to PDO300. For example, at 30 μ M, 2D-24 showed 30.3 ± 6.1 % (p < 0.05) killing of PAO1 persister cells, while the same condition did not show any significant killing (p = 0.08) of PDO300 persister cells. Interestingly, there was a sharp increase in the susceptibility of PDO300 persister cells between 30 and 50 μ M of 2D-24; the killing increased from 10.71 ± 6.2 to 87.6 ± 3.3 % (p < 0.05) when 2D-24 was added at 30 and 50 μ M, respectively. These results suggest that a threshold may exist for the activity of 2D-24 to kill PDO300 persister cells effectively.



Figure 2-5. Effects of 2D-24 on persister cells of PAO1 (A) and PDO300 (B). Persister cells were isolated by killing normal cells in overnight cultures with 200 μ g/mL Cip for 3.5 h

2.4.5 Synergistic effects between 2D-24 and antibiotics

Since some membrane-active AMPs can synergize with traditional antibiotics in bacterial killing [50], we also tested if the activity of 2D-24 can be enhanced through synergy with antibiotics. To achieve this, 1 µg/mL Cip, 1.5 µg/mL Tob, and 0.75 µg/mL Car (which can kill ~0.5 log of normal planktonic cells) were tested in the presence and absence of 2D-24. As shown in Figure 2-6, treatment with 1.5 µg/mL Tob or 5 µM 2D-24 alone killed 0.4 log (59.2 ± 0.7 %) and 0.3 log (54.1 ± 1.7 %) of normal planktonic PAO1 cells, respectively. In comparison, cotreatment with both agents caused 2.3 logs of killing (99.6 ± 0.6 %). Similar results were obtained for Cip and Car. Thus, there is indeed a synergy between 2D-24 and these three antibiotics. Co-treatments of normal planktonic cells of PDO300 with antibiotics and 2D-24 gave similar results. Thus, 2D-24 and the tested antibiotics show synergy in killing both strains.



Figure 2-6. Co-treatment of planktonic PAO1 (A) and PDO300 (B) cells with 2D-24 and antibiotics. Cip, Tob, and Car antibiotics were tested on exponential cultures ($OD_{600} = 0.5$). Antibiotics or 2D-24 alone were used as controls

Previously, we reported that some membrane-active AMPs, containing tryptophan and arginine repeats, synergize with ampicillin in killing *E. coli* persister cells [28]. Thus, we tested if there is also a synergy in killing persister cells with 2D-24 and antibiotics. The results showed that there are synergies in killing persister cells, especially the co-treatment with 2D-24 and Tob (Fig. 2-7). For example, Tob (100 μ g/mL) or 2D-24 (30 μ M) alone killed <1.5 % and 0.1 log (20.7 ± 1.4 %) of PAO1 persister cells, respectively. In comparison, co-treatment with these two agents led to 0.58 log (73.8 ± 3.8 %) killing of persister cells. Similar results were obtained for PDO300 persister cells.



Figure 2-7. Co-treatment of PAO1(A) and PDO300 (B) persister cells with 2D-24 and antibiotics. Cip, Tob, and Car antibiotics were tested in the presence and absence of 30 μ M 2D-24. The persister cells were isolated from overnight cultures by killing normal cells with 200 μ g/mL Cip for 3.5 h. Antibiotics were tested at different concentrations (1–1000 μ g/mL tested), but only the results of 100 μ g/mL are shown. The CFU data of untreated controls in each run were normalized as 100 % for the convenience of data comparison across the samples

2.4.6 Cytotoxicity of 2D-24 on IB3-1 lung epithelial cell line in a co-culture with PAO1

It is encouraging to find that 2D-24 is effective against the biofilm and persister cells of *P. aeruginosa.* To determine if 2D-24 is safe to mammalian cells at the effective concentrations, we further tested the cytotoxicity of 2D-24 on the IB3-1 lung epithelial cell line. The results showed that 2D-24 is not toxic to IB3-1 cells at concentrations up to 32 μ M after treatment for 24 h (Fig. 2-8), e.g., no significant change in viability was found compared to the 2D-24-free control (*p* = 0.28). In comparison, when PAO1 cells were treated by 2D-24 at the same concentration in the same medium, significant killing was observed. For example, 84.9±9.5% of PAO1 cells were killed by 16 μ M 2D-24. Consistently, 2D-24 was found to protect IB3-1 epithelial cells from the infection of PAO1 in a co-culture model. In the absence of 2D-24, only 45.7±2.6% of IB3-1 cells remained viable after 24 h incubation with PAO1. In comparison, the presence of 2D-24 increased the viability of IB3-1 cells in a concentration-dependent manner. For example, 94.7±2.7 and 82.6±5.2% of IB3-1 cells remained viable when 16 μ M 2D-24 was added along with the inoculation of PAO1 and at 4 h after inoculation, respectively.



Figure 2-8. Cytotoxicity of 2D-24 on IB3-1 cells and the effects in a co-culture model. Different 2D-24 concentrations, from 1 to 32μ M, were tested on IB3-1 cells alone (*circles*), added together with PAO1 inoculation (*squares*), or 4 h after PAO1 inoculation (*triangles*). Besides, PAO1 cells alone in LHC-8 medium with no IB3-1 cells (*crossings*) were treated with the same concentrations of 2D-24 to evaluate bacterial killing. The viability of IB3-1 cells was determined using the LIVE/DEAD staining kit by following the manufacturer's protocol. The viability of PAO1 was determined by counting CFUs

2.5 Discussion

Although more than 5000 AMPs have been identified to date [51], most previous studies of their activities have focused on activities against normal planktonic bacterial cells [13]. In comparison, the effects of AMPs on biofilm cells have been less studied, and few reports exist regarding their effects on persister cells. In this study, a new synthetic AMDP, 2D-24, was tested

against planktonic and biofilm cells, including persister cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300. Significant killing effects were observed for all the cell types tested.

Most synthetic AMPs are designed based on the characteristics of natural AMPs. In general, they are positively charged, amphiphilic molecules [52,53] and act on negatively charged cell walls and membranes, impairing the membrane potential and leading to cell death [13]. AMPs have a wide spectrum of target microbes. It has been postulated that the effectiveness of AMPs on bacteria depends on the peptide/lipid ratio during treatment [54]. In this study, the killing of PDO300 persister cells increased drastically when the concentration of 2D-24 reached 30 μ M, which indicates that the killing may be dependent on peptide/lipid ratio as well. However, the biofilm and normal planktonic cells of PDO300 and all types of PAO1 cells tested here did not show a threshold concentration of 2D-24 for killing. It will be helpful to further investigate if persister formation affects the interaction between 2D-24 and the cell membrane of this mucoid strain.

Biofilms are composed of bacterial populations that include cells at different stages embedded in a complex extracellular matrix [55]; cells in biofilms can be up to 1000 times more tolerant to antibiotics than their planktonic counterparts [56]. Intriguingly, 2D-24 appeared to be equally effective against normal planktonic cells and biofilm cells of PAO1 and PDO300. This finding suggests that 2D-24 can penetrate biofilm matrix and is effective in killing biofilm cells. In comparison, persister cells tolerated higher concentrations of 2D-24. Overall, concentrations higher than 20 μ M of 2D-24 were found sufficient to kill more than 80 % of both planktonic and biofilm cells of PAO1 and PDO300, while concentrations higher than 50 μ M are required to achieve a similar level of killing of persister cells of these strains. Interestingly, when treated with higher concentrations of 2D-24, persister cells of PDO300 were slightly more susceptible than PAO1 persister cells. For example, 50 and 200 μ M 2D-24 exhibited 19.8 and 57.3 % more killing of PDO300 persister cells compared to PAO1, respectively.

Mucoid conversion with overproduction of alginate is thought to play an important role in chronic infections by *P. aeruginosa* [57] since mucoid strains are generally more tolerant to antibiotics than the wild-type strain [47,48]. It is interesting that the killing effects of 2D-24 on biofilm cells of PDO300 and PAO1 were similar. This suggests that 2D-24 is able to penetrate alginate and interact with PDO300 cellular targets.

Besides the killing of P. aeruginosa cells by 2D-24 alone, intriguing synergistic effects were observed when the cells were treated with 2D-24 and Cip, Tob, or Car, which are antibiotics targeting DNA, protein, and cell wall synthesis, respectively. Similar synergistic effects were observed for killing both PAO1 and PDO300 normal planktonic and persister cells (Figs. 2-6 and 2-7). Among these antibiotics, the strongest synergy was observed for Tob, while Cip exhibited lower synergy. This is probably because the persister cells had been exposed to Cip during persister isolation. The mechanism of synergistic killing of bacteria by 2D-24 and antibiotics is unknown. Most AMPs target cell membrane and thus alter the membrane potential [13]. We speculate that membrane disruption, depolarization, or permeabilization by 2D-24 can lead to reduced membrane potential along with lower energy production. This may favor the penetration of cell membrane by some antibiotics, which is consistent with a recent study by Schmidt et al. [58] showing a peptide-tobramycin conjugate -Pentobra- can effectively enter the cells of P. aeruginosa, E. coli, and Staphylococcus aureus. The peptide domain of this molecule is rich in arginine and tryptophan residues (RQIKIWFQNRRW), similar to the amino acid content of 2D-24.

We speculate that the increase in intracellular antibiotic concentration along with membrane damage by 2D-24 may render the persister cells unable to wake up, leading to cell death. Alternatively, it may also be possible that the stress response to 2D-24 treatment could activate certain cellular activities targeted by antibiotics and thus increase the antibiotic susceptibility of persister cells. It will be interesting to test the effects of 2D-24 on the integrity of treated cells and compare the penetration of antibiotics through cell membrane in the presence and absence of 2D-24.

It is generally appreciated that AMPs and analogs can have more than one inactivating target in bacteria. Even though persister cells are known to be latent and different from normal active cells, they still need to maintain intact cell membrane structures. While the cell surface and membrane are generally implicated in the antibacterial action by AMPs, we still lack a complete understanding of the detailed mechanism(s) involved. Similar to bactericidal antibiotics, we recently reported that a different AMDP analog, $(RW)_{4D}$, generates hydroxide radicals in target bacterial cells via a Fenton reaction [59]. It will be interesting to study the interaction of 2D-24 with cellular targets among regular planktonic, persister, and biofilm cells of *P. aeruginosa*.

In addition, we obtained data showing that 2D-24 is effective in killing *P. aeruginosa* at concentrations not toxic to IB3-1 epithelial cells. Similar to the uninfected control, the viability of IB3-1 cells increased to near 90 % when 2D-24 is added into the culture medium together with PAO1 at inoculation. This finding is intriguing since cytotoxicity is a major challenge in bacterial control with AMPs. Further in vivo tests will help evaluate the clinical potential of this new dendrimer.
In summary, a new antimicrobial dendrimer 2D-24 was tested for its effects on the biofilm and planktonic cells (including persister cells) of PAO1 and its mucoid mutant PDO300. Similar killing activities were observed for regular planktonic and biofilm cells of both strains, and this agent was also found to kill persister cells of both strains. Synergy between 2D-24 and antibiotics in killing *P. aeruginosa* was also observed. Further testing using co-cultures of PAO1 and human IB3-1 cells demonstrated that 2D-24 is effective against bacteria at concentrations nontoxic to mammalian cells. Thus, our in vitro data provide encouraging evidence for potential application of 2D-24 in treatment of chronic infections caused by *P. aeruginosa*. In addition to the investigation of mechanistic aspects of 2D-24 action, animal studies will be needed to demonstrate its efficacy in vivo.

2.6 Acknowledgments

We thank the US National Science Foundation (CAREER-1055644) for partial support of this work. We are grateful to Prof. Matthew R. Parsek at the University of Washington for sharing *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 and Prof. Rebecca Bader at Syracuse University for sharing the IB3-1 cells.

2.7 References

- Lewis, K. Platforms for antibiotic discovery. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery* 2013, *12*, 371-387.
- Mulcahy, L.R.; Burns, J.L.; Lory, S.; Lewis, K. Emergence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains producing high levels of persister cells in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of bacteriology* 2010, *192*, 6191-6199.
- Ojha, A.K.; Baughn, A.D.; Sambandan, D.; Hsu, T.; Trivelli, X.; Guerardel, Y.; Alahari, A.; Kremer, L.; Jacobs, W.R., Jr.; Hatfull, G.F. Growth of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* biofilms containing free mycolic acids and harbouring drug-tolerant bacteria. *Molecular microbiology* 2008, *69*, 164-174.
- 4. Flemming, H.C.; Wingender, J. The biofilm matrix. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **2010**, *8*, 623-633.
- Gilbert, P.; Das, J.; Foley, I. Biofilm susceptibility to antimicrobials. *Adv Dent Res* 1997, 11, 160-167.
- Keren, I.; Shah, D.; Spoering, A.; Kaldalu, N.; Lewis, K. Specialized persister cells and the mechanism of multidrug tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of bacteriology* 2004, *186*, 8172-8180.
- Lewis, K. Persister cells, dormancy and infectious disease. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2007, *5*, 48-56.
- 8. Romero, R.; Schaudinn, C.; Kusanovic, J.P.; Gorur, A.; Gotsch, F.; Webster, P.; Nhan-Chang, C.L.; Erez, O.; Kim, C.J.; Espinoza, J., *et al.* Detection of a microbial biofilm in intraamniotic infection. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **2008**, *198*, 135 e131-135.

- Costerton, J.W.; Cheng, K.J.; Geesey, G.G.; Ladd, T.I.; Nickel, J.C.; Dasgupta, M.; Marrie, T.J. Bacterial biofilms in nature and disease. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 1987, *41*, 435-464.
- Costerton, J.W.; Stewart, P.S.; Greenberg, E.P. Bacterial biofilms: A common cause of persistent infections. *Science* 1999, 284, 1318-1322.
- 11. Hall-Stoodley, L.; Costerton, J.W.; Stoodley, P. Bacterial biofilms: From the natural environment to infectious diseases. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **2004**, *2*, 95-108.
- McDougald, D.; Rice, S.A.; Barraud, N.; Steinberg, P.D.; Kjelleberg, S. Should we stay or should we go: Mechanisms and ecological consequences for biofilm dispersal. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2012, *10*, 39-50.
- 13. Bahar, A.A.; Ren, D. Antimicrobial peptides. *Pharmaceuticals* **2013**, *6*, 1543-1575.
- 14. Wang, G.; Li, X.; Wang, Z. Apd2: The updated antimicrobial peptide database and its application in peptide design. *Nucleic Acids Res* **2009**, *37*, D933-937.
- Powell, W.A.; Catranis, C.M.; Maynard, C.A. Synthetic antimicrobial peptide design.
 Mol Plant Microbe Interact 1995, 8, 792-794.
- Arrighi, R.B.; Nakamura, C.; Miyake, J.; Hurd, H.; Burgess, J.G. Design and activity of antimicrobial peptides against sporogonic-stage parasites causing murine malarias. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2002, *46*, 2104-2110.
- He, J.; Eckert, R.; Pharm, T.; Simanian, M.D.; Hu, C.H.; Yarbrough, D.K.; Qi, F.X.;
 Anderson, M.H.; Shi, W.Y. Novel synthetic antimicrobial peptides against *Streptococcus mutans*. *Antimicrob Agents Ch* 2007, *51*, 1351-1358.
- Lee, D.G.; Hahm, K.S.; Shin, S.Y. Structure and fungicidal activity of a synthetic antimicrobial peptide, p18, and its truncated peptides. *Biotechnol Lett* 2004, *26*, 337-341.

- Alhoot, M.A.; Rathinam, A.K.; Wang, S.M.; Manikam, R.; Sekaran, S.D. Inhibition of dengue virus entry into target cells using synthetic antiviral peptides. *Int J Med Sci* 2013, 10, 719-729.
- 20. Hancock, R.E.W.; Sahl, H.G. Antimicrobial and host-defense peptides as new antiinfective therapeutic strategies. *Nat Biotechnol* **2006**, *24*, 1551-1557.
- 21. Kim, J.Y.; Park, S.C.; Yoon, M.Y.; Hahm, K.S.; Park, Y. C-terminal amidation of pmap23: Translocation to the inner membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. *Amino Acids* 2011,
 40, 183-195.
- Uteng, M.; Hauge, H.H.; Markwick, P.R.L.; Fimland, G.; Mantzilas, D.; Nissen-Meyer, J.; Muhle-Goll, C. Three-dimensional structure in lipid micelles of the pediocin-like antimicrobial peptide sakacin p and a sakacin p variant that is structurally stabilized by an inserted c-terminal disulfide bridges. *Biochemistry-Us* 2003, *42*, 11417-11426.
- Noto, P.B.; Abbadessa, G.; Cassone, M.; Mateo, G.D.; Agelan, A.; Wade, J.D.; Szabo, D.; Kocsis, B.; Nagy, K.; Rozgonyi, F., *et al.* Alternative stabilities of a proline-rich antibacterial peptide in vitro and in vivo. *Protein science : a publication of the Protein Society* 2008, *17*, 1249-1255.
- Tam, J.P.; Lu, Y.A.; Yang, J.L. Antimicrobial dendrimeric peptides. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS* 2002, 269, 923-932.
- Liu, Z.G.; Young, A.W.; Hu, P.; Rice, A.J.; Zhou, C.H.; Zhan, Y.K.; Kallenbach, N.R. Tuning the membrane selectivity of antimicrobial peptides by using multivalent design. *Chembiochem* 2007, *8*, 2063-2065.

- Hou, S.Y.; Zhou, C.H.; Liu, Z.G.; Young, A.W.; Shi, Z.H.; Ren, D.C.; Kallenbach, N.R. Antimicrobial dendrimer active against *Escherichia coli* biofilms. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2009, 19, 5478-5481.
- Hou, S.Y.; Liu, Z.G.; Young, A.W.; Mark, S.L.; Kallenbach, N.R.; Ren, D.C. Effects of Trp- and Arg-containing antimicrobial-peptide structure on inhibition of *Escherichia coli* planktonic growth and biofilm formation. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2010, 76, 1967-1974.
- Chen, X.; Zhang, M.; Zhou, C.H.; Kallenbach, N.R.; Ren, D.C. Control of bacterial persister cells by Trp/Arg-containing antimicrobial peptides. *Appl Environ Microb* 2011, 77, 4878-4885.
- Winsor, G.L.; Lam, D.K.; Fleming, L.; Lo, R.; Whiteside, M.D.; Yu, N.Y.; Hancock, R.E.; Brinkman, F.S. Pseudomonas genome database: Improved comparative analysis and population genomics capability for *Pseudomonas genomes*. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2011, *39*, D596-600.
- Bodey, G.P.; Bolivar, R.; Fainstein, V.; Jadeja, L. Infections caused by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Rev Infect Dis* 1983, *5*, 279-313.
- Schurr, M.J.; Yu, H.; Martinez-Salazar, J.M.; Boucher, J.C.; Deretic, V. Control of algu, a member of the sigma e-like family of stress sigma factors, by the negative regulators muca and mucb and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* conversion to mucoidy in cystic fibrosis. *J Bacteriol* 1996, 178, 4997-5004.
- 32. de Bentzmann, S.; Plesiat, P. The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* opportunistic pathogen and human infections. *Environ Microbiol* **2011**, *13*, 1655-1665.

- Mah, T.F.; O'Toole, G.A. Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents. *Trends Microbiol* 2001, *9*, 34-39.
- 34. Lewis, K. Persister cells. *Annual review of microbiology* **2010**, *64*, 357-372.
- Lowbury, E.J.L.; Kidson, A.; Lilly, H.A.; Ayliffe, G.A.J. Sensitivity of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa to antibiotics - emergence of strains highly resistant to carbenicillin. *Lancet* 1969, 2, 448-&.
- Ma, L.; Conover, M.; Lu, H.; Parsek, M.R.; Bayles, K.; Wozniak, D.J. Assembly and development of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm matrix. *PLoS Pathog* 2009, 5, e1000354.
- Mathee, K.; Ciofu, O.; Sternberg, C.; Lindum, P.W.; Campbell, J.I.; Jensen, P.; Johnsen, A.H.; Givskov, M.; Ohman, D.E.; Molin, S., *et al.* Mucoid conversion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by hydrogen peroxide: A mechanism for virulence activation in the cystic fibrosis lung. *Microbiology* 1999, *145 (Pt 6)*, 1349-1357.
- DeVries, C.A.; Ohman, D.E. Mucoid-to-nonmucoid conversion in alginate-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* often results from spontaneous mutations in algt, encoding a putative alternate sigma factor, and shows evidence for autoregulation. *Journal of bacteriology* 1994, 176, 6677-6687.
- Mathee, K.; Ciofu, O.; Sternberg, C.; Lindum, P.W.; Campbell, J.I.; Jensen, P.; Johnsen, A.H.; Givskov, M.; Ohman, D.E.; Søren, M. Mucoid conversion of *Pseudomonas aeruginos* by hydrogen peroxide: A mechanism for virulence activation in the cystic fibrosis lung. *Microbiology* 1999, *145*, 1349-1357.
- Sambrook, J.; Russell, D.W. *Molecular cloning: A laboratory manual*. 3rd ed.; Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press: Cold Spring Harbor, NY, 2001.

- Niepa, T.H.; Gilbert, J.L.; Ren, D. Controlling *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* persister cells by weak electrochemical currents and synergistic effects with tobramycin. *Biomaterials* 2012, *33*, 7356-7365.
- Pan, J.; Bahar, A.A.; Syed, H.; Ren, D. Reverting antibiotic tolerance of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa PAO1 persister cells by (z)-4-bromo-5-(bromomethylene)-3-methylfuran-2(5h)-one. *Plos One* 2012, *7*, e45778.
- 43. Drlica, K.; Zhao, X. DNA gyrase, topoisomerase iv, and the 4-quinolones. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR* **1997**, *61*, 377-392.
- Le Goffic, F.; Capmau, M.L.; Tangy, F.; Baillarge, M. Mechanism of action of aminoglycoside antibiotics. Binding studies of tobramycin and its 6'-n-acetyl derivative to the bacterial ribosome and its subunits. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS* 1979, *102*, 73-81.
- 45. Butler, K.; English, A.R.; Ray, V.A.; Timreck, A.E. Carbenicillin: Chemistry and mode of action. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **1970**, *122*, Suppl:S1-8.
- 46. Andersson, C.; Al-Turkmani, M.R.; Savaille, J.E.; Alturkmani, R.; Katrangi, W.; Cluette-Brown, J.E.; Zaman, M.M.; Laposata, M.; Freedman, S.D. Cell culture models demonstrate that CTRF dysfunction leads to defective fatty acid composition and metabolism. *Journal of Lipid Research* 2008, *49*, 1692-1700.
- Hentzer, M.; Teitzel, G.M.; Balzer, G.J.; Heydorn, A.; Molin, S.; Givskov, M.; Parsek,
 M.R. Alginate overproduction affects *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm structure and
 function. *J Bacteriol* 2001, *183*, 5395-5401.

- 48. Hengzhuang, W.; Wu, H.; Ciofu, O.; Song, Z.; Hoiby, N.
 Pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics of colistin and imipenem on mucoid and nonmucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011, 55, 4469-4474.
- 49. Kint, C.I.; Verstraeten, N.; Fauvart, M.; Michiels, J. New-found fundamentals of bacterial persistence. *Trends in microbiology* **2012**, *20*, 577-585.
- 50. Naghmouchi, K.; Le Lay, C.; Baah, J.; Drider, D. Antibiotic and antimicrobial peptide combinations: Synergistic inhibition of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and antibiotic-resistant variants. *Research in microbiology* **2012**, *163*, 101-108.
- 51. Zhao, X.; Wu, H.; Lu, H.; Li, G.; Huang, Q. Lamp: A database linking antimicrobial peptides. *PLoS One* **2013**, *8*, e66557.
- 52. Martin, E.; Ganz, T.; Lehrer, R.I. Defensins and other endogenous peptide antibiotics of vertebrates. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **1995**, *58*, 128-136.
- Zasloff, M. Antimicrobial peptides of multicellular organisms. *Nature* 2002, *415*, 389-395.
- 54. Huang, H.W. Molecular mechanism of antimicrobial peptides: The origin of cooperativity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **2006**, *1758*, 1292-1302.
- Lam, J.; Chan, R.; Lam, K.; Costerton, J.W. Production of mucoid microcolonies by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* within infected lungs in cystic fibrosis. *Infect Immun* 1980, 28, 546-556.
- Olson, M.E.; Ceri, H.; Morck, D.W.; Buret, A.G.; Read, R.R. Biofilm bacteria: Formation and comparative susceptibility to antibiotics. *Can J Vet Res* 2002, *66*, 86-92.

- 57. Pritt, B.; O'Brien, L.; Winn, W. Mucoid *Pseudomonas* in cystic fibrosis. *Am J Clin Pathol* **2007**, *128*, 32-34.
- Schmidt, N.W.; Deshayes, S.; Hawker, S.; Blacker, A.; Kasko, A.M.; Wong, G.C. Engineering persister-specific antibiotics with synergistic antimicrobial functions. *ACS nano* 2014, *8*, 8786-8793.
- 59. Marchand, C.; Krajewski, K.; Lee, H.F.; Antony, S.; Johnson, A.A.; Amin, R.; Roller, P.; Kvaratskhelia, M.; Pommier, Y. Covalent binding of the natural antimicrobial peptide indolicidin to DNA abasic sites. *Nucleic Acids Research* 2006, *34*, 5157-5165.

CHAPTER 3

CONTROLLING PERSISTER AND BIOFILM CELLS OF GRAM-NEGATIVE BACTERIA WITH A NEW 1,3,5-TRIAZINE DERIVATIVE

This chapter has been published as below with minor modifications. Ali Adem Bahar, Zhigang Liu, Meagan Garafalo, Neville Kallenbach and Dacheng Ren. Controlling Persister and Biofilm Cells of Gram-Negative Bacteria with a New 1,3,5-Triazine Derivative. Pharmaceuticals 2015, 8(4), 696-710.

3.1 Abstract

Infections caused by multidrug-resistant bacteria have been on the rise. This important issue presents a great challenge to the healthcare system and creates an urgent need for alternative therapeutic agents. As a potential solution to this problem, antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) have attracted increasing attention due to their broad spectrum of targeted microbes. However, most AMPs are expensive to synthesize, have relatively high cytotoxicity to mammalian cells, and are susceptible to proteolytic degradation. In order to overcome these limitations, novel synthetic AMPs are desired. Using 1,3,5-triazine (TN) as a template, several combinatorial libraries with varying cationic charge and lipophilicity were designed and screened by the Kallenbach lab. From this screening, TN-5 was identified as a potent lead. In the present study, this compound was tested for its antimicrobial activities on Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. In addition to regular planktonic cells, the effects on biofilms and persister cells (metabolically inactive and antibiotic tolerant subpopulation) were also investigated. TN-5 was found to have a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of 12.8 µM for both species and kill regular planktonic cells of both species dose dependently. TN-5 is also effective against persister cells of both E. coli and P. aeruginosa. The killing of biofilm cells of the mucoid P. aeruginosa PDO300 was enhanced by alginate lyase.

3.2 Introduction

Since the discovery of penicillin in 1928 [1] and the achievement of economical production of this antibiotic in the 1940s [2], the use of antibiotics has been a crucial step in controlling infectious diseases with numerous lives saved [3]. However, the emergence and spread of antibiotic resistant microorganisms have rendered many antibiotics ineffective [4]. Such rapid development of multidrug resistant bacteria coupled with the insufficient investment in antimicrobial research has led to a concerning decline in effective therapies against bacterial infections, which presents a serious public health problem [5].

In addition to antibiotic resistance based on drug resistance genes [6], bacteria also exhibit high level antibiotic tolerance by forming persister cells (dormant subpopulation of phenotypic variants [7] and biofilms (surface attached structures with bacterial cells embedded in an extracellular matrix secreted by attached cells [8]). Persister cells and biofilms are not based on drug resistance genes; however, they allow bacteria to survive the treatment with potent antibiotics and facilitate the development of drug resistant strains through mutation and horizontal gene transfer [9].

According to the U.S. Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention, 80% of all infections in developed countries are associated by biofilms [10]. The biofilm matrix serves as a protective barrier, making bacterial cells more tolerant to antibiotics as well as host defense [11]. Biofilms are also enriched in persister cells. Thus, even if an antibiotic can penetrate the biofilm matrix, it might only kill normal cells within a biofilm population. After the course of antibiotic treatment, persister cells revive and repopulate the biofilm, which in turn causes an infection to relapse [10].

An additional concern with biofilms of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is their ability to convert to mucoid variants [12]. A mucoid strain is characterized by overproduction of the exopolysaccharide alginate, with increased tolerance to some antibiotics [13] and phagocytosis by human macrophages [14], as well as enhanced protection from dehydration [15]. In cystic fibrosis patients, the leading cause of mortality is a respiratory failure due to chronic lung infection with *P. aeruginosa* strains that undergo mucoid conversion [12]. Mucoid isolates typically coincide with persistent chronic infection in cystic fibrosis patients.

The challenges of drug tolerant infections have created an urgent need for new antimicrobials and treatment strategies. Recent research has shown the great potential of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) as a class of powerful agents against both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria [16,17]. A wide range of AMPs are naturally produced by the innate immune system of multicellular organisms in response to infections [18]. These AMPs are a unique group of molecules with a varying number of amino acids (generally from 12 to 50), including positively charged residues (such as arginine, lysine, or histidine) and a large proportion of hydrophobic residues. In humans, AMPs are found mainly in the tissues and organs that are exposed to airborne pathogens [19].

The structure and charge of an AMP play a major role in the mechanism of its actions. AMPs are generally cationic molecules with both hydrophobic and hydrophilic faces [20]. This amphipathic characteristic helps these molecules to integrate into the lipid bilayer membranes [21]. Membrane integrity disruption (via interaction with negatively charged cell membrane), inhibition of macromolecule (protein, DNA and RNA) synthesis, or interaction with certain intracellular targets are thought to be the primary mechanisms in AMP lethality [22]. Positively charged side chains in AMPs enable an initial nonspecific electrostatic interaction with the

negatively charged cell membrane. This process is followed by the insertion of AMP molecule into cell membrane with the help of hydrophobic residues [23]. For example, in the AMPs LL-37 and β -defensin, the cationic face is positioned on the opposite side of the hydrophobic face, which helps the penetration into the membrane [20].

AMPs afford promising candidates for novel therapeutic agents and complement traditional antibiotic therapies because of some unique advantages, including broad-spectrum activity (antibacterial, antiviral, and antifungal), less resistance by microbes, and related broad anti-inflammatory activities [24]. A number of AMPs and derivatives have been developed as therapies for infectious diseases such as oral mucositis [25], pulmonary infections associated with cystic fibrosis [26], and some sexually transmitted diseases [27]. AMPs can be used alone, in co-treatment with antibiotics, or as stimulators for immune system and toxin inhibiting agents in septic shocks [24].

Despite the aforementioned advantages, wide applications of AMPs are still limited by several factors. They are generally expensive to synthesize [28], vulnerable to proteolytic degradation upon intravenous administration [29] and sensitive to environmental factors such as salt concentration, pH, and the presence of plasma and serum proteins [30]. Another challenge is that some AMPs are cytotoxic to host cells [31].

In order to overcome these challenges, a number of synthetic AMPs and AMP-mimetics have been developed. Based on the concept that cationic charge, size, and lipophilicity are recognized major factors determining the antibacterial activity of AMPs, recently, the Kallenbach lab designed and screened several combinatorial libraries based on 1,3,5-triazine as a scaffold. Several lead compounds with good antimicrobial activity and low hemolytic activity were identified from the screening of hundreds of triazine compounds [32]. With further structure activity relationship analysis, the compound TN-5 was identified as a potent antimicrobial compound (the screening results will be published elsewhere). In this study, TN-5 (Fig. 3-1) was tested for its antimicrobial activity on *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa*, including regular planktonic cells, persister cells, and biofilms.



Figure 3-1. Chemical structure of TN-5.

3.3 Material and methods

3.3.1 Chemical synthesis of TN-5

TN-5, N2 - (4-Aminobutyl) - N4 - benzyl - N6 – naphthalenemethyl - 2,4,6 – triamino - 1,3,5triazine, white solid, was synthesized by our collaborator in Kallenbach lab at New York University, using an orthogonal synthetic approach based on cyanuric chloride stepwise reaction with naphthalenemethylamine, benzylamine and Boc-1,4-diaminobutane as documented previously [32].

3.3.2 Bacterial strains and growth media

E. coli RP437 [33] was provided by Dr. John S. Parkinson at the University of Utah. *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 [34] and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 [12] were obtained from Dr. Matthew Parsek at the University of Washington. All strains were routinely grown in Lysogeny broth (LB) containing 10 g/L NaCl, 5 g/L yeast extract, and 10 g/L tryptone with pH 7.0. To ensure consistent experimental conditions throughout this study, all overnight cultures of a particular strain were started with single-use glycerol stocks originating from the same culture. Each experimental condition was tested with three independent cultures (three biological replicates).

3.3.3 Determining Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and Minimal Bactericidal Concentration (MBC) of TN-5

TN-5 was tested at different concentrations against *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* strains to determine MIC and MBC values following a previously described protocol [35] with slight modifications. MIC is referred to the concentration of an antimicrobial agent, which inhibits the visible growth of a given bacterium completely by checking with unaided eye. MBC is referred to the minimum concentration of an antimicrobial agent required to completely kill all the tested bacterial cells of a particular strain by checking colony formation on the plates after treatment. Briefly, exponential cultures of bacterial samples were used to inoculate test samples with a cell density of 5×10^5 colony forming unit (CFU)/mL. TN-5 was tested at concentrations from 0.2 μ M to 96 μ M, increasing logarithmically. Cultures grown without antimicrobial and sterile LB medium were used as positive and negative controls, respectively. All samples were adjusted to a final volume of 3 mL and incubated for 16-18 h at 37°C. After incubation, the concentrations with no visible growth were assigned by visual check to determine MIC. MBC value of TN-5 was

identified by spreading TN-5 (0.2 μ M to 96 μ M) treated cells (overnight in LB) on LB agar plates and checking for growth after 24 h. Three independent cultures for each concentration were tested for MIC and MBC tests.

3.3.4 Effects on planktonic cells

To examine the antimicrobial activity of TN-5, the planktonic growth of *E. coli* RP437, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 with TN-5 added at different concentrations was examined. Overnight cultures of each strain were grown in 50 mL LB medium for 12-16 h at 37°C. Subcultures were then prepared by inoculating LB medium with overnight cultures to an optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) of 0.01 and harvested when the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.4-0.5. These exponential cultures were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times. Cell pellets were washed with fresh PBS and resuspended in 20 mL PBS buffer. For the TN-5 treatment, 3 mL of each sample was taken and mixed with TN-5 at different concentrations. The samples were incubated for 3, 6, 12 and 24 h at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm, and washed three times with PBS. Then a serial dilution of each sample was performed and the cells were spread on LB agar plates for counting CFU. The amount of DMSO (solvent to dissolve TN-5 in stock solutions) was adjusted to be the same for all samples to eliminate any solvent effect. Each condition was tested with three independent cultures.

3.3.5 Persister isolation and treatment

To isolate persister cells, overnight cultures of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 strains were treated with 200 μ g/mL ciprofloxacin (Cip) while exponential cultures of *E. coli* RP437 were treated with 100 μ g/mL ampicillin (all for 3 h at 37°C) to kill normal cells as

described previously [36-38]. Then the persister cells were harvested by centrifugation, washed with PBS three times to remove remaining antibiotic, and resuspended in 20 mL PBS. Aliquots (1 mL) of each sample were supplemented with TN-5 at different concentrations. Three replicates were tested for each condition and all samples were incubated for 3 h at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm. No change in persister cell number was found before and after incubation for 3 and 6 h in PBS without TN-5 (regardless the presence of antibiotics; Fig. 3-2). After TN-5 treatment, the samples were washed with PBS three times and plated to count CFU as described above. Each condition was tested with three independent cultures.



Figure 3-2. The isolated persister cells remained persistence after incubation in PBS. After isolation, the persister cells were incubated with or without antibiotic for 3 and 6 h. The persister

cells of *E. coli* RP437 (A), *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (B), and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 (C) were studied. Ampicillin at 100 μ g/mL and ciprofloxacin at 200 μ g/ml were used to treat *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* persister cells, respectively.

3.3.6 Biofilm experiments

To study the effects of TN-5 on biofilm cells of *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa*, biofilms were grown on 2 cm x 1 cm 316L stainless steel coupons. Each coupon was polished with 220 Grit sandpaper (3M, Sandblaster, St. Paul, MN) on both sides and sterilized with 70% ethanol for at least 15 min. The coupons were then dried in a 50°C oven for 15 min. Sterilization was confirmed by incubating three coupons in LB medium for 24 h at 37°C and checking the turbidity of the cultures. To culture biofilms, sterilized coupons were transferred into new sterile plates containing 20 mL LB medium. To initiate biofilm formation, each sample was inoculated to OD_{600} of 0.01 with an overnight culture. The coupons were incubated for 24 h at 37°C without shaking to grow biofilms. After 24 h incubation the coupons were washed gently with PBS three times to remove planktonic cells. Coupons were then placed in 12 well plates separately, each including a different concentration of TN-5 in 2 mL PBS buffer. The coupons were incubated for 3 h at 37°C with no shaking followed by washing with PBS three times. Each coupon was then transferred into a 15 mL sterile conical test tube containing 3 mL PBS. Samples were gently sonicated for 4 min in a water sonication bath (Branson B200 Ultrasonic, Danbury, CT, USA) and then vortexed for 15 s. Three replicates were tested for each condition. The cells in the suspension were then spread on LB agar plates to count CFU as described above. Each condition was tested with three independent cultures.

Besides treating established biofilms, the capability of TN-5 to prevent biofilm formation was also evaluated by adding TN-5 prior to the inoculation of biofilm cultures. After incubation for 24 h, the coupons were washed gently and the cells were removed from coupon surface by sonication and vortex for CFU count as described above.

3.3.7 Co-treatment of alginate lyase and TN-5 on P. aeruginosa biofilm cells

To determine the contribution of a biofilm degrading agent on killing by TN-5, we repeated biofilm killing experiments in the presence of 50 μ g/mL alginate lyase during TN-5 treatments. The same protocols were used for *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 biofilms. Each condition was tested with three independent cultures.

3.3.8 Statistical analysis

The data from CFU experiments were analyzed with one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey test using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). Differences with p<0.01 were considered as statistically significant.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 MIC and MBC values of TN-5

TN-5 was found to completely inhibit the growth of *E. coli* RP437, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1, and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 at the concentration of 12.8 μ M (MIC, Table 1). The MBC value was found to be higher than 96 μ M for all three strains.

	E. coli RP437	P. aeruginosa PAO1	P. aeruginosa PDO300
MIC (µM)	12.8	12.8	12.8
MBC (µM)	> 96	> 96	> 96

Table 3-1. MIC and MBC values of TN-5 on bacterial strains used in this study (based on three biological replicates).

3.4.2 Antimicrobial effects of TN-5 on planktonic cells

To further study the killing activity of TN-5, exponential cultures were used to test the effects of TN-5 on the viability of planktonic cells. TN-5 was found effective in killing all bacterial strains tested in this study (*E. coli* RP437, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300) dose dependently in 3 h (Fig. 3-3). Longer incubation times (up to 24 h) did not cause additional killing (Fig. 3-4). For *E. coli* RP437, TN-5 showed 20.3 \pm 2.5% (*p*=0.07), 55.6 \pm 8% (*p*<0.001), 84.6 \pm 8.5% (*p*<0.001), and 99.9 \pm 0.1% (3.4 log; *p*<0.001) killing of the total population (>99% as normal cells) at concentrations of 5, 20, 50, and 100 µM, respectively (Fig. 3-3A). These results show that TN-5 is highly effective against normal planktonic cells of *E. coli* RP437.



Figure 3-3. Effects of TN-5 on planktonic cells of *E. coli* RP437 (A), *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (B), and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 (C). TN-5 was added in exponential phase cultures at different concentrations and the viability after treatment was determined by counting CFU. All significant differences (compared to the TN-5 free control) with p<0.01 are marked with an asterisk



Figure 3-4. Extended treatment time did not increase the killing of planktonic cells of *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* by TN-5. Each sample was treated with 100 μM TN-5 for 3, 6, 12, or 24 h. Three independent replicates were tested for each condition. *E. coli* RP437 (A), *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (B), and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 (C) were studied.

Significant killing effects were also observed on planktonic cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 strains. For example, killing of 22.7±6.7% (p<0.001), 61.8±4.5% (p<0.001), 74.7±11.8% (p<0.001), and 97.8±10% (1.6 log; p<0.001) of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 was observed when TN-5 was added at 5, 20, 50, and 100 µM respectively (Fig. 3-3B). For *P. aeruginosa* PDO300, significant killing was observed at 50 and 100 µM with 44.1±3.1% (p<0.001) and 94.1±6.8% (1.23 log; p<0.001) of the total population (>99% as normal cells) killed,

respectively (Fig. 3-3C). These results show that TN-5 is also effective against normal planktonic cells of *P. aeruginosa*.

3.4.3 Antimicrobial effects of TN-5 on persister cells

TN-5 was found to kill persister cells of *E. coli* RP437, *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 (Fig. 3-5). The killing of *E. coli* RP437 persister cells was $33.8\pm0.8\%$ (p<0.001), $43.8\pm2.8\%$ (p<0.001), and $96.3\pm3.0\%$ (1.35 log; p<0.001) when TN-5 was added at 50, 100, and 200 μ M, respectively (Fig. 3-5A).

Similarly, TN-5 was also able to reduce the viability of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 persister cells where 79.6 \pm 2.9% (p<0.001) and 89.9 \pm 4.5% (p<0.001) of cells were killed by 100 µM and 200 µM of TN-5, respectively (Fig. 3-5B). In comparison, TN-5 was less effective on persister cells of the mucoid strain *P. aeruginosa* PDO300, with only 33.2 \pm 5.6% (p<0.001) and 36.4 \pm 5.2% (p<0.001) killed by 100 µM and 200 µM of TN-5, respectively (Fig. 3-5C). This is likely due to the presence of alginate on the surface of the mucoid *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 cells [39], which may reduce the penetration by TN-5.



Figure 3-5. Effects of TN-5 on persister cells of *E. coli* RP437 (A), *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (B), and PDO300 (C). The persister cells were isolated by treating exponential cultures of *E. coli* RP437 with 100 µg/mL ampicillin and overnight *P. aeruginosa* cultures with 200 µg/mL ciprofloxacin (both for 3 h). All significant differences (compared to the TN-5 free control) with p<0.01 are marked with an asterisk.

3.4.4 Antimicrobial effects of TN-5 on biofilm cells

TN-5 exhibited effective and dose dependent killing of *E. coli* RP437 biofilms. Killing of 78.5±30.2% (p<0.001) and 98.9±9.6% (1.24 log) (p<0.001) of *E. coli* RP437 biofilm cells was achieved when TN-5 was added at 100 and 200 µM, respectively (insignificant at 50 µM) (Fig. 3-6). In addition to the effects on established biofilms of *E. coli* RP437, TN5 effectively prevented biofilm formation of all the strains used in this study. Complete biofilm inhibition of *E. coli* RP437 and *P. aeruginosa* (both PAO1 and PDO300) was achieved with 10 and 20 µM TN-5, respectively (Fig. 3-7). However, 100 µM TN-5 alone did not show significant killing of cells in established biofilms of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 or PDO300 (p>0.1) (Fig. 3-8A and 3-8C).



Figure 3-6. Effects of TN-5 on *E. coli* RP437 biofilms. The biofilms were cultured for 24 h in LB on stainless steel coupons prior to treatment with TN-5. All significant differences (compared to the TN-5 free control) with p<0.01 are marked with an asterisk. Note: Data are plotted in linear scale.



Figure 3-7. Effects of TN-5 on biofilm formation of *E. coli* RP437 (A), *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (B), and *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 (C). Initial biofilm cultures were supplemented with TN-5 at different concentrations and incubated for 24 h at 37°C. Then coupons were sonicated and vortexed to count CFU in biofilms. Three independent replicates were tested for each condition. All significant differences (compared with the TN-5 free control) with *p*<0.01 are marked with an asterisk.



Figure 3-8. Effects of TN-5 alone and co-treatment with alginate lyase on *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 (A&B) and PAO1 (C&D) biofilms. The biofilms were grown for 24 h and treated with TN-5 alone or in combination with alginate lyase for 3.5 h. All significant differences (compared with the TN-5 free control) with p<0.01 are marked with an asterisk. The co-treatment with TN-5 (at 50 or 100 µM) and 50 µg/mL alginate lyase caused significant killing than the control (with

no TN-5 and alginate lyase) for both *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 and PAO1, but only significantly increased the killing by TN-5 alone for *P. aeruginosa* PDO300. Note: Data are plotted in linear scale.

We speculated that the lack of antimicrobial effects against *P. aeruginosa* biofilms is because of the presence of biofilm matrix. Alginate is a major component of biofilm matrix of the mucoid *P. aeruginosa* strains [13,39]. Thus we tested the concurrent treatment of *P. aeruginosa* biofilms with alginate lyase and TN-5. As shown in Fig. 3-8B and 3-8D, alginate lyase itself showed no effect on the viability of biofilm cells (*p*=1). However, the combination of TN-5 with alginate lyase increased the killing of PDO300 biofilms; e.g., addition of 50 μ M alginate lyase increased the activity of 50 μ M TN-5 on *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 biofilms from no significant killing (*p*=0.58) to 36.5±4.6% (*p*<0.005) and that of 100 μ M TN-5 from insignificant killing (*p*=0.12) to 57±9.6% (*p*<0.005), respectively (Fig. 3-8A vs. Fig. 3-8B). The addition of alginate lyase did not show the same effects on *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 biofilm cells; e.g., 50 μ M alginate lyase did not increase the effects of 50 and 100 μ M TN-5 (*p*>0.1) (by comparing the % of killing based on corresponding data between Fig. 3-8C & Fig. 3-8D). This is likely because alginate is not a major component of its biofilm matrix.

3.5 Discussion

AMPs have been proposed as a promising source of new antimicrobial agents [40-43]. Different strategies have been tested to achieve effective killing of microbes while maintaining low hemolytic activity. In some of these studies, Trp (W) and Arg (R) containing 1,3,5-triazine structures [32] and dendrimeric peptides [44] have been used as AMP templates and lead compounds with antimicrobial activities and low toxicity to red blood cells have been identified.

In this study, one of the triazine-1,3,5 derivatives, TN-5, was tested on Gram-negative bacteria *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa.* TN-5 was found to be effective against both species. The killing of persister and biofilm cells is of particular interest because these cells are difficult to eliminate and conventional antibiotics are generally ineffective. Our results show that TN-5 alone is effective against persister and biofilms of *E. coli* RP437 with up to 2-log killing achieved at 200 μ M. It is also interesting that TN-5 caused more killing of biofilm cells than planktonic persister cells of *E. coli*. For example, 100 μ M TN-5 killed 43.8±2.8% and 78.5±30.2% of persister and biofilm cells of *E. coli* RP437, respectively. This finding suggests that TN-5 can penetrate the biofilm matrix of *E. coli*.

Comparable effects were not observed for *P. aeruginosa* biofilms, however, possibly due to the difference in biofilm matrices. With a thick layer of alginate, biofilms of mucoid bacteria have high-level tolerance to some antimicrobials [13]. Thus, breaking down alginate in the biofilm matrix could be essential for certain antimicrobials to kill biofilm cells, especially the agents that can be absorbed or neutralized by the matrix components. Consistently, we found that the killing of *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 biofilm cells was enhanced by alginate lyase. It is worth noting that TN-5 is effective against *P. aeruginosa* PDO300 persister cells, but not its biofilm cells. Thus, it will be interesting to study if and how TN5 interacts with alginate directly and if there is any difference in the amount and structure of alginate between biofilm matrix and the surface of mucoid cells. In comparison, the killing of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 biofilms was not enhanced by alginate lyase. This is consistent with the report [45] that alginate is not the primary component of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 biofilm matrix. It will be interesting to test other matrix degrading enzymes, such as DNase.

In a previous study performed in our lab, Trp- and Arg- containing synthetic antimicrobial peptides were shown to inhibit $95.0 \pm 1.1\%$ of biofilm formation at 200 μ M [46]. Intriguingly, TN-5 inhibited biofilm formation of both *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* completely at 20 μ M (Fig. 3-7). Therefore, TN-5 may also be an important antimicrobial agent for biofilm control.

The mechanism of bacterial killing by TN-5 or in fact any AMP deserves more study. The positive charge of the arginine (R) side chain can help an AMP to interact with negatively charged lipopolysaccharides in Gram-negative bacterial walls [47]. Tryptophan (W) residues favor location below the head groups of bilayers, and are assumed to provide lipophilic interaction sites which cause membrane disruption [48]. Thus, RW mimicking TN-5 might target the negatively charged bacterial cell membrane. Another observation is that TN-5 mode of action occurs within the first 3 h (Fig. 3-2).

E. coli is generally more susceptible to antibiotics than *P. aeruginosa*. Among 47 antimicrobial agents tested in an early study [49], only tobramycin showed the same MIC value (0.5 μ g/mL) for *E. coli* (NCTC 10418 and ATCC 25922) and *P. aeruginosa* (NCTC 10662 and ATCC 27853) reference strains. The other antimicrobial agents tested all showed higher (up to 500 fold) MIC values for *P. aeruginosa* compared to *E. coli* [49]. Interestingly, TN-5 showed the same MIC value (12.8 μ M) for both species in our study, which also indicates possible membrane targeting activities.

Overall, this study shows that the triazine derivative TN-5 is a promising lead compound for developing new synthetic AMPs. It is encouraging that TN-5 is effective against both *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* at different growth stages. Persister cells of *Pseudomonas* strains, especially those of the mucoid strains, are highly resistant to antibiotic treatments. Because most AMPs kill

microbes through mechanisms that differ from those of conventional antibiotics, e.g. by targeting cell membranes, the killing effect of TN-5 on persister cells might be increased by synergy with some antibiotics if TN-5 can be effectively delivered to target cells. We assume that triazines are not susceptible to proteolytic degradation since there is no specific motif to trigger cleavage. Future experiments with mammalian cells and animal models are needed to evaluate the potential to use TN-5 and antibiotics together as a novel therapy for chronic infections involving biofilms and persister cells.

3.6 Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. John S. Parkinson at University of Utah for sharing the strain *E. coli* RP437 and Dr. Matthew Parsek at University of Washington for providing the *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 strains.

3.7 References

- 1. Fleming, A. On the antibacterial action of cultures of a penicillium, with special reference to their use in the isolation of *B. influenzae*. *Brit J Exp Pathol* **1929**, *10*, 226-236.
- 2. Myers, R.S.; Aldrich, R.H.; Howard, R.W.; Walsh, R.A. The use of gauze inoculated with *Penicillium notatum* or impregnated with crude penicillin in the treatment of surface infections. *New Engl J Med* **1944**, *231*, 761-764.
- 3. Kardos, N.; Demain, A.L. Penicillin: The medicine with the greatest impact on therapeutic outcomes. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **2011**, *92*, 677-687.
- 4. Witte, W.; Cuny, C.; Klare, I.; Nubel, U.; Strommenger, B.; Werner, G. Emergence and spread of antibiotic-resistant Gram-positive bacterial pathogens. *International journal of medical microbiology : IJMM* **2008**, *298*, 365-377.
- O'Connell, K.M.G.; Hodgkinson, J.T.; Sore, H.F.; Welch, M.; Salmond, G.P.C.; Spring,
 D.R. Combating multidrug-resistant bacteria: Current strategies for the discovery of novel antibacterials. *Angew Chem Int Edit* 2013, *52*, 10706-10733.
- Davies, J. Inactivation of antibiotics and the dissemination of resistance genes. *Science* 1994, *264*, 375-382.
- Lewis, K. Persister cells: Molecular mechanisms related to antibiotic tolerance. Handbook of experimental pharmacology 2012, 121-133.
- 8. Lewis, K. Riddle of biofilm resistance. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **2001**, *45*, 999-1007.
- Barlow, M. What antimicrobial resistance has taught us about horizontal gene transfer. *Methods Mol Biol* 2009, *532*, 397-411.

- Lewis, K. Persister cells, dormancy and infectious disease. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 2007, *5*, 48-56.
- 11. Hall-Stoodley, L.; Costerton, J.W.; Stoodley, P. Bacterial biofilms: From the natural environment to infectious diseases. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* **2004**, *2*, 95-108.
- Mathee, K.; Ciofu, O.; Sternberg, C.; Lindum, P.W.; Campbell, J.I.; Jensen, P.; Johnsen, A.H.; Givskov, M.; Ohman, D.E.; Molin, S., *et al.* Mucoid conversion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by hydrogen peroxide: A mechanism for virulence activation in the cystic fibrosis lung. *Microbiology* 1999, *145 (Pt 6)*, 1349-1357.
- Pritt, B.; O'Brien, L.; Winn, W. Mucoid pseudomonas in cystic fibrosis. *American journal of clinical pathology* 2007, *128*, 32-34.
- Cabral, D.A.; Loh, B.A.; Speert, D.P. Mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* resists nonopsonic phagocytosis by human neutrophils and macrophages. *Pediatr Res* 1987, 22, 429-431.
- 15. Govan, J.R.; Harris, G.S. Pseudomonas aeruginosa and cystic fibrosis: Unusual bacterial adaptation and pathogenesis. *Microbiological sciences* **1986**, *3*, 302-308.
- Torcato, I.M.; Huang, Y.H.; Franquelim, H.G.; Gaspar, D.; Craik, D.J.; Castanho, M.A.R.B.; Henriques, S.T. Design and characterization of novel antimicrobial peptides, R-BP100 and RW-BP100, with activity against Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria. *Bba-Biomembranes* 2013, *1828*, 944-955.
- Chongsiriwatana, N.P.; Wetzler, M.; Barron, A.E. Functional synergy between antimicrobial peptoids and peptides against Gram-negative bacteria. *Antimicrob Agents Ch* 2011, 55, 5399-5402.

- 18. Wiesner, J.; Vilcinskas, A. Antimicrobial peptides the ancient arm of the human immune system. *Virulence* **2010**, *1*, 440-464.
- 19. Wang, G. Human antimicrobial peptides and proteins. *Pharmaceuticals* 2014, 7, 545-594.
- Izadpanah, A.; Gallo, R.L. Antimicrobial peptides. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 2005, *52*, 381-390; quiz 391-382.
- 21. Jenssen, H.; Hamill, P.; Hancock, R.E.W. Peptide antimicrobial agents. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2006, *19*, 491-+.
- 22. Bahar, A.A.; Ren, D. Antimicrobial peptides. *Pharmaceuticals* **2013**, *6*, 1543-1575.
- 23. Madani, F.; Lindberg, S.; Langel, U.; Futaki, S.; Graslund, A. Mechanisms of cellular uptake of cell-penetrating peptides. *Journal of biophysics* **2011**, *2011*, 414729.
- 24. Gordon, Y.J.; Romanowski, E.G.; McDermott, A.M. A review of antimicrobial peptides and their therapeutic potential as anti-infective drugs. *Curr Eye Res* **2005**, *30*, 505-515.
- Donnelly, J.P.; Bellm, L.A.; Epstein, J.B.; Sonis, S.T.; Symonds, R.P. Antimicrobial therapy to prevent or treat oral mucositis. *The Lancet. Infectious diseases* 2003, *3*, 405-412.
- Zhang, L.; Parente, J.; Harris, S.M.; Woods, D.E.; Hancock, R.E.; Falla, T.J. Antimicrobial peptide therapeutics for cystic fibrosis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2005, 49, 2921-2927.
- Yedery, R.D.; Reddy, K.V.R. Antimicrobial peptides as microbicidal contraceptives:
 Prophecies for prophylactics a mini review. *Eur J Contracep Repr* 2005, *10*, 32-42.
- Laverty, G.; Gorman, S.P.; Gilmore, B.F. The potential of antimicrobial peptides as biocides. *Int J Mol Sci* 2011, *12*, 6566-6596.

- Noto, P.B.; Abbadessa, G.; Cassone, M.; Mateo, G.D.; Agelan, A.; Wade, J.D.; Szabo,
 D.; Kocsis, B.; Nagy, K.; Rozgonyi, F., *et al.* Alternative stabilities of a proline-rich antibacterial peptide in vitro and in vivo. *Protein Sci* 2008, *17*, 1249-1255.
- Bruhn, O.; Grotzinger, J.; Cascorbi, I.; Jung, S. Antimicrobial peptides and proteins of the horse insights into a well-armed organism. *Veterinary research* 2011, *42*, 98.
- 31. Lehrer, R.I.; Lichtenstein, A.K.; Ganz, T. Defensins: Antimicrobial and cytotoxic peptides of mammalian cells. *Annual review of immunology* **1993**, *11*, 105-128.
- Zhou, C.H.; Min, J.K.; Liu, Z.G.; Young, A.; Deshazer, H.; Gao, T.; Chang, Y.T.; Kallenbach, N.R. Synthesis and biological evaluation of novel 1,3,5-triazine derivatives as antimicrobial agents. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters* 2008, *18*, 1308-1311.
- 33. Parkinson, J.S.; Houts, S.E. Isolation and behavior of *Escherichia coli* deletion mutants lacking chemotaxis functions. *Journal of bacteriology* **1982**, *151*, 106-113.
- 34. DeVries, C.A.; Ohman, D.E. Mucoid-to-nonmucoid conversion in alginate-producing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* often results from spontaneous mutations in *algT*, encoding a putative alternate sigma factor, and shows evidence for autoregulation. *Journal of bacteriology* 1994, 176, 6677-6687.
- Wiegand, I.; Hilpert, K.; Hancock, R.E. Agar and broth dilution methods to determine the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of antimicrobial substances. *Nature protocols* 2008, *3*, 163-175.
- Niepa, T.H.R.; Gilbert, J.L.; Ren, D.C. Controlling *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* persister cells by weak electrochemical currents and synergistic effects with tobramycin. *Biomaterials* 2012, 33, 7356-7365.
- Pan, J.C.; Bahar, A.A.; Syed, H.; Ren, D.C. Reverting antibiotic tolerance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 persister cells by (z)-4-bromo-5-(bromomethylene)-3methylfuran-2(5h)-one. *Plos One* 2012, 7.
- Chen, X.; Zhang, M.; Zhou, C.H.; Kallenbach, N.R.; Ren, D.C. Control of bacterial persister cells by Trp/Arg-containing antimicrobial peptides. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2011, 77, 4878-4885.
- 39. Hay, I.D.; Remminghorst, U.; Rehm, B.H. Mucr, a novel membrane-associated regulator of alginate biosynthesis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **2009**, *75*, 1110-1120.
- 40. Som, A.; Vemparala, S.; Ivanov, I.; Tew, G.N. Synthetic mimics of antimicrobial peptides. *Biopolymers* **2008**, *90*, 83-93.
- Thaker, H.D.; Som, A.; Ayaz, F.; Lui, D.; Pan, W.; Scott, R.W.; Anguita, J.; Tew, G.N. Synthetic mimics of antimicrobial peptides with immunomodulatory responses. *Journal* of the American Chemical Society 2012, 134, 11088-11091.
- He, J.; Eckert, R.; Pharm, T.; Simanian, M.D.; Hu, C.; Yarbrough, D.K.; Qi, F.; Anderson, M.H.; Shi, W. Novel synthetic antimicrobial peptides against *Streptococcus mutans*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007, *51*, 1351-1358.
- 43. Diehnelt, C.W. Peptide array based discovery of synthetic antimicrobial peptides. *Frontiers in microbiology* **2013**, *4*, 402.
- 44. Bahar, A.A.; Liu, Z.; Totsingan, F.; Buitrago, C.; Kallenbach, N.; Ren, D. Synthetic dendrimeric peptide active against biofilm and persister cells of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **2015**.

- 45. Wozniak, D.J.; Wyckoff, T.J.; Starkey, M.; Keyser, R.; Azadi, P.; O'Toole, G.A.; Parsek, M.R. Alginate is not a significant component of the extracellular polysaccharide matrix of PA14 and PAO1 *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2003, 100, 7907-7912.
- Hou, S.Y.; Liu, Z.G.; Young, A.W.; Mark, S.L.; Kallenbach, N.R.; Ren, D.C. Effects of trp- and arg-containing antimicrobial-peptide structure on inhibition of *Escherichia coli* planktonic growth and biofilm formation. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2010, 76, 1967-1974.
- 47. Brown, K.L.; Hancock, R.E. Cationic host defense (antimicrobial) peptides. *Current opinion in immunology* **2006**, *18*, 24-30.
- Tam, J.P.; Lu, Y.A.; Yang, J.L. Antimicrobial dendrimeric peptides. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS* 2002, 269, 923-932.
- 49. Andrews, J.M. Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy* **2001**, *48 Suppl 1*, 5-16.

CHAPTER 4

CONTROLLING PERSISTER CELLS BY TARGETING MEMBRANE POTENTIAL DEPENDENT ANTIBIOTIC EFFLUX

4.1 Introduction

Persister cells were first defined in 1944 when Bigger showed surviving *Staphylococcus* after penicillin treatment. Re-inoculation of surviving cells gave rise to colonies, the majority of which can again be lysed by penicillin [1]. Forming metabolically inactive cells is one of the major strategies of bacterial survival in harsh conditions such as antibiotic treatments and host's immune reactions. These dormant persister cells are highly tolerant to antibiotics and thus serve as a reservoir for the population to reestablish after the treatment leading to recalcitrance of chronic infections [2].

To date, the mechanism of persister formation and physiological characteristics of persister cells are still not fully understood. Shah *et al.* [3] labeled *E. coli* ASV cells with a unstable GFP to follow cell growth activities with fluorescence under the control of ribosomal *rrnB*P1 promoter. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) based on GFP gave two distinct populations; the bright normal cells and dim persister cells. Visualization with microscopy and further antibiotic treatment of these two populations revealed that persister cells are shorter than normal cells. Persister also exhibits a gene expression profile with increased level of SOS stress response, phage-shock and heat and cold-shock genes [4].

Previous efforts to determine the genes specifically responsible for persister formation by screening knock-out mutant libraries have been largely unsuccessful [5,6]. Increasing evidence indicated that there are redundant pathways leading this dormancy stage. Some best characterized systems associated with persistence include toxin/antitoxin (TA) modules and the SOS response system. For example, persister cells have increased level of TisB protein, which decreases proton motive force and the ATP level and thus causes the cells to enter dormancy [2].

Essentially all bacterial populations include a small portion of persister cells [7]. These cells have low cellular energy due to their dormancy. Normal bacterial cell membrane has relatively high transmembrane potential, between –120 to –200 mV, which is important to ATP production and provides energy for many cellular processes [8]. Thus we hypothesize that persister cells have lower membrane potentials than normal cells and this temporary metabolic downshift might inactivate efflux based antibiotic resistance mechanism leading to intracellular accumulation of antimicrobials and kill persister cells during wakeup.

Bacterial cell membrane is a semipermeable phospholipid bilayer with embedded proteins. This membrane plays an important role in the growth and stress response of bacteria. It is also the part of cell that antibiotics must penetrate to take action. The membrane permeability is affected by its composition [9]. Transporters, ion channels, ATP synthases, receptors, antigens and some signaling proteins are found in the membrane and represent about one third of the total proteins in a cell. These proteins are responsible for many important biological functions such as cell–cell contact, surface recognition, signaling, enzymatic activities, and transporting substances across the membrane [10]. An important function of cell membrane is to generate proton motive force, which requires the activities of ATP synthases, motility, DNA repair, and synthesis of macromolecules such as polysaccharides, proteins, nucleic acids, and numerous other processes in all living cells. Therefore, disturbance of membrane potential may have profound effects on the physiology and viability of bacterial cells.

Energy-dependent drug efflux systems embedded in cell membranes play an important role in bacterial drug resistance [11,12], which requires proton motive force generated with appropriate membrane potential [13]. Most efflux pumps are proton pumps with a broad spectrum of target substrates [14]. For example, *E. coli* cells are resistant to erythromycin molecules via such efflux

pumps [15] and this activity depends on the energy produced by ATP synthase [16]. Some efflux pumps and their substrate antibiotics are summarized in Table 4-1.

Efflux family	Efflux pump	Resistance against	Ref
RND	AcrAB	Eyrthromycin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol, clarithromycin, ampicillin, nalidixic acid, and rifampin	[17, 18]
ABC	YbjYZ	Clarithromycin, azithromycin, erythromycin	[15, 19]
MFS	MdfA	Rifampin, tetracycline, chloramphenicol	[20]
MATE	NorM, YdhE	Norflaxacin, fluoroquinolones, rhodamine 6G, acriflavine, berberine, novobiocin, enoxacin, and tetraphenylphosphonium chloride	[21-23]
SMR	EmrE	Tetracycline and tetraphenylphosphonium	[24]

Table 4-1. Bacterial efflux pumps and substrate antibiotics

It has been reported that efflux pump mutants of *Mycobacterium* accumulate more ethidium bromide (EtBr) inside the cells and consequently higher susceptibility to antimicrobials; such as rifampicin, ethambutol, ciprofloxacin, streptomycin, amikacin, clarithromycin and erythromycin [25]. All these antimicrobial agents act on energy-dependent metabolic pathways such as RNA synthesis (rifampicin), cell wall synthesis (ethambutol [26]), protein synthesis (streptomycin, amikacin, clarithromycin, and erythromycin [27-30]), and function of DNA gyrase [31].

Efflux pumps have a wide variety of substrate antibiotics. For example, erythromycin, tetracycline and chloramphenicol, which target protein synthesis by binding and inhibiting ribosome complex, are all substrates of RND efflux family. These pumps are widespread especially in Gram-negative bacteria and are active against many different antibiotics [32].

To test if persister cells have lower membrane potentials than normal cells, we characterized the membrane potential and efflux activities of normal and persister cells of *E. coli* and compared the killing effects of erythromycin, chloramphenicol and tetracycline on normal and persister cells of *E. coli*. These antimicrobial agents were chosen among ribosome targeting antibiotics. Under normal conditions *E. coli* efflux pumps use these antibiotics as substrate [18, 33-36]. However this efflux pump activity requires membrane potential and proton motive force. Therefore lower membrane potential may result in accumulation of antibiotics in treated cells.

Erythromycin, which is a macrolide antibiotic, generally shows bacteriostatic effect by inhibiting protein synthesis. Since it targets the ribosome complex, the production of all the peptides including the ones essential to bacteria survival is inhibited. Erythromycin is used to treat several serious bacterial infections, such as pneumonia, bronchitis, diphtheria, pertussis, rheumatic fever, and epithelial infections. In 1986 no clinical isolate was found resistant to erythromycin [37]; however, a study in 2009 [33] showed that the majority of bacterial strains among 190 isolates collected from 5 different countries have MIC values higher than 128 μ g/mL, indicating a rapid development of resistance. Erythromycin susceptibility can be restored with an AcrAB-TolC efflux pump inhibitor in *E. coli* [18]. Therefore, we hypothesize that lower membrane potential is expected to inhibit the activity of efflux pumps and increase the susceptibility of *E. coli* cells to erythromycin.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Efflux activity

The activity of efflux pumps was monitored with EtBr, by measuring its accumulation inside the cells. EtBr gives strong fluorescence when interacting with nucleotides [38] and can be pumped out by efflux systems of *E. coli* in the presence of proton motive force across cell membrane. Thus, the accumulation of EtBr inside the cells is a cumulative result of membrane permeability and efflux activity [39].

E. coli Top10 pBAD *hipA*, a strain with inducible persister formation (engineered by Jing Wang in Ren lab) was used to test efflux activities. This strain can form large number of persister cells upon induction of *hipA* gene expression by 0.2% arabinose. *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* culture was grown in Lysogeny broth (LB) containing 10 g/L NaCl, 5 g/L yeast extract, and 10 g/L tryptone with pH 7.0.

To induce persister formation, O/N culture of *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* was sub-cultured with a starting cell density of 0.01 at OD₆₀₀ and incubated till the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.15-0.2. Then the culture was supplemented with 0.2% arabinose and incubated for another 3 h at 37°C with shaking at 200rpm to induce the persister formation. Additionally, 50 μ g/mL tetracycline was added and incubated for 0.5 h following arabinose induction for further persister formation. After induction with arabinose and tetracycline, the culture was harvested by centrifuging at 10,000g for 8 minutes and resuspended in PBS by gently vortexing for 15 seconds. These cells were washed again with PBS and used for EtBr staining and persister count.

A portion of each induced and uninduced sample was taken and used to determine the persistence level by treating with 100 μ g/mL ampicillin and counting CFU. The rest of each sample was treated with 25 μ g/ml EtBr to evaluate membrane permeability by measuring fluorescent signal from EtBr-nucleic acid complex of the cells. Following EtBr treatment, the cells were washed with PBS to get rid of excess EtBr signal in extracellular media and 200 μ L cell suspension from each treatment was plated in a clear bottomed black walled 96 well plate for measuring fluorescence using a microplate reader (model FLx800, Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) with excitation at 360 nm and emission at 590 nm in PBS. Each experimental condition was tested with three independent cultures (three biological replicates).

4.2.2 Flow-cytometer compensation and analysis of EtBr treated samples

Flow cytometry was used to corroborate the results following persister induction and EtBr staining. To compare with the results of the wild-type *E. coli* K12, we also tested a $\Delta acrB$ mutant strain obtained from the Keio collection [40]. This mutant lacks efflux pump activity regardless the membrane potential. The exponential cultures of *E. coli* $\Delta acrB$ were stained with 25µg/ml EtBr for 10 minutes. Then excess EtBr dye was washed away with PBS. The changes in fluorescence intensity were determined using flow cytometry (Fig. 4-1).



Figure 4-1. The principle of flow cytometry. The cells are dispersed in a stream of fluid so that they can individually travel through fine tubing and detected. The signal from each event is recorded by a computer and analyzed.

To test EtBr staining of persister cells with flow cytometry, an exponential culture of *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* was induced with 0.2% arabinose as described previously and compared with an uninduced control by staining with EtBr and analyzing with flow cytometry. In addition to the efflux mutant and high persistence strain, exponential culture of *E. coli* ASV strain was also used with flow cytometry to test if there is a higher EtBr accumulation in persister cells (dim population).

4.2.3 Comparing membrane potential of persister and normal cells with potentiometric dye and flow cytometry

To corroborate the EtBr results and further understand if persister formation affects membrane potential, we used a potentiometric dye, JC-1, to compare the membrane potential of normal planktonic cells and persister cells. JC-1 stains mitochondria and bacterial cells based on membrane potential [41]. This dye can give two different colors; red fluorescence when the dye molecule aggregate and green fluorescence from free dye molecules. With a high membrane potential, more JC-1 molecules can aggregate on the membrane and emit red fluorescence. In comparison, when the membrane potential lowered; less JC-1 accumulates in the membrane. This leads fluorescence dye in cytoplasm to give a green color. Thus a shift in red/green fluorescence can indicate the change in membrane potential.

To perform this experiment, a high persistence strain, *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA*, was grown exponentially at 37°C by shaking with 200 rpm till OD₆₀₀ reached 0.2-0.3. Then the cells were washed with centrifugation and resuspended in PBS. Ten μ L JC-1 dye was added per 100 – 300 μ L cell sample. After gentle mix by slightly tapping the tubes, cell and potentiometric dye mixture was incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes in dark. After incubation, the cells were centrifuged and excess JC-1 dye was washed away. Immediately after washing, samples were analyzed with flow cytometry by monitoring green and red fluorescence.

4.2.4 Activity of efflux substrate antibiotics on persister cells

Persister cells of *E. coli* HM22 and Top10 pBAD *hipA* strains were isolated as described previously. Isolated persister cells were treated with erythromycin, tetracycline and

chloramphenicol for 3.5 h at 37°C with 200 rpm shaking. After the treatment, surviving persister cells were washed twice with PBS buffer to remove any remaining antibiotic. The collected cells were resuspended in PBS plated to determine the viability by counting CFU as described previously.

4.2.5 Erythromycin accumulation of persister cells

To verify if persister cells did accumulate more erythromycin than normal cells, we conducted an experiment to treat the cells with erythromycin first and compared the antimicrobial activities of the lysates from these cells. We also directly measured the intracellular concentration of erythromycin using mass spectrophotometry (MS).

Briefly persister cells were isolated from exponential cultures of *E. coli* HM22 by treating with 100μ g/mL Amp for 3.5 hours to kill normal cells. The CFU of normal and persister cell culture samples were normalized based on OD₆₀₀ readings. Both samples were treated with 100 µg/mL erythromycin in PBS for 10 minutes. Then cells were collected by centrifugation and supernatant samples were stored at -20°C till MS analysis and killing experiment. The cell pellets were sonicated (5 cycles at 100% amplitude with 30 s treatment for each cycle in ice-water) and pipetted up and down to disrupt the cell membrane. Then, cell lysates were filtered through 0.2 µm filters and sent for MS analysis to Dr. Myriam Cotton at Hamilton College, Clinton, NY. A ¹³C labeled erythromycin was used as an internal standard to verify the molecular weight of erythromycin used in this study. The samples were also tested on fresh planktonic cultures of *E. coli* HM22 for their killing activity and compared to that of 50 µg/ml erythromycin.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Efflux activity of normal and persister cells

The induction of persister formation with arabinose was successful and the persister population was 0.16% in uninduced sample, and 17% with induction with arabinose and Tet. The isolated persister cells were treated with EtBr solution to see if persister cells could accumulate more EtBr intracellularly due to lower activity of efflux pumps. As expected, it was found that the induced sample had 29.9±1.6% more EtBr signal than uninduced sample after 10 minutes of incubation (Fig. 4-2).



Figure 4-2. Ratios of EtBr signal of induced cells / uninduced cells. EtBr signals were measured using a fluorescence microplate reader (model FLx800, Bio-Tek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) with excitation at 360 nm. The ratios; 1.12±0.8%, 24.3±3.2%, 29.9±1.6%, and 18.9±1.5% at 0, 5, 10, and 30 minutes after adding EtBr are shown.

4.3.2 Flow cytometry analysis of efflux activity with EtBr staining

The results show that adding EtBr caused *E. coli* $\Delta acrB$ cells, which have no efflux activity, to shift from low red fluorescence (less than 10³) to high red fluorescence area (higher than 10³) (Fig. 4-3). This finding proves that EtBr accumulates inside the cells if the efflux activity is not present, and demonstrates that flow cytometry analysis with EtBr staining is effective in membrane potential studies.



Figure 4-3. Flow cytometry data showing fluorescent signals of unstained and EtBr stained *E*. *coli* $\Delta acrB$ cells. The cells were analyzed for their green (FL1) and red (FL2) fluorescence. A1) and A2) are unstained samples while, B1) and B2) are EtBr stained samples.

4.3.3 Persister induction

E. coli Top10 pBAD *hipA* (Fig 4-4 A1 and 4-4 A2) cells that were not induced for persister formation did not show significant fluorescent signal after incubation with EtBr for 10 min (Fig. 4-4 B1 and 4-4 B2). In contrast, 13% of the cells in arabinose induced sample (circled with red dotted line) showed more than 10 fold higher red fluorescent signal than the rest of the population and uninduced cells. Consistently, 18% of cells in this sample were confined to be persister cells based on CFU results. This finding shows that the persister population of *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* strain has lower efflux activity compared to normal cells, which is consistent with the results of *E. coli* $\Delta acrB$ efflux mutant. Since the efflux pump activity depends on membrane potential, these results suggest that persister cells have lower membrane potential than normal cells.



Figure 4-4. Persister formation led to increase in intracellular concentration of EtBr. A1 and A2; no induction and no staining, B1 and B2; without induction of persister formation, but with EtBr staining, C1 and C2; with induction of persister formation and EtBr staining. *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* was used in all the tests.

In addition to high level persistence strain, *E. coli* ASV which only has around 0.1% persister ratio was also tested with flow cytometry for their dim color compared to green active exponential cells with no staining. This small number of persister cells showed up as a distinct

population plot in cytometry analysis (Fig. 4-5). This strain is only green when the cells are active, and persister cells did not show any green color.



Figure 4-5. Flow cytometry analysis of *E. coli* ASV strain. Red circle shows the dim persister population.

4.3.4 Comparing membrane potential of persister and normal cells with potentiometric dye and flow cytometry

We further tested membrane potential using, *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* with and without the induction of persister formation with 0.2% arabinose. Fig. 4-6 shows that the induced persister formation led to decrease in red fluorescence, while the level of green fluorescence (stains all cells) did not change. This reduced level of red fluorescent suggest that less JC-1 dye molecules accumulated on the membrane due to lower membrane potential.



Figure 4-6. Potentiometric staining and flow cytometry results of uninduced (A1-A3) and induced (B1-B3) *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* cells. A2) and B2) show the signal of green fluorescence while A3) and B3) show the signal of red fluorescence.

4.3.5 Activity of efflux substrate antibiotics on persister cells

Among tested antibiotics 50µg/ml erythromycin killed 78.2% of *E. coli* HM22 persister cells after 3 h (Fig. 4-7B) while the same concentration has less than 30% killing on normal cells (Fig. 4-7A). This higher killing effect of erythromycin on persister cells could only be repeated when PBS is used as washing and treatment buffer. This indicates presence of some ions helped erythromycin effect to kill persister cells.



Figure 4-7. Effects of erythromycin on the viability of *E. coli* normal (A) and persister (B) cells. The number of cells before treatment was normalized as 100%.

4.3.6 Intracellular accumulation of erythromycin

As shown in Fig. 4-8, lysate from erythromycin treated persister cells exhibited higher killing activity on *E. coli* HM22 cells than that from erythromycin treated normal cells. As negative controls, cell lysates without pretreatment with erythromycin did not cause any significant change in cell viability (less than 4%). The killing by the lysate of persister cells treated with erythromycin pellet was $18.1 \pm 3.6\%$, similar to while it was $19.4 \pm 4.7\%$ by adding 50 µg/mL erythromycin directly. This suggests that persister cells accumulated a high concentration of erythromycin.



Figure 4-8. Antimicrobial effects of cell lysates from erythromycin treated normal & persister cells of *E. coli* HM22. NC; normal cells, PC; persister cells. In total 8 types of samples were tested; NExEr (normal cells extracellular erythromycin, Fig. 4-9), NInEr (normal cells intracellular erythromycin, Fig. 4-10), PExEr (persister cells extracellular erythromycin, Fig. 4-11), PInEr (persister cells intracellular erythromycin, Fig. 4-12), NEx13 (normal cells extracellular ¹³C labeled erythromycin, Fig 4-13), NIn13 (normal cells intracellular ¹³C labeled erythromycin, Fig 4-15), PIn3 (persister cells intracellular ¹³C labeled erythromycin, Fig 4-16).

Consistent with the CFU results, MS analysis revealed that persister cell pellet had relatively higher erythromycin accumulation compared to normal cells. As shown in Table 4-2, the extracellular erythromycin levels were significantly higher (at least 14 fold) than the intracellular erythromycin level in normal cells. This result confirmed that normal cells can actively pump out erythromycin. In contrast, this ratio becomes much lower (1.6) for persister cells (8.7 fold decrease). This finding suggests that persister cells can not actively pump the erythromycin out.



Figure 4-9. Mass Spectrophotometry analysis of erythromycin level in the extracellular

supernatant of normal cell samples



Figure 4-10. Mass Spectrophotometry analysis of intracellular erythromycin level in normal cell samples





supernatant of persister cell samples



Figure 4-12. Mass Spectrophotometry analysis of intracellular erythromycin level in persister cell samples



Figure 4-13. Mass Spectrophotometry analysis of ¹³C labeled erythromycin level in the extracellular supernatant of normal cell samples.



Figure 4-14. Mass Spectrophotometry analysis of intracellular ¹³C labeled erythromycin level in normal cell samples



Figure 4-15. Mass Spectrophotometry analysis of ¹³C labeled erythromycin level in the extracellular supernatant of persister cell samples



Figure 4-16. Mass Spectrophotometry analysis of intracellular ¹³C labeled erythromycin level in persister cell samples

Table 4-2. Ratios of intracellular vs extracellular concentration of erythromycin. Theconcentrations were determined using MS analysis.

Relative ratio between	Value (fold)
NExEr/NInEr	30.2
NEx13/NIn13	14
PExEr/PInE	1.4
PEx13/PIn13	1.6

4.4 Discussion

Normal *E. coli* cells pump EtBr out by AcrAB-TolC efflux pumps [42]. Erythromycin is also a substrate of this efflux pump [18]. Consistently *E. coli* $\Delta acrB$, which has a nonfunctional AcrAB-TolC pump, showed high level of EtBr accumulation in flow cytometry experiments (Fig. 4-3B1, 4-3B2).

Having more EtBr accumulation in persister cells (Fig 4-2) suggests that persister formation does cause lower efflux activities since inactive efflux pumps cannot extrude EtBr. The slight decrease in decrease in signal level after 10 minutes can be explained by cell damage or death due to the toxic effects of prolonged EtBr treatment on *E. coli* cells [43].

Since the frequency of persister formation is generally low [2], we tested with a high persistence strain, *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA*, using flow cytometry to determine efflux activities of persister cells. As seen in Fig. 4-4, EtBr signals of the population shifted to red fluorescence and a population of persister cells was distinguished with even higher red signal. These data also support the low efflux activities in persister cells, as a result of dormant nature of persister cells.

These efflux activity results were corroborated with a potentiometric dye, JC-1, which can directly label the potential of a cell membrane [44,45]. When the arabinose induced *E. coli* Top10 pBAD *hipA* was stained with JC-1 dye and analyzed using flow cytometry, a small subpopulation with low red color was detected. The amount of cells in this population correlates well with the persistence level, further support that persister cells have lower membrane potentials than normal cells.

In parallel to membrane potential experiments, we also studied the effect of some ribosome targeting antibiotics, which are also the substrates of the AcrAB-TolC pump efflux system [18], [33]. Erythromycin, tetracycline and chloramphenicol are all substrates of *E. coli* AcrAB-TolC pumps [18, 33-36]. Because persister cells have reduced membrane potential & efflux activity, we expect these antibiotics can accumulate more intracellularly in persister cells. Interestingly, erythromycin showed higher killing effect on persister cells than normal cells. Since efflux pump activity is essential for the resistance to erythromycin [46], we speculated that this higher killing activity against persister cells may be caused by inactive efflux pumps due to low membrane potential of these cells which led to accumulation of more erythromycin molecules in persister cells.

It has been reported that tetracycline uptake occurs with both energy dependent and independent mechanisms [47]. *E. coli* cells in exponential cultures are susceptible to tetracyline while the persister cells are tolerant. This energy dependent cellular uptake of tetracycline might explain why normal cells are more susceptible compared to dormant persister cells, which is different from the results of erythromycin.

As illustrated in Fig. 4-17, erythromycin molecules diffuse into the cells [48], regardless of the metabolic stage. This antibiotic kills bacterial cells by binding to ribosomal complex and inhibiting protein synthesis [49]. In active cells, efflux proteins can pump erythromycin out before they reach and bind to the target. Persister cells have lower membrane potential, and thus inactivate efflux systems. Therefore more erythromycin will accumulate in the cells and target the ribosome complex during wakeup (on agar plates), leading to bacterial killing.



Figure 4-17. Schematic of possible effects of erythromycin on normal (A) and persister (B) cells

Normally *E. coli* is resistance to erythromycin and susceptible to tetracycline. However, we have observed higher killing with erythromycin on *E. coli* persister cells while the cells were not affected with tetracycline treatment. Erythromycin is a bacteriostatic antibiotic [50] which means it requires bacterial activity to inhibit and eventually kill the bacteria. The activity of erythromycin also requires the presence of K^+ ions for binding to ribosome [49,51,52]. Consistently, when 0.85% NaCl solution rather than PBS was used to wash the cells, persister killing by erythromycin was not observed. Erythromycin forms a very stable complex with its target ribosome. The dissociation constant of eryhtromycin and ribosomes is between 1.1×10^{-7} and 3.4×10^{-7} M [53]. In comparison, the dissociation constant between tetracycline and its target

is 1×10^{-6} [54], a magnitude higher than erythromycin. Collectively, the differences in binding strength may explain why the other two antibiotics did not show similar effects as erythromycin since their diffusion is faster than wake up upon removal of antibiotics.

In the case of chloramphenicol, the binding is even weaker than tetracycline; e.g; the dissociation constant is $2x10^{-6}$ [55]. Besides, chloramphenicol uptake by Gram negative bacteria is suggested by means of an energy-dependent processes [56]. These two reasons might explain why chloramphenicol could not show killing effect on persister cells. These results revealed that there are weaknesses of persister cells, which can be targeted by antimicrobials to achieve killing of this dormant population.

4.5 References

- 1. Bigger, J.W. Treatment of staphylococcal infections with penicillin by intermittent sterilisation. *Lancet* **1944**, *2*, 497-500.
- 2. Lewis, K. Persister cells. *Annual review of microbiology* **2010**, *64*, 357-372.
- 3. Shah, D.; Zhang, Z.; Khodursky, A.; Kaldalu, N.; Kurg, K.; Lewis, K. Persisters: A distinct physiological state of *E. coli. Bmc Microbiol* **2006**, *6*, 53.
- Keren, I.; Shah, D.; Spoering, A.; Kaldalu, N.; Lewis, K. Specialized persister cells and the mechanism of multidrug tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of bacteriology* 2004, *186*, 8172-8180.
- Hu, Y.M.; Coates, A.R.M. Transposon mutagenesis identifies genes which control antimicrobial drug tolerance in stationary-phase *Escherichia coli*. *Fems Microbiol Lett* 2005, 243, 117-124.
- 6. Spoering, A.L.; Vulic, M.; Lewis, K. Glpd and plsb participate in persister cell formation in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of bacteriology* **2006**, *188*, 5136-5144.
- Wood, T.K.; Knabel, S.J.; Kwan, B.W. Bacterial persister cell formation and dormancy. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 2013, 79, 7116-7121.
- Yeaman, M.R.; Yount, N.Y. Mechanisms of antimicrobial peptide action and resistance. *Pharmacological reviews* 2003, *55*, 27-55.
- Nikaido, H.; Vaara, M. Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability. *Microbiological reviews* 1985, 49, 1-32.
- 10. Zhang, Y.M.; Rock, C.O. Transcriptional regulation in bacterial membrane lipid synthesis. *Journal of lipid research* **2009**, *50 Suppl*, S115-119.

- 11. Mahamoud, A.; Chevalier, J.; Alibert-Franco, S.; Kern, W.V.; Pages, J.M. Antibiotic efflux pumps in Gram-negative bacteria: The inhibitor response strategy. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy* **2007**, *59*, 1223-1229.
- 12. Ughachukwu, P.; Unekwe, P. Efflux pump-mediated resistance in chemotherapy. *Annals of medical and health sciences research* **2012**, *2*, 191-198.
- Dimroth, P.; Kaim, G.; Matthey, U. Crucial role of the membrane potential for ATP synthesis by F(1)F(0) ATP synthases. *The Journal of experimental biology* 2000, *203*, 51-59.
- Marquez, B. Bacterial efflux systems and efflux pumps inhibitors. *Biochimie* 2005, *87*, 1137-1147.
- 15. Kobayashi, N.; Nishino, K.; Yamaguchi, A. Novel macrolide-specific ABC-type efflux transporter in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of bacteriology* **2001**, *183*, 5639-5644.
- Paulsen, I.T.; Brown, M.H.; Skurray, R.A. Proton-dependent multidrug efflux systems. *Microbiological reviews* 1996, 60, 575-608.
- Okusu, H.; Ma, D.; Nikaido, H. Acrab efflux pump plays a major role in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of *Escherichia coli* multiple-antibiotic-resistance (mar) mutants. *Journal of bacteriology* 1996, *178*, 306-308.
- 18. Chollet, R.; Chevalier, J.; Bryskier, A.; Pages, J.M. The AcrAB-TolC pump is involved in macrolide resistance but not in telithromycin efflux in *Enterobacter aerogenes* and *Escherichia coli. Antimicrob Agents Ch* **2004**, *48*, 3621-3624.
- 19. Moussatova, A.; Kandt, C.; O'Mara, M.L.; Tieleman, D.P. ATP-binding cassette transporters in *Escherichia coli*. *Bba-Biomembranes* **2008**, *1778*, 1757-1771.

- Edgar, R.; Bibi, E. Mdfa, an *Escherichia coli* multidrug resistance protein with an extraordinarily broad spectrum of drug recognition. *Journal of bacteriology* 1997, *179*, 2274-2280.
- Guelfo, J.R.; Rodriguez-Rojas, A.; Matic, I.; Blazquez, J. A mate-family efflux pump rescues the *Escherichia coli* 8-oxoguanine-repair-deficient mutator phenotype and protects against H₂O₂ killing. *PLoS genetics* 2010, 6, e1000931.
- 22. Morita, Y.; Kodama, K.; Shiota, S.; Mine, T.; Kataoka, A.; Mizushima, T.; Tsuchiya, T. Norm, a putative multidrug efflux protein, of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and its homolog in *Escherichia coli. Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **1998**, *42*, 1778-1782.
- 23. Long, F.; Rouquette-Loughlin, C.; Shafer, W.M.; Yu, E.W. Functional cloning and characterization of the multidrug efflux pumps norm from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and YdhE from *Escherichia coli*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **2008**, *52*, 3052-3060.
- 24. Poole, K. Efflux-mediated antimicrobial resistance. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy* **2005**, *56*, 20-51.
- 25. Rodrigues, L.; Ramos, J.; Couto, I.; Amaral, L.; Viveiros, M. Ethidium bromide transport across *Mycobacterium smegmatis* cell-wall: Correlation with antibiotic resistance. *BMC microbiology* **2011**, *11*, 35.
- 26. Yendapally, R.; Lee, R.E. Design, synthesis, and evaluation of novel ethambutol analogues. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters* **2008**, *18*, 1607-1611.
- Contreras, A.; Vazquez, D. Cooperative and antagonistic interactions of peptidyl-tRNA and antibiotics with bacterial ribosomes. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS* 1977, 74, 539-547.

- Edson, R.S.; Terrell, C.L. The aminoglycosides. *Mayo Clinic proceedings* 1999, 74, 519-528.
- 29. Sharma, D.; Cukras, A.R.; Rogers, E.J.; Southworth, D.R.; Green, R. Mutational analysis of S12 protein and implications for the accuracy of decoding by the ribosome. *Journal of molecular biology* **2007**, *374*, 1065-1076.
- 30. Sturgill, M.G.; Rapp, R.P. Clarithromycin: Review of a new macrolide antibiotic with improved microbiologic spectrum and favorable pharmacokinetic and adverse effect profiles. *The Annals of pharmacotherapy* **1992**, *26*, 1099-1108.
- 31. Drlica, K.; Zhao, X. DNA gyrase, topoisomerase iv, and the 4-quinolones. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR* **1997**, *61*, 377-392.
- 32. Nikaido, H.; Takatsuka, Y. Mechanisms of RND multidrug efflux pumps. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **2009**, *1794*, 769-781.
- Nguyen, M.C.P.; Woerther, P.L.; Bouvet, M.; Andremont, A.; Leclercq, R.; Canu, A. *Escherichia coli* as reservoir for macrolide resistance genes. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009, 15, 1648-1650.
- 34. Chopra, I.; Roberts, M. Tetracycline antibiotics: Mode of action, applications, molecular biology, and epidemiology of bacterial resistance. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR* 2001, 65, 232-260 ; second page, table of contents.
- 35. Moreira, M.A.; Oliveira, J.A.; Teixeira, L.M.; Moraes, C.A. Detection of a chloramphenicol efflux system in *Escherichia coli* isolated from poultry carcass. *Veterinary microbiology* **2005**, *109*, 75-81.
- Roberts, M.C. Update on acquired tetracycline resistance genes. *Fems Microbiol Lett* 2005, 245, 195-203.

- 37. Arthur, M.; Courvalin, P. Contribution of 2 different mechanisms to erythromycin resistance in *Escherichia coli*. *Antimicrob Agents Ch* **1986**, *30*, 694-700.
- 38. Sharples, D.; Brown, J.R. Correlation of the base specificity of DNA intercalating ligands with their physico-chemical properties. *FEBS letters* **1976**, *69*, 37-40.
- Paixao, L.; Rodrigues, L.; Couto, I.; Martins, M.; Fernandes, P.; de Carvalho, C.C.; Monteiro, G.A.; Sansonetty, F.; Amaral, L.; Viveiros, M. Fluorometric determination of ethidium bromide efflux kinetics in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of biological engineering* 2009, *3*, 18.
- Baba, T.; Ara, T.; Hasegawa, M.; Takai, Y.; Okumura, Y.; Baba, M.; Datsenko, K.A.; Tomita, M.; Wanner, B.L.; Mori, H. Construction of *Escherichia coli* k-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: The keio collection. *Molecular systems biology* 2006, *2*, 2006 0008.
- 41. Strauber, H.; Muller, S. Viability states of bacteria--specific mechanisms of selected probes. *Cytometry. Part A : the journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology* **2010**, 77, 623-634.
- Viveiros, M.; Martins, A.; Paixao, L.; Rodrigues, L.; Martins, M.; Couto, I.; Fahnrich, E.; Kern, W.V.; Amaral, L. Demonstration of intrinsic efflux activity of *Escherichia coli* K-12 AG100 by an automated ethidium bromide method. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2008, *31*, 458-462.
- 43. James Walter, A.; Caroline, J.C.; Caroline, J.J.; Anjanapriya, S. Toxic and mutagenic impact of ethidium bromide traces on the growth of *Escherichia coli* K1226.

- 44. Mathur, A.; Hong, Y.; Kemp, B.K.; Barrientos, A.A.; Erusalimsky, J.D. Evaluation of fluorescent dyes for the detection of mitochondrial membrane potential changes in cultured cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovascular research* **2000**, *46*, 126-138.
- 45. Zuliani, T.; Duval, R.; Jayat, C.; Schnebert, S.; Andre, P.; Dumas, M.; Ratinaud, M.H. Sensitive and reliable JC-1 and TOTO-3 double staining to assess mitochondrial transmembrane potential and plasma membrane integrity: Interest for cell death investigations. *Cytometry. Part A : the journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology* **2003**, *54*, 100-108.
- Kurincic, M.; Klancnik, A.; Smole Mozina, S. Effects of efflux pump inhibitors on erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and tetracycline resistance in *Campylobacter* spp. Isolates. *Microbial drug resistance* 2012, 18, 492-501.
- McMurry, L.; Levy, S.B. Two transport systems for tetracycline in sensitive *Escherichia coli*: Critical role for an initial rapid uptake system insensitive to energy inhibitors. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 1978, 14, 201-209.
- Capobianco, J.; Goldman, R. Erythromycin and azithromycin transport into haemophilus influenzae ATCC 19418 under conditions of depressed proton motive force (delta mu h). *Antimicrob Agents Ch* 1990, *34*, 1787-1791.
- 49. Mao, J.C.; Putterman, M. The intermolecular complex of erythromycin and ribosome. *Journal of molecular biology* **1969**, *44*, 347-361.
- Pankey, G.A.; Sabath, L.D. Clinical relevance of bacteriostatic versus bactericidal mechanisms of action in the treatment of Gram-positive bacterial infections. *Clin Infect Dis* 2004, *38*, 864-870.

- 51. Oleinick, N.L.; Corcoran, J.W. Two types of binding of erythromycin to ribosomes from antibiotic-sensitive and-resistant *Bacillus subtilis* 168. *J Biol Chem* **1969**, *244*, 727-735.
- 52. Teraoka, H. Binding of erythromycin to *Escherichia coli* ribosomes. *The Journal of antibiotics* **1971**, *24*, 302-309.
- 53. Pestka, S. Binding of [14c]erythromycin to *Escherichia coli* ribosomes. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **1974**, *6*, 474-478.
- Olson, M.W.; Ruzin, A.; Feyfant, E.; Rush, T.S., 3rd; O'Connell, J.; Bradford, P.A. Functional, biophysical, and structural bases for antibacterial activity of tigecycline. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006, 50, 2156-2166.
- 55. Lessard, J.L.; Pestka, S. Studies on the formation of transfer ribonucleic acid-ribosome complexes xxiii. Chloramphenicol, aminoacyl-oligonucleotides, and *Escherichia coli* ribosomes. *J Biol Chem* 1972, 247, 6909-6912.
- 56. Abdel-Sayed, S. Transport of chloramphenicol into sensitive strains of *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J Antimicrob Chemoth **1987**, 19, 7-20.

CHAPTER 5

NEW AMP DERIVATIVES OF CALCITERMIN AND THEIR EFFECTS ON

PSEUDOMONAS AERUGINOSA and ESHERICHIA COLI

5.1 Introduction

The growing interest in AMPs, also defined as natural microbicidals [1], as alternative antimicrobial agents to current antibiotics is also favored by their low propensity to induce drug resistance [2]. Native AMPs can serve as a source of antimicrobial agents for treatment of different infectious diseases. However, clinical use of native AMPs have issues such as potential toxicity to human cells and proteolytic degradation. Thus many studies have been conducting to search for better AMPs by re-designing native antimicrobial peptides recently [3]. For example, dermicidin secreted from epihelia can be further improved by removing 23 amino acid from N-terminal end to have 2-fold increase in killing activity against *E. coli* [4] and this new derivative of dermicidin can be more effective in skin infections. This will also adress concerns related to the stability of AMPs. Efforts have also been made to generate and screen AMP libraries based on native AMPs to study a large number of candidates simultaneously. This allows identification of important features in AMP structures and physiochemical properties required for specific activities of AMPs [1].

AMPs from different sources identified to date have provided important information for designing new sythetic AMPs with improved antimicrobial effects, target spectrums, and stabilities under different physiological conditions along with reduced cost due to short amino acid sequences [3].

We hypothesized that some human originated natural AMPs can be further improved to kill bacterial persister cells by and optimizing their physiochemical characteristics. Specifically, we studied the effects of the net charge of an AMP on planktonic & persister cells of *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa*.
Among these AMPs we selected calcitermin, which has 15 amino acid in length with a net charge of "+1" and an α -helical structure [5], to study the effects of AMP net-charge on the persister cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 (from cystic fibrosis patients) and *E. coli* HM22. The antimicrobial effects of native calcitermin on *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* has been reported previously [6] and its short length is considered a favorable characteristics for low cost manufacturing.

Both the amino acid sequence and local pH can affect the net charge of an AMP [7]. Therefore by adding more negatively charged amino acids into the sequence of calcitermin, we designed neutral and negatively charged calcitermin derivatives with the help of Iterative Threading ASSEmbly Refinement (I-TASSER) Protein Structure & Function Predictions which is available online [8].

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Selecting the candidate AMP to study

To choose the AMP, 277 human originated AMPs chosen from two antimicrobial peptide databases, Antimicrobial Peptide Database (APD2) and Linking Antimicrobial Peptide (LAMP) which has 5547 AMPs in total, were compared for their given physiochemical characteristics. Human originated peptides were selected to minimize cytotoxicity in human body. Some of these AMPs are shown in (Table 5-1). Calcitermin was selected due to its short size (low production cost), relatively high hydrophobicity (for amphipathic structure and antimicrobial activity), relatively low boman index (for less interaction with other proteins), positive charge, origin tissue (airway secretions), and a-helical structure which is important to target cell membrane.

Table 5-1. Selected human originated AMPs with some of their important physiochemical characteristics, sources in the body and

activities. The data is collected from APD2 and LAMP libraries. G(+); Gram positive bacteria, G(-); Gram negative bacteria.

Access number	Name	Source	Sequence	Length	Net charge	Hydrophobicity	Bowman index	Structure	Activity
AP00309	KS-27	Skin	KSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPR	27	7	33%	3.38	Unknown	G(+), G(-),
AP00481	Kaliocin-1	Lactoferrin	FFSASCVPGADKGQFPNLCRLCAGTGENKCA	31	1	45%	0.99	Unknown	N/A
AP00625	KR-20	Sweat	KRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES	20	4	35%	3.68	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal,
AP00626	KS-30	Sweat	KSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES	30	6	30%	3.47	Helix	G(+), G(-),
AP00627	RK-31	Sweat	RKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES	31	7	29%	3.83	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal,
AP00628	LL-23	Skin	LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQR	23	5	34%	3.01	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal,
AP00629	LL-29	Skin	LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLR	29	6	37%	2.95	Helix	G(+), G(-),
AP00765	Salvic	Saliva	MHDFWVLWVLLEYIYNSACSVLSATSSVSSRVLNR SLQVKVVKITN	46	2	50%	0.7	Unknown	N/A
AP00798	Hst1	Saliva	DSHEKRHHGYRRKFHEKHHSHREFPFYGDYGSNY LYDN	38	0	10%	4.29	H Rich	Antifungal
AP00799	Histatin 2	Saliva	RKFHEKHHSHREFPFYGDYGSNYLYDN	27	0	14%	3.53	H Rich	Antifungal
AP00801	Histatin 6	Saliva	DSHAKRHHGYKRKFHEKHHSHRGYR	25	6	8%	5.21	H Rich	G(+), G(-), Antifungal,
AP00802	Histatin 7	Saliva	RKFHEKHHSHRGY	13	3	7%	5.07	H Rich	Antifungal
AP00803	Histatin 9	Saliva	RKFHEKHHSHRGYR	14	4	7%	5.78	H Rich	G(+), G(-), Antifungal,
AP01407	SgI-29	Sperm	HNKQEGRDHDKSKGHFHRVVIHHKGGKAH	29	4	17%	3.74	H Rich	G(+), G(-),
AP02017	hGAPDH	Placenta	GKVKVGVNGFGRIGRLVTRAAFNSGKVDIVA	31	5	45%	1.07	Unknown	Antifungal

AP02230	HMGN2	Leukocyte	PKRKAEGDAKGDKAKVKDEPQRRSARLSAKPAPP KPEPKPKKAPAKKGEKVPKGKKGKADAGKEGNNP AENGDAKTDQAQKAEGAGDAK	89	12	21%	3.2	Unknown	G(-), Antifungal, Antiviral
AP02343	Beta 2- globulin	Amnio	IQRTPKIQVYSRHPAENGKSNFLNCYVSGFHPSDIE VDLLKNGERIEKVEHSDLSFSKDWSFYLLYYTEFTP TEKDEYACRVNHVTLSQPKIVKWDRDM	99	-2	31%	2.31	Beta	G(+), G(-),
AP00176	Neutrophil peptide-1	Neutrophil	ACYCRIPACIAGERRYGTCIYQGRLWAFCC	30	3	53%	1.07	Beta	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal, Antiparasitic, Cancer cells
AP00179	Neutrophil peptide-4	Neutrophil	VCSCRLVFCRRTELRVGNCLIGGVSFTYCCTRV	33	4	51%	1.4	Beta	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal,
AP00180	Defensin 5	Skin	ATCYCRTGRCATRESLSGVCEISGRLYRLCCR	32	4	40%	2.6	Beta	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00181	Defensin 6	Skin	AFTCHCRRSCYSTEYSYGTCTVMGINHRFCCL	32	2	40%	1.71	Beta	Antiviral, Antifungal,
AP00192	Hepcidin 20	Blood	ICIFCCGCCHRSKCGMCCKT	20	3	60%	0.46	Beta	Antifungal,
AP00193	LEAP-1	Liver	DTHFPICIFCCGCCHRSKCGMCCKT	25	2	52%	0.89	Beta	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00196	hBD-26	Skin	WYVKKCLNDVGICKKKCKPEEMHVKNGWAMCG KGRDCCVPAD	42	4	42%	1.58	Bridge	G(-),
AP00197	hBD-27	Skin	QLKKCWNNYVQGHCRKICRVNEVPEALCENGRYC CLNIKELEAC	44	2	43%	2.08	Bridge	G(-),
AP00283	Beta defensin 3	Skin	GIINTLQKYYCRVRGGRCAVLSCLPKEEQIGKCSTR GRKCCRRKK	45	11	33%	2.87	Helix and beta	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal, Chemotactic,
AP00307	Buforin I	Stomach	AGRGKQGGKVRAKAKTRSSRAGLQFPVGRVHRLL RKGNY	39	12	28%	3.08	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00310	LL-37,	Neutrophil skin, sweat, lung,	LLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTES	37	6	35%	2.99	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal, Antiparasitic, Spermicidal, Chemotactic, Cancer cells

AP00334	Cathepsin	Neutrophil	IIGGR	5	1	40%	0.64	Unknown	G(+), G(-),
AP00433	Dermicidin	Sweat	SSLLEKGLDGAKKAVGGLGKLGKDAVEDLESVGK GAVHDVKDVLDSV	47	-2	38%	1.11	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00449	MSH	Brain	SYSMEHFRWGKPV	13	1	30%	2.01	Unknown	G(+), Antifungal, Antiviral,
AP00451	hBD-1	Keratinocyte skin, platelets	DHYNCVSSGGQCLYSACPIFTKIQGTCYRGKAKCC K	36	4	36%	1.3	Helix and beta	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Cancer cells
AP00504	MUC7 20	Saliva	LAHQKPFIRKSYKCLHKRCR	20	7	35%	3.16	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00505	Histatin 5	Parotid secretion	DSHAKRHHGYKRKFHEKHHSHRGY	24	5	8%	4.81	Helix, H-rich	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal, Enzyme inhibitor
AP00509	Calcitermin	Airways secretions	VAIALKAAHYHTHKE	15	1	46%	0.89	Helix	G(-), Antifungal
AP00520	Histatin 3,	Saliva, parotid secretion	DSHAKRHHGYKRKFHEKHHSHRGYRSNYLYDN	32	5	9%	4.72	H-rich	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00523	Histatin 8	Saliva	KFHEKHHSHRGY	12	2	8%	4.25	H-rich	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00524	Defensin 2	Skin, lung, trachea epithelia, and uterus,	GIGDPVTCLKSGAICHPVFCPRRYKQIGTCGLPGTK CCKKP	41	7	36%	0.9	Helix and beta	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal, Chemotactic,
AP00624	ALL-38,	Sperm	ALLGDFFRKSKEKIGKEFKRIVQRIKDFLRNLVPRTE S	38	6	36%	2.87	Helix	G(+), G(-),
AP00800	Histatin 4,	Saliva	RKFHEKHHSHRGYRSNYLYDN	21	3	9%	4.84	H-rich	Antifungal,
AP00675	Defensin 4,	Skin	FELDRICGYGTARCRKKCRSQEYRIGRCPNTYACCL RKWDESLLNRTKP	49	7	32%	3.35	bridge	G(+), G(-),
AP00780	lactoferricin	Lactoferrin	GRRRRSVQWCAVSQPEATKCFQWQRNMRKVRGP PVSCIKRDSPIQCIQA	49	10	36%	3.14	Helix	G(+), G(-),
AP00811	LEAP-2	Liver	MTPFWRGVSLRPIGASCRDDSECITRLCRKRRCSLS VAQE	40	4	40%	2.94	Helix and beta	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP00833	Drosomycin	Skin	CLAGRLDKQCTCRRSQPSRRSGHEVGRPSPHCGPS RQCGCHMD	43	5	25%	3.58	Bridge	Antifungal,

AP00857	Catestatin,	Brain	SSMKLSFRARAYGFRGPGPQL	21	4	33%	1.98	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal, Chemotactic, Antioxidant,
AP01161	Granulysin,	Cytolytic t cells	GRDYRTCLTIVQKLKKMVDKPTQRSVSNAATRVC RTGRSRWRDVCRNFMRRYQSRVTQGLVAGETAQQ ICEDLR	74	11	33%	3.5	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal, Antiparasitic, Cancer cells
AP01315	hBD-28	Skin	ARLKKCFNKVTGYCRKKCKVGERYEIGCLSGKLCC AN	37	8	40%	1.91	Beta	G(+), G(-),
AP01372	CXCL14,	N/A	SKCKCSRKGPKIRYSDVKKLEMKPKYPHCEEKMVI ITTKSVSRYRGQEHCLHPKLQSTKRFIKWYNAWNE KRRVYEE	77	13	27%	3.03	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
P01373	TC-1	Blood	AELRCMCIKTTSGIHPKNIQSLEVIGKGTHCNQVEVI ATLKDGRKICLDPDAPRIKKIVQKKLAGDES	68	6	38%	1.72	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01374	TC-2	Blood	NLAKGKEESLDSDLYAELRCMCIKTTSGIHPKNIQS LEVIGKGTHCNQVEVIATLKDGRKICLDPDAPRIKK IVQKKLAGDES	83	2	36%	1.87	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01408	SgII	Sperm	KQEGRDHDKSKGHFHMIVIHHKGGQAHHG	29	2	20%	2.85	H-Rich	G(+), G(-),
AP01471	Substance P	Blood	RPKPQQFFGLM	11	1	36%	1.57	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01472	Neurotensin,	Brain	ELYENKPRRPYIL	13	3	23%	3.16	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01473	Bradykinin	Brain	RPPGFSPFR	9	2	22%	2.92	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01474	Neuropeptide Y	Brain	YPSKPDNPGEDAPAEDMARYYSALRHYINLITRQR Y	36	1	25%	3	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01475	DEFB120	Pooled fetal lung, testis, b- cell	ECWMDGHCRLLCKDGEDSIIRCRNRKRCC	29	2	41%	3.66	Bridge	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01476	Calcitonin	Thyroid	ACDTATCVTHRLAGLLSRSGGVVKNNFVPTNVGS KAF	37	4	43%	1.08	Helix	G(-), Antifungal
AP01477	Vasoactive polypeptide	Intestine	HSDAVFTDNYTRLRKQMAVKKYLNSILN	28	4	35%	2.48	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP01479	Adrenomedullin	Skin	YRQSMNNFQGLRSFGCRFGTCTVQKLAHQIYQFTD KDKDNVAPRSKISPQGY	52	6	28%	2.6	Helix	G(+), G(-),
AP01494	GHH20	Skin	GHHPHGHHPHGHHPHGHHHPH	21	0	0%	2.7	H-Rich	Antifungal,

AP02071	ТСР	Skin	NLPIVERPVCKDSTRIRITDNMFCAGYKPDEGKRGD ACEGDSGGPFVMKSPFNNRWYQMGIVSWGEGCDR DGKYGFYTHVFRLKKWIQKVIDQFGE	96	2	33%	2.15	Unknown	G(+), G(-),
AP02072	Elafin	Skin	AQEPVKGPVSTKPGSCPIILIRCAMLNPPNRCLKDT DCPGIKKCCEGSCGMACFVPQ	57	3	42%	0.94	Beta	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal, Enzyme inhibitor
AP02073	Abeta40	Brain	DAEFRHDSGYEVHHQKLVFFAEDVGSNKGAIIGLM VGGVV	40	-3	42%	0.98	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal
AP02075	Abeta42	Brain	DAEFRHDSGYEVHHQKLVFFAEDVGSNKGAIIGLM VGGVVIA	42	-3	45%	0.77	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal
AP02076	RNase 5	Liver, intestine, skin	QDNSRYTHFLTQHYDAKPQGRDDRYCESIMRRRGP TSPCKDINTFIHGNKRSIKAICENKNGNPHRENLRIS KSSFQVTTCKLHGGSPWPPCQYRATAGFRNVVVA CENGLPVHLDQSIFRRPRP	125	11	28%	2.99	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), Antifungal
AP02077	RegIII alpha	Islets, intestine	EEPQRELPSARIRCPKGSKAYGSHCYALFLSPKSWT DADLACQKRPSGNLVSVLSGAEGSFVSSLVKSIGNS YSYVWIGLHDPTQGTEPNGEGWEWSSSDVMNYFA WERNPSTISSPGHCASLSRSTAFLRWKDYNCNVRLP YVCKFTD	149	1	33%	1.77	Helix and Beta structure	G(+),
AP02078	Psoriasin	Skin, tounge	MSNTQAERSIIGMIDMFHKYTRRDDKIDKPSLLTM MKENFPNFLSACDKKGTNYLADVFEKKDKNEDKK IDFSEFLSLLGDIATDYHKQSHGAAPCSGGSQ	101	-1	32%	2.3	Helix	G(-), Chemotactic
AP02079	RNase 7	Skin, urinary tract	KPKGMTSSQWFKIQHMQPSPQACNSAMKNINKHT KRCKDLNTFLHEPFSSVAATCQTPKIACKNGDKNC HQSHGAVSLTMCKLTSGKYPNCRYKEKRQNKSYV VACKPPQKKDSQQFHLVPVHLDRVL	128	16	32%	2.16	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP02080	CCL20	Skin	SNFDCCLGYTDRILHPKFIVGFTRQLANEGCDINAII FHTKKKLSVCANPKQTWVKYIVRLLSKKVKNM	69	8	43%	1.34	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Antifungal, Antiparasitic,
AP02081	CXCL1	Bone marrow	ASVATELRCQCLQTLQGIHPKNIQSVNVKSPGPHCA QTEVIATLKNGRKACLNPASPIVKKIIEKMLNSDKS N	73	6	38%	1.51	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02082	CXCL2	Bone marrow	APLATELRCQCLQTLQGIHLKNIQSVKVKSPGPHCA QTEVIATLKNGQKACLNPASPMVKKIIEKMLKNGK SN	73	8	39%	1.17	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Antiparasitic, Chemotactic,
AP02083	CXCL3	Bone marrow	ASVVTELRCQCLQTLQGIHLKNIQSVNVRSPGPHCA QTEVIATLKNGKKACLNPASPMVQKIIEKILNKGST N	73	6	39%	1.27	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic

AP02084	CXCL9	Bone marrow	TPVVRKGRCSCISTNQGTIHLQSLKDLKQFAPSPSCE KIEIIATLKNGVQTCLNPDSADVKELIKKWEKQVSQ KKKQKNGKKHQKKKVLKVRKSQRSRQKKTT	103	20	28%	2.7	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antiparasitic, Chemotactic,
AP02085	CXCL10	Bone marrow	VPLSRTVRCTCISISNQPVNPRSLEKLEIIPASQFCPR VEIIATMKKKGEKRCLNPESKAIKNLLKAVSKERSK RSP	77	11	36%	2.25	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Antifungal, Antiparasitic,
AP02086	CXCL11	Bone marrow	FPMFKRGRCLCIGPGVKAVKVADIEKASIMYPSNN CDKIEVIITLKENKGQRCLNPKSKQARLIIKKVERKN F	73	11	41%	1.83	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02087	CXCL12	Stomach	KPVSLSYRCPCRFFESHVARANVKHLKILNTPNCAL QIVARLKNNNRQVCIDPKLKWIQEYLEKALNK	68	9	42%	1.93	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Antiviral
AP02088	CXCL13	Stomach	VLEVYYTSLRCRCVQESSVFIPRRFIDRIQILPRGNG CPRKEIIVWKKNKSIVCVDPQAEWIQRMMEVLRKR SSSTLPVPVFKRKIP	87	11	41%	2.1	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02089	XCL1	Stomach	VGSEVSDKRTCVSLTTQRLPVSRIKTYTITEGSLRA VIFITKRGLKVCADPQATWVRDVVRSMDRKSNTR NNMIQTKPTGTQQSTNTAVTLTG	93	9	32%	2.41	Beta	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02090	I-309,	Lymphocyte	KSMQVPFSRCCFSFAEQEIPLRAILCYRNTSSICSNE GLIFKLKRGKEACALDTVGWVQRHRKMLRHCPSK RK	73	10	41%	2.25	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02091	MCP-2,	Macrophage	PDSVSIPITCCFNVINRKIPIQRLESYTRITNIQCPKEA VIFKTKRGKEVCADPKERWVRDSMKHLDQIFQNL KP	75	6	37%	2.27	Helix and Beta structure	G(-), Chemotactic
AP02092	Eotaxin,	Eosinophil	GPASVPTTCCFNLANRKIPLQRLESYRRITSGKCPQ KAVIFKTKLAKDICADPKKKWVQDSMKYLDQKSP TPKP	74	11	33%	2.03	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02093	MCP-4,	Macrophage	QPDALNVPSTCCFTFSSKKISLQRLKSYVITTSRCPQ KAVIFRTKLGKEICADPKEKWVQNYMKHLGRKAH TLKT	75	11	36%	1.89	Helix and Beta structure	G(-), Chemotactic
AP02094	TARC,	Platelet	ARGTNVGRECCLEYFKGAIPLRKLKTWYQTSEDCS RDAIVFVTVQGRAICSDPNNKRVKNAVKYLQSLER S	71	6	36%	2.42	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02095	PARC,	Platelet	AQVGTNKELCCLVYTSWQIPQKFIVDYSETSPQCPK PGVILLTKRGRQICADPNKKWVQKYISDLKLNA	69	5	37%	1.39	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02096	MIP-3	Leukocyte	GTNDAEDCCLSVTQKPIPGYIVRNFHYLLIKDGCRV PAVVFTTLRGRQLCAPPDQPWVERIIQRLQRTSAK MKRRSS	77	7	37%	2.23	Unknown	G(-), Chemotactic

AP02097	TECK,	Leukocyte	QGVFEDCCLAYHYPIGWAVLRRAWTYRIQEVSGSC NLPAAIFYLPKRHRKVCGNPKSREVQRAMKLLDAR NKVFAKLHHNTQTFQAGPHAVKKLSSGNSKLSSSK FSNPISSSKRNVSLLISANSGL	127	15	37%	1.81	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02099	SLC,	Leukocyte	SDGGAQDCCLKYSQRKIPAKVVRSYRKQEPSLGCSI PAILFLPRKRSQAELCADPKELWVQQLMQHLDKTP SPQKPAQGCRKDRGASKTGKKGKGSKGCKRTERS QTPKGP	111	16	27%	2.65	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02158	MDC,	Leukocyte	GPYGANMEDSVCCRDYVRYRLPLRVVKHFYWTSD SCPRPGVVLLTFRDKEICADPRVPWVKMILNKLSQ	69	4	40%	1.85	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Chemotactic
AP02182	SLPI	Saliva, Airway	SGKSFKAGVCPPKKSAQCLRYKKPECQSDWQCPG KKRCCPDTCGIKCLDPVDTPNPTRRKPGKCPVTYG QCLMLNPPNFCEMDGQCKRDLKCCMGMCGKSCV SPVKA	107	12	34%	1.87	Beta	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antifungal, Enzyme inhibitor,
AP02184	UBI 1-59	Small intestine	KVHGSLARAGKVRGQTPKVAKQEKKKKKTGRAK RRMQYNRRFVNVVPTFGKKKGPNANS	59	19	25%	3.28	Unknown	G(+), G(-),
AP02185	RNase 8	Urinary tract	KPKDMTSSQWFKTQHVQPSPQACNSAMSIINKYTE RCKDLNTFLHEPFSSVAITCQTPNIACKNSCKNCHQ SHGPMSLTMGELTSGKYPNCRYKEKHLNTPYIVAC DPPQQGDPGYPLVPVHLDKVV	127	4	31%	1.7	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP02186	ECP	Eosinophilic leukocytes	RPPQFTRAQWFAIQHISLNPPRCTIAMRAINNYRWR CKNQNTFLRTTFANVVNVCGNQSIRCPHNRTLNNC HRSRFRVPLLHCDLINPGAQNISNCTYADRPGRRFY VVACDNRDPRDSPRYPVVPVHLDTTI	133	13	36%	2.71	Helix and Beta structure	G(+), G(-), Antiviral, Antiparasitic, Mammalian cells,
AP02187	hPF4	Platelet	EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHC PTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES	70	3	40%	1.46	Unknown	Antiparasitic, Antimalarial,
AP02195	DEFB114	Gingival cells	DRCTKRYGRCKRDCLESEKQIDICSLPRKICCTEKL YEEDDMF	43	0	32%	3.58	Bridge	G(+), G(-), Antifungal
AP02196	Alarin	Brain	APAHRSSTFPKWVTKTERGRQPLRS	25	5	24%	3.47	Unknown	G(-),
AP02231	CXCL6	Bone marrow	GPVSAVLTELRCTCLRVTLRVNPKTIGKLQVFPAGP QCSKVEVVASLKNGKQVCLDPEAPFLKKVIQKILD SGNKKN	77	8	41%	1.14	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antiparasitic, Chemotactic,
AP02257	Kinocidin	Saliva, milk, epithelial cells/mucos al tissues	MQQRGLAIVALAVCAALHASEAILPIASSCCTEVSH HISRRLLERVNMCRIQRADGDCDLAAVILHVKRRRI CVSPHNHTVKQWMKVQAAKKNGKGNVCHRKKH HGKRNSNRAHQGKHETYGHKTPY	127	16	39%	2.3	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal, Antiparasitic, Chemotactic,

	AP02337	CCL27	Brain	PPSTACCTQLYRKPLSDKLLRKVIQVELQEADGDC HLQAFVLHLAQRSICIHPQNP	56	1	41%	1.57	Helix and Beta structure	Antifungal, Chemotactic
	AP02409	Chemerin	Epidermis, skin,	ELTEAQRRGLQVALEEFHKHPPVQWAFQETSVESA VDTPFPAGIFVRLEFKLQQTSCRKRDWKKPECKVR PNGRKRKCLACIKLGSEDKVLGRLVHCPIETQVLRE AEEHQETQCLRVQRAGEDPHSFYFPGQFAFS	137	3	36%	2.38	Unknown	G(+), G(-), Antifungal, Chemotactic,
	AP02425	hIAPP,	Islets	KCNTATCATQRLANFLVHSSNNFGAILSSTNVGSNT Y	37	3	37%	1.48	Helix	G(+), G(-),
	AP02451	KDAMP 10	Cornea	RAIGGGLSSVGGGSSTIKY	19	2	26%	0.55	Unknown	G(-),
_	AP02452	Lysozyme	Secretions and tissues	KVFERCELARTLKRLGMDGYRGISLANWMCLAKW ESGYNTRATNYNAGDRSTDYGIFQINSRYWCNDGK TPGAVNACHLSCSALLQDNIADAVACAKRVVRDP QGIRAWVAWRNRCQNRDVRQYVQGCGV	130	8	40%	2.28	Helix	G(+), G(-), Antifungal

5.2.2 Designing new calcitermin derivatives with different net charges

We used I-TASSER to design neutral and negatively charged derivatives of calcitermin based on the original amino acid sequence; VAIALKAAHYHTHKE. This prediction method helped us to keep α-helical structure of calcitermin during designing process. First, positively charged Lys (K), at position 14, residue was replaced with Gly (G) to obtain a neutral AMP derivative VAIALKAAHYHTH<u>G</u>E (0). Then Ala (A), at position 8 was replaced with a negatively charged Glu (E) for AMP derivative with a net charge of "-1", VAIALKA<u>E</u>HYHTH<u>G</u>E. Finally, an Ala (A) at position 4 residue was replaced with Glu (E) to obtain an AMP with a net charge of "-2", VAI<u>E</u>LKA<u>E</u>HYHTH<u>G</u>E. Each amino acid change was individually confirmed to ensure no change in the amphipaticity and the α-helical structure. The helical wheel projection model was used to retain protect amphiphilic topology during design studies. These derivatives were also checked for their net charges at slightly acidic conditions (pH 5.5) to mimic the CF airways.

5.2.3 Killing effects of calcitermin and its derivatives on planktonic cells at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5

To examine the antimicrobial activity of calcitermin and its neutral derivative, the planktonic cultures of *E. coli* HM22, and *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 were treated. The pH values 5.5 and 7.4 were studied to resemble the nasal airway conditions in cystic fibrosis patients and healthy individuals respectively. Overnight cultures of each strain were grown in 50 mL LB medium for 12-16 h at 37° C. Subcultures were then prepared by inoculating LB medium with overnight cultures to an optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) of 0.01 and harvested when the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.4-0.5. These exponential cultures were divided into two sample groups; to be washed with PBS (pH 7.4) and

PBS (pH 5.5 with HCl), and resuspended in the same buffer after washing. For the treatment with calcitermin and its neutral derivative, 3 mL of each sample was taken and mixed with different concentrations of calcitermin. The samples were incubated for 3 h at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm, and washed three times with PBS at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5. Then a serial dilution of each sample was prepared to obtain the concentrations from 1 to 100μ g/mL. The cells were then washed again and spread on LB agar plates for counting CFU. Each condition was tested with three independent cultures.

5.2.4 Persister isolation and calcitermin treatment at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5

To isolate persister cells, overnight cultures of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and exponential cultures of *E. coli* HM22 strains were treated with 200 μ g/mL ciprofloxacin (Cip) and 100 μ g/mL ampicillin respectively for 3 h at 37°C to kill normal cells as described previously [9,10]. Then the persister cells were harvested by centrifugation, washed with PBS at different pH values (pH 7.4 and pH 5.5 with HCl) three times to remove remaining antibiotic, and resuspended in 20 mL PBS at pH 7.4 and 5.5. The collected cells were resuspended in 3 mL PBS supplemented with calcitermin at different concentrations (from 1 to 100 μ g/mL). Three replicates were tested for each condition and all samples were incubated for 3 h at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm. After calcitermin treatment, the samples were washed with PBS three times and plated to count CFU using drop plate method.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 New calcitermin derivatives designed with I-TASSER prediction method

Neutral and negatively charged AMP derivatives of calcitermin were successfully designed by replacing amino acids guided by helical wheel projections (Fig. 5-1). The amphiphilic topology and the helical structure of each derivative were tested with I-TASSER prediction method. Lys (K), which is a positively charged amino acid at position 14, was replaced with Gly (G), a neutral amino acid, and the net charge of the peptide changed from "+1" to "0" without altering the 3D structure of calcitermin. Besides, changing positions 4 and 8 to Glu (E) was found to protect the a-helix conformation (Fig 5-1) but changed the net charge of calcitermin to negative. Besides, prediction analysis with I-TASSER suggested a candidate binding region for Ca^{2+} ions (Fig. 5-2). This binding region is surrounded by three His (H) at positions 9, 11, 13 and one Tyr (Y) 12. In derivative design this Ca^{2+} ion binding region was successfully retained in all calcitermin derivatives.



Figure 5-1. A) Helical wheel projection of calcitermin. Modified amino acid positions are colored gray. B) Native calcitermin VAIALKAAHYHTHKE (+1), C) neutral derivative

VAIALKAAHYHTH<u>G</u>E (0), D) negatively charged VAIALKA<u>E</u>HYHTH<u>G</u>E (-1), E) negatively charged VAI<u>ELKAE</u>HYHTH<u>G</u>E (-2). Modified amino acids are underlined along the new net charges are shown in parenthesis.



Figure 5-2. Predicted Ca^{2+} binding site on the native calcitermin from different angles. Green sphere represent Ca^{2+} ion. The blue part, which shows Ca^{2+} ion binding pocket, is rich with amino acids carrying carbon rings in their structures.

5.3.2 Killing effects of calcitermins on planktonic cells

Native calcitermin is effective in killing PAO1 and HM22 cells at pH 5.5 dose dependently. However, no significant killing effect was observed when pH in calcitermin treatment elevated to pH 7.4 (Fig. 5-3). This is consistent with the in vivo observation that pH is 5.5 in chronic disease condition. Calcitermin showed significant killing on both PAO1 and HM22 planktonic cells at pH 5.5 when its concentration is increased to 10µg/mL and higher.



Figure 5-3. Antimicrobial effect of native calcitermin on the planktonic cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 strains. Both strains were tested at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5.

The killing effect of neutral calcitermin derivative on planktonic cells was found different than the native calcitermin. Neutral calcitermin derivative showed comparable killing with a dose dependence when the experiment pH was adjusted to pH 7.4 (Fig. 5-4). However, this killing was not as significant as native calcitermin.



Figure 5-4. Antimicrobial effects of neutral calcitermin derivative on planktonic cells of *P*. *aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 strains. Both strains were tested at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5.

5.3.3 Killing effects of calcitermins on persister cells

Even though the total killing is less than normal planktonic cells, native calcitermin was found effective against the persister cells of both strains and the effect was stronger at pH 5.5 than pH 7.4 (Fig 5-5). On the other hand, neutral derivative of calcitermin showed stronger effect on both *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 persister cells at pH 7.4 than pH 5.5 (Fig. 5-6).

The killing effect of the neutral derivative on persister cells are rather potent, e. g., $83.35\pm5.2\%$ and $96.54\pm2.3\%$ of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 persister cells were killed at 100 µg/mL respectively.



Figure 5-5. Antimicrobial effects of native calcitermin on persister cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 strains. Both strains were tested at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5.



Figure 5-6. Antimicrobial effects of neutral calcitermin derivative on persister cells of *P*. *aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 strains. Both strains were tested at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5.

5.4 Discussion

The amphiphilic topology and a-helical structure were successfully maintained for the new calcitermin derivatives by using I-TASSER prediction method. These two physiochemical features of this AMP are required for insertion into bacterial cell membrane and for the antimicrobial effects [2]. To protect a-helical structure, amino acid changes were made based on their a-helix formation propensities. Prediction studies showed that replacing Gly (G) at position

14 did not cause any change in the on a-helix structure. This amino acid was chosen to change the net charge of new calcitermin derivative since there are only two amino acids with negatively charged side chains: Gly (G) and Ala (A). These two amino acids are also members in the family of high helix forming propensity amino acids, while the others are with Met (M), Leu (L) and Lys (K) [11]. This high helix forming propensity of Gly (G) might have helped the unimpaired a-helix structure of new derivatives. However, replacing positions 4 and 8 with Ala (A) caused deterioration of the a-helix structures for new designs even though Ala (A) is a high helix forming propensity amino acid.

Another important factor for the antimicrobial effects of calcitermin is the binding of Ca^{2+} ions, which were also demonstrated by I-TASSER predictions (Fig 5-2). The calcitermin sequence is equivalent to 15 amino acid carboxyl end of a calgranulin, S100 [5] which are also called calcium binding proteins (CaBP) [12]. S100 proteins, involved in Ca²⁺ homeostasis [13], are also found in vertebrates and characterized by two calcium-binding sites with α -helix structures [14]. Ion binding regions are known to be important for the function of many peptides [15]. Calcitermin derivatives designed with I-TASSER were shown to preserve Ca²⁺ ion binding pocket. Ca²⁺ ions are also known as important for the integrity of membrane lipid bilayer structure [15]. This Ca²⁺ ion binding capacity of calcitermin might affect stability of the membrane since Ca²⁺ ions are important for membrane integrity. Therefore, calcitermin derivatives might still hold potential to bind Ca²⁺ ions and be effective on the membrane stability.

The amino acids in Ca^{2+} binding pocket of calcitermin have either 5 carbon ring as in His (H) or 6 carbon ring as in Tyr (Y). Some Ca^{2+} binding proteins are known His (H) rich peptides [16].

This suggests that having three His (H) amino acids close to each other within a 5 amino acid region is important for the Ca^{2+} binding ability of calcitermin. During new derivative design studies these amino acids involved in Ca^{2+} binding pocket were retained to protect the Ca^{2+} binding capacity of the peptide.

It was shown that antimicrobial activity of calcitermin is enhanced in acidic environment (pH 5.4) [5]. In addition, the native calcitermin, which is positively charged, showed significant killing of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 cells in exponential cultures only at pH 5.5, but not effective at pH 7.4 (Fig 5-3). For example, the killing on P. aeruginosa PAO1 exponential cultures by ratios with 10, 50, and 100 µg/mL calcitermin was 49.63±6.24%, 90.72±7.6%, and 95.27±3.28%, while it showed slightly higher killing effect on E. coli HM22 exponential cells, e.g., 66.08±12.07%, 97.07±2.31%, and 99.46±3.98% at the same concentrations. Similar to planktonic cells, native calcitermin showed comparable effects on persister cells; better killing at pH 5.5 while no clear effect was observed at pH 7.4 (Fig 5-5). For example at 50 and 100 µg/mL, calcitermin was able to kill 25.29±3.57% and 48.82±3.6% P. aeruginosa PAO1 persister cells respectively. Persister cells of E. coli HM22 showed similar susceptibility to native calcitermin and the killing was 34.1±3.8% and 60.13±9.7% at 50 and 100 µg/mL respectively. Even though it is less effective than killing normal planktonic cells, the killing effect of native calcitermin on persister cells holds a potential, which might be further improved via co-treatment with other antibiotics. Besides comparable killing effects of native calcitermin on the normal and persister cells of both strains, a general mechanism of action might be cell membrane targeting since *E. coli* is more susceptible to antibiotics in general [17].

The neutral calcitermin derivative did show strong killing effect on normal planktonic cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22 at pH 7.4 compared native calcitermin. However, this new derivative showed similar effects at pH 7.4 and pH 5.5. For example, 100 μ g/mL neutral calcitermin derivative killed 35.71±3.52% and 45.41±5.71% of normal planktonic PAO1 cells at pH 5.5 and pH 7.4 respectively. Similarly, the neutral calcitermin derivative showed slightly better killing effect on *E. coli* HM22 planktonic cells at pH 7.4 compared to pH 5.5; e.g., 28.33±5.97% and 48.62±2.96% with pH 5.5, and 42.18±8.72% and 60.46±6.3% with pH 7.4, at 50 and 100 μ g/mL, respectively. The trend of less killing effect at lower pH diminished when the neutral calcitermin derivative was tested on persister cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and *E. coli* HM22. However, a significantly higher killing effect with pH 7.4 on persister cells compared to planktonic cells of both strains was observed when treated with neutral calcitermin derivative. For example, 10, 50, and 100 μ g/mL neutral calcitermin showed 31.3±8.23, 62.22±7.1%, and 83.35±5.2% killing of PAO1 and 42.37±5.08%, 72.58±1.92%, and 96.54±2.3% killing of HM22 respectively.

Persister cells provide a reservoir for recurring infections [18]. As an effective AMP at pH 7.4, which is the pH level of nasal airways in healthy people, calcitermin might be able to eliminate persister cells before the infection becomes chronic. Another important outcome from this study is the finding that the neutral derivative is more effective on persister cells than its positively charged native form. We expect that other AMPs can be engineered following this principle to achieve better control of chronic infections. Besides, the higher killing effect of neutral calcitermin derivative on persister cells might be further improved by combining it with the native form or via co-treatment with other antimicrobial agents so that both normal and persister cells can be eliminated.

5.5 References

- Guralp, S.A.; Murgha, Y.E.; Rouillard, J.-M.; Gulari, E. From design to screening: A new antimicrobial peptide discovery pipeline. *Plos One* 2013, *8*, e59305.
- 2. Bahar, A.A.; Ren, D. Antimicrobial peptides. *Pharmaceuticals* **2013**, *6*, 1543-1575.
- 3. Ong, Z.Y.; Wiradharma, N.; Yang, Y.Y. Strategies employed in the design and optimization of synthetic antimicrobial peptide amphiphiles with enhanced therapeutic potentials. *Advanced drug delivery reviews* **2014**, *78*, 28-45.
- Baechle, D.; Flad, T.; Cansier, A.; Steffen, H.; Schittek, B.; Tolson, J.; Herrmann, T.; Dihazi, H.; Beck, A.; Mueller, G.A. Cathepsin d is present in human eccrine sweat and involved in the postsecretory processing of the antimicrobial peptide dcd-11. *J Biol Chem* 2006, 281, 5406-5415.
- Cole, A.M.; Kim, Y.H.; Tahk, S.; Hong, T.; Weis, P.; Waring, A.J.; Ganz, T. Calcitermin, a novel antimicrobial peptide isolated from human airway secretions. *FEBS letters* 2001, 504, 5-10.
- Cole, A.M.; Kim, Y.H.; Tahk, S.; Hong, T.; Weis, P.; Waring, A.J.; Ganz, T. Calcitermin, a novel antimicrobial peptide isolated from human airway secretions. *FEBS Lett* 2001, 504, 5-10.
- Moore, D.S. Amino acid and peptide net charges: A simple calculational procedure. Biochemical Education 1985, 13, 10-11.
- 8. Roy, A.; Kucukural, A.; Zhang, Y. I-TASSER: A unified platform for automated protein structure and function prediction. *Nat Protoc* **2010**, *5*, 725-738.

- Niepa, T.H.R.; Gilbert, J.L.; Ren, D.C. Controlling *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* persister cells by weak electrochemical currents and synergistic effects with tobramycin. *Biomaterials* 2012, 33, 7356-7365.
- Pan, J.; Bahar, A.A.; Syed, H.; Ren, D. Reverting antibiotic tolerance of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa PAO1 persister cells by (z)-4-bromo-5-(bromomethylene)-3-methylfuran-2(5h)-one. *Plos One* 2012, 7, e45778.
- 11. Pace, C.N.; Scholtz, J.M. A helix propensity scale based on experimental studies of peptides and proteins. *Biophysical journal* **1998**, *75*, 422-427.
- Brun, P.; Dupret, J.; Perret, C.; Thomasset, M.; Mathieu, H. Vitamin d-dependent calcium-binding proteins (cabps) in human fetuses: Comparative distribution of 9K CABP mRNA and 28K CABP during development. *Pediatr Res* 1987, *21*, 362-367.
- Wolf, R.; Howard, O.Z.; Dong, H.-F.; Voscopoulos, C.; Boeshans, K.; Winston, J.; Divi, R.; Gunsior, M.; Goldsmith, P.; Ahvazi, B. Chemotactic activity of S100A7 (psoriasin) is mediated by rage and potentiates inflammation with highly homologous but functionally distinct s100a15. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950)* 2008, *181*, 1499.
- Marenholz, I.; Heizmann, C.W.; Fritz, G. S100 proteins in mouse and man: From evolution to function and pathology (including an update of the nomenclature). *Biochem Bioph Res Co* 2004, *322*, 1111-1122.
- Kozlowski, H.; Potocki, S.; Remelli, M.; Rowinska-Zyrek, M.; Valensin, D. Specific metal ion binding sites in unstructured regions of proteins. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews* 2013, 257, 2625-2638.

- Arvanitis, D.A.; Vafiadaki, E.; Sanoudou, D.; Kranias, E.G. Histidine-rich calcium binding protein: The new regulator of sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium cycling. *Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology* 2011, *50*, 43-49.
- 17. Andrews, J.M. Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy* **2001**, *48 Suppl 1*, 5-16.
- 18. Lewis, K. Persister cells. *Annual review of microbiology* **2010**, *64*, 357-372.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

As alternative antimicrobials, AMPs have advantages since these compounds attack bacterial membranes and thus have a broad spectrum of targeting microbes. Cell membrane is present in all bacteria with a relatively simple bilayer structure. The functions of membrane embedded proteins that are essential for the survival of bacteria and the rapid action of AMPs leave little room for bacteria to develop resistance. These properties led to growing interest in AMP research and some novel lead compounds have shown great potential for infection control. However, the lack of a methodology for rational AMP design, high production cost, susceptibility to proteolytic degradation, potential toxicity to eukaryotic cells and low specify for a given bacterial species are the major challenges in AMP development which need to be addressed in new design studies. Therefore, more research on the mechanisms of AMP killing an the design of synthetic AMPs are required.

Up to date, most of the AMP studies focused on planktonic cells. Treatment of biofilms and persister cells, that are highly resistant to traditional antibiotics, with AMPs is still an understudied area. Through collaboration with the Kallenbach lab at New York University, we tested the newly designed synthetic AMPs for their activities against bacterial cells at different physiological stages including normal planktonic cells, persister cells and biofilms.

RW rich peptides are known to be effective on bacterial cells. Here we demonstrated that 2D-24, a new RW rick dendrimer with a branched core is effective on multidrug-tolerant persister cells of *P. aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 in a dose dependent manner with no toxicity to eukaryotic cells at the effective concentrations. Besides, changing the net charge of calcitermin from +1 to neutral resulted in a better killing of persister cells at neutral pH. Triazine derivatives were also proven effective on normal planktonic and persister cells as well as biofilm cells (in the presence

of alginate lyase). These results show that AMPs can be engineered with optimized structure for better killing of multi-drug tolerant bacteria at different physiological stages. It is also possible to achieve synergy with conventional antibiotics in bacterial killing with lowered cytotoxicity to eukaryotic cells.

The structure-function relation of effective AMP derivatives at different pH values and cellular stages might be studied to further develop AMPs for different clinical applications.

In addition to membrane targeting AMPs, we also tested some antibiotics that are substrates of efflux pumps on persister cells. Erythromycin was found effective on *E. coli* HM22 persister cells, although the normal planktonic cells are resistant to this antibiotic. This antibiotic is a known substrate of the efflux pump AcrAB and these pumps are active in normal planktonic cells. For persister cells, these efflux pumps are inactive and erythromycin molecules can accumulate in cytoplasm. The strong binding between erythromycin and bacterial ribosome may lead to killing of persister cells during wake-up process.

Human originated AMPs are a great source for developing new control agents to treat different infections. Different physiological conditions of different tissues might limit or hinder the effectiveness of a particular AMP for certain infections. Therefore, designing different AMP structures specific for different tissues will be a useful strategy for future studies.

In addition to the bacterial killing, the diverse antimicrobial and structural properties of AMPs make them a convenient tool for other biological applications such as drug delivery vehicles. The close interaction between AMP with membrane can be used to deliver other therapeutic agents through the membrane. For example chloramphenicol requires active transport for cellular

uptake. These transport mechanism are expected to be inactive in persister cells. Using AMPchloramphenicol hybrids to deliver these drugs to persister cells may lead to enhanced antimicrobial activity. Thus, understanding the biological and structure properties of AMPs and their interaction with bacterial membranes is important for developing peptide-based therapeutics.

Curriculum Vitae

Ali Adem Bahar

329 Link Hall, Biomedical and Chemical Engineering Department, Syracuse University, Syracuse, NY 13244

Email: aliademb@gmail.com, Cell phone: 315 289-6253

Education

Syracuse University Sep 2010 – December 2015
 Ph.D. Expected, Biomedical Engineering (Syracuse, NY)
 Dissertation topic: Controlling Bacterial Persister Cells by Targeting Cell Membranes
 Cornell University Feb 2010 – Aug 2010 (Transferred to Syracuse University)
 Ph.D., Molecular and Cellular Biology / Entomology (Ithaca, NY)
 Worked on "Developing a selection method with RNA aptamers, Apta-CHIP, which binds to specific factors and proteins as an alternative way to low molecular weight targets"

Syracuse University Aug 2008 – Dec 2009

Academic English Course, English Language Institute (Syracuse, NY)

Karadeniz Technical University Apr 2005 – Jul 2008 (Moved to US with a scholarship)

Ph.D., Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences, Department of Biology, Microbiology Laboratory (Trabzon, Turkey)

Worked on "Cloning and characterization of chitinase enzymes from different *Serretia marcescens* strains" and "Isolation and identification of bacterial pathogens from agricultural pests in Black Sea Region"

Gent University Apr 2007 – Sep 2007

Exchange **Ph.D**. student, Molecular Biology Laboratory, Laboratory of Eukaryotic Gene Expression and Signal Transduction, (Gent, Belgium)

Worked on "Research into the Transactivating Properties the Selective GR Modulator Compound A and their Role in Inflammation"

Karadeniz Technical University 2003 –2005

M.S., Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences, Department of Biology, Microbiology Laboratory (Trabzon, Turkey)

Dissertation topic: Investigation of the bacterial flora and developing a microbial control agent of *Oberea linearis*

Karadeniz Technical University 2002 – 2003

Full-time Academic English Course Student at Karadeniz Technical University, English Preparatory School (Trabzon, Turkey)

Karadeniz Technical University 1998 –2002

B.S., Faculty of Art and Science, Department of Biology, (Trabzon, Turkey) Dissertation topic: Common model organisms used in Molecular Biology – A review

Peer Reviewed Publications

- Bahar A A, Liu Z, Garafalo M, Kallenbach N, Ren D, (2015) Controlling Persister and Biofilm Cells of Gram-Negative Bacteria with a New 1,3,5-Triazine Derivative.
 Pharmaceuticals, 8 (4): 696-710.
- Bahar A A, Liu Z, Totsingan F, Buitrago C, Kallenbach N, Ren D, (2015) Synthetic dendrimeric peptide active against biofilm and persister cells of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 99 (19): 8125-8135.
- Bahar A A, Ren D (2013) Antimicrobial Peptides (Review). Pharmaceuticals, 6 (12): 1543-1575.
- Pan J, Xie X, Tian W, Bahar A A, Lin N, Song F, An J, and Ren D (2013) (Z)-4-bromo-5-(bromomethylene)-3-methylfuran-2(5H)-one sensitizes *Escherichia coli* persister cells to antibiotics. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 97 (20): 9145-9154.
- Beck IM, Drebert ZJ, Hoya-Arias R, **Bahar AA**, Devos M, et al. (**2013**) Compound A, a Selective Glucocorticoid Receptor Modulator, Enhances Heat Shock Protein Hsp70 Gene Promoter Activation. **PLoS ONE**, 8 (7).
- Pan J, Bahar A A, Syed H, and Ren D (2012) Reverting antibiotic tolerance of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa PAO1 persister cells by (Z)-4-bromo-5-(bromomethylene)-3-methylfuran-2(5H)-one. PLoS ONE, 7 (9).
- Bahar A A, Sezen K, Demirbag Z, and Nalcacioglu R (2011) The Relation between Insecticidal Effects and Chitinase Activities of Coleopteran Originated Entomopathogens and Their Chitinolytic Profile. Annual Microbiology, 62(2): 647-653.
- **Bahar A A**, Demirbag Z (2007) Isolation of pathogenic bacteria from *Oberea linearis* (Coleoptera: Cerambycidae). **Biologia**, 62: 13–18.

Conference Presentations

- "Investigation of Bacterial Flora and Insecticidal Activity *Oberea linearis*". **Bahar A A**, Demirbag Z; **18th National Biology Congress**, Adnan Menderes University, Aydın / TURKEY (June 20-30, 2006).
- "Chitinase Profile and Effectiveness of Pathogenic Bacteria Originated from Lepidopteran Pests in Black Sea Region" **Bahar A A**, Sezen K, Nalcacioglu R, Demirbag Z; **Entomopatogens and Biological Control Symposium**, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon / TURKEY (21-24 June 2007).
- "Anti-inflammatory Potential of Compound A, phenyl aziridine precursor isolated from Salsola tuberculatiformis". Bahar A A⁺*; Beck I*, De-Bosscher K*, Demirbag Z⁺, Haegeman G*; (⁺Karadeniz Technical University, *Gent University), 19th National Biology Congreess, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon / TURKEY (23-27 June 2008).

- "Chitinase Activity Determination by Using PCR and M9-CAD Methods Among East Black Sea Region Pest". **Bahar A A**, Sezen K, Nalcacioglu R, Demirbag Z; **19th National Biology Congreess**, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon / TURKEY (23-27 June 2008).
- "Chitinase Profile and Effectiveness of Pathogenic Bacteria Originated from Coleopteran Pests in Black Sea Region". **Bahar A A**, Demirbag Z, Sezen K, Nalcacioglu R; **60st International Symposium on Crop Protection**, Gent / BELGIUM (May 20-23, 2008).
- "Chitinase Profile and Insecticidal Effects of Bacteria Originated from Hazelnut Pests". **Bahar** A A, Demirbag Z, Sezen K, Nalcacioglu R; **41th Annual Meeting of the Society for Invertebrate Pathology**, University of Warwick, Coventry / UNITED KINGDOM (August 3-7, 2008).
- "Controlling *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by a Synthetic Antimicrobial Peptide 2D-24" **Bahar A A**, Totsingan F, Liu Z, Kallenbach N, Ren D; **114th General Meeting, American Society of Microbiology**, Boston, Massachusetts / USA (May 17-20, 2014).
- "Controlling *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1 and PDO300 Strains with a Synthetic Antimicrobial Peptide, 2D-24" **Bahar A A**, Totsingan F, Liu Z, Kallenbach N, Ren D; **Nunan Research Day 2014,** Syracuse, New York / USA (Apr 4, 2014).
- "Alternatives to Antibiotics; Antimicrobial Peptides as Biocompatible Antimicrobial Agents to Target Bacterial Cell Membranes" **Bahar A A**, Totsingan F, Liu Z, Kallenbach N, Ren D; **Nunan Research Day 2015,** Syracuse, New York / USA (Apr 13, 2015).

Research Experience

Research Assistant, Biomedical Engineering Dep., Syracuse University. Sep 2010 – Present,

<u>Project title</u>: Studying new synthetic antimicrobial peptides and mimetics as an alternative to antibiotics to eliminate resistance problem due to high volume of antibiotic usage.

<u>Project title</u>: Investigating membrane potential of persister cells to target them with native and synthetic antimicrobial peptides.

<u>Project title</u>: Utilization of Next-Generation Sequencing with Tn-Kan mutation library kit to test the individual contribution of each gene to the fitness of a bacterial population.

<u>Project title</u>: Utilization of Phage Display system with whole bacterial cell surface to study specific surface proteins.

Research Assistant, Molecular Cell Biology Dep., Cornell University. Jan 2010 - Sep 2010,

<u>Project title</u>: Developing a selection method with RNA aptamers, Apta-CHIP, which binds to specific factors and proteins as an alternative way to low molecular weight targets.

Research Assistant, Biology Department Karadeniz Technical University. 2003 – 2008,

<u>Project title</u>: Isolation and identification of bacterial pathogens from agricultural pests in Black Sea Region.

<u>Project title</u>: Cloning and characterization of chitinase enzymes from different *Serretia marcescens* strains.

<u>Project title</u>: Investigation of the bacterial flora and microbial control agent of *Oberea linearis*.

Visiting Researcher, Laboratory of Eukaryotic Gene Expression and Signal Transduction (LEGEST), Gent University, Belgium. Apr 2007 – Sep 2007,

<u>Project title</u>: Research into the transactivating properties the selective GR modulator Compound A and their role in inflammation.

Laboratory skills

- <u>General Molecular Biology</u>: Transformation (Chemical and Electroporation); Ligation; Competent cell preparation; Macromolecule quantification; Gene cloning, sequencing, characterization and expression; DNA, RNA and Protein gel electrophoresis; Glycerol and liquid nitrogen stock preparation; Antibiogram tests; Recombinant Protein Expression; Plasmid recombination; Preparation of common buffers; Mutant library construction; Antibiotic synergy studies; Differential bacterial staining.
- <u>Cell Biology</u>: Transient transfection; Human and insect cell cultures maintenance; Electroporation; Eukaryotic cell culture development; Differential fluorescent staining of bacterial and mammalian co-cultures; Biofilms.
- <u>Protein Techniques</u>: Large scale protein production with bacteria and eukarya; Western-Blot; Affinity chromatography; Biotinylated antibody application; Prosieve marker application; Protein quantification; Amino and carboxyl oligopeptide labeling; Column purification; Antimicrobial Peptide detection; Antimicrobial activity test of synthetic antimicrobial peptides; ELISA immunoprecipitation.
- <u>Detection</u>: Bradford & Lowry; Molecular bacterial and virus identification; Bacterial pathogeny; Signal transduction; effects of new therapeutic agents; Plasmid detection; Micoplasma detection; Bacteriocin quantification; Nanodropper analysis of protein, RNA and DNA content; Qubit.
- <u>DNA</u>: CHIP; DAPI; Genomic DNA isolation from different biological sources (from bacteriophage to mammalian organs); Hybridization; Southern Blotting; RFLP; DIG labeling; Transposon mutagenesis; DNA sonication, junction repair, tailing, adapter adding, and end repairing; DNA sample preparation for different sequencing purposes; Plasmid mapping; Restriction site detection; Phage isolation and amplification.

- <u>RNA</u>: RNAi and SiRNA; RT (Reverse Transcriptase) PCR; Q-PCR (Quantitative PCR; Real Time); RNA isolation from bacteria eukarya; cDNA synthesis; Dot-Blot.
- Molecular Kits: DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit; End-It[™] DNA End-Repair Kit; QIAquick PCR Purification Kit; SuperTaq[™] Plus Polymerase (Cloned); MinElute PCR Purification Kit; Quick Ligation[™] Kit.
- Microscopy: GFP; 3D Z-stack imaging; Scanning electron microscopy; Transmission electron microscopy.
- <u>Bioinformatics</u>: Mass DNA data analysis from Next Generation Sequencing; BLAST; 16SrDNA sequence analysis; Primer design; Peptide modification; Peptide structure predictions.
- <u>Cell sorting & Flow cytometry</u>: Bacterial viability analysis at individual cell level; Compensation; Troubleshooting; Nozzle size selection; PSI selection.

Teaching and Mentoring

Lab Manager, 2010 – 2014

Biofilm Laboratory, Biomedical and Chemical Engineering Department, Syracuse University.

Trained new graduate students on basic laboratory regulations, and aseptic techniques.

Trained lab members on following topics; DNA isolation, PCR primer design, Quality check of primer sets, DNA annealing, DNA alignment & Clustal analysis, Real-time PCR, Melting curve analysis, Agarose gel and western blot imaging and analysis, Basic trouble shooting for DNA studies, DNA recombination studies.

NSF REM Mentoring, Summer 2011, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014 Biomedical and Chemical Engineering Department, Syracuse University.

Trained a high school student, 3 high school teachers and 4 undergrad students to manage complex science projects and helped them to gain experience on how to design a scientific experiment and data reporting.

Biotechnology Workshop Committee Chair, June 2008

Biology Department, Karadeniz Technical University.

Organized "National Biotechnology Spring Course" with undergrad students to help them for their future career, by showing how to choose trend topics on science and how to see opportunities in their future careers in molecular biology and microbiology fields.

Graduate Teaching Assistant, 2003-2008

Biology Department, Karadeniz Technical University.